
 

 

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
 

 

Form 10-Q
 

 
(Mark One)
 

x      QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

 
FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED September 30, 2014

 
or
 

o         TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

 
For the transition period from                             to                             

 
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 1-13397

 

Ingredion Incorporated
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

 
DELAWARE

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)
 

22-3514823
(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

 
5 WESTBROOK CORPORATE CENTER,

 

 

WESTCHESTER, ILLINOIS
 

60154
(Address of principal executive offices)

 

(Zip Code)
 

(708) 551-2600
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

 
 

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes x  No o
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).  Yes x  No o

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. 

See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
 
(Check one):

 
Large accelerated filer x

 

Accelerated filer o
Non-accelerated filer o (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

 

Smaller reporting company o
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes o  No x

 
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

 
CLASS

 
OUTSTANDING AT October 29, 2014

Common Stock, $.01 par value
 

71,863,000 shares
 
 

 



 
PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Ingredion Incorporated (“Ingredion”)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income

(Unaudited)
 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

(In millions, except per share amounts)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Net sales before shipping and handling costs
 

$ 1,544.8
 

$ 1,695.8
 

$ 4,547.8
 

$ 5,073.7
 

Less: shipping and handling costs
 

84.5
 

84.1
 

247.7
 

244.7
 

Net sales
 

1,460.3
 

1,611.7
 

4,300.1
 

4,829.0
 

Cost of sales
 

1,162.7
 

1,352.9
 

3,456.8
 

3,988.5
 

Gross profit
 

297.6
 

258.8
 

843.3
 

840.5
 

          
Operating expenses

 

129.1
 

125.0
 

398.6
 

399.1
 

Other (income), net
 

(9.6) (3.1) (18.4) (10.7)
          
Operating income

 

178.1
 

136.9
 

463.1
 

452.1
 

          
Financing costs, net

 

15.1
 

17.9
 

49.0
 

50.9
 

          
Income before income taxes

 

163.0
 

119.0
 

414.1
 

401.2
 

Provision for income taxes
 

42.6
 

30.7
 

113.9
 

104.1
 

Net income
 

120.4
 

88.3
 

300.2
 

297.1
 

Less: Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
 

1.8
 

2.0
 

6.4
 

4.9
 

Net income attributable to Ingredion
 

$ 118.6
 

$ 86.3
 

$ 293.8
 

$ 292.2
 

          
Weighted average common shares outstanding:

         

Basic
 

73.0
 

77.3
 

74.2
 

77.5
 

Diluted
 

74.3
 

78.6
 

75.5
 

78.8
 

          
Earnings per common share of Ingredion:

         

Basic
 

$ 1.62
 

$ 1.12
 

$ 3.96
 

$ 3.77
 

Diluted
 

$ 1.60
 

$ 1.10
 

$ 3.89
 

$ 3.71
 

 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Ingredion Incorporated (“Ingredion”)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(Unaudited)
 
  

Three Months Ended
 

Nine Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 
September 30,

 

(In millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Net income
 

$ 120
 

$ 88
 

$ 300
 

$ 297
 

Other comprehensive income (loss):
         

Losses on cash-flow hedges, net of income tax effect of $23,
$14, $21 and $25, respectively

 

(48) (29) (47) (54)
Amount of losses on cash-flow hedges reclassified to

earnings, net of income tax effect of $5, $9, $11 and $4,
respectively

 

11
 

18
 

24
 

10
 

Losses related to pension and other postretirement obligations
reclassified to earnings, net of income tax effect

 

1
 

2
 

3
 

5
 

Unrealized gain on investment, net of income tax effect
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

1
 

Currency translation adjustment
 

(121) 6
 

(116) (105)
Comprehensive income (loss)

 

(37) 85
 

164
 

154
 

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling
interests

 

(2) (2) (6) (5)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Ingredion

 

$ (39) $ 83
 

$ 158
 

$ 149
 



 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM I - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Ingredion Incorporated (“Ingredion”)
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

 

(In millions, except share and per share amounts)
 

September 30,
2014

 

December 31,
2013

 

  
(Unaudited)

   

Assets
     

Current assets
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 565
 

$ 574
 

Accounts receivable — net
 

831
 

832
 

Inventories
 

722
 

723
 

Prepaid expenses
 

27
 

17
 

Deferred income taxes
 

71
 

68
 

Total current assets
 

2,216
 

2,214
 

      
Property, plant and equipment - net of accumulated depreciation of $2,836 and $2,776, respectively

 

2,095
 

2,156
 

Goodwill
 

520
 

535
 

Other intangible assets - net of accumulated amortization of $59 and $49, respectively
 

297
 

311
 

Deferred income taxes
 

10
 

15
 

Investments
 

5
 

11
 

Other assets
 

113
 

118
 

Total assets
 

$ 5,256
 

$ 5,360
 

      
Liabilities and equity

     

Current liabilities
     

Short-term borrowings
 

$ 29
 

$ 93
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
 

734
 

727
 

Total current liabilities
 

763
 

820
 

      
Non-current liabilities

 

152
 

163
 

Long-term debt
 

1,888
 

1,717
 

Deferred income taxes
 

202
 

207
 

Share-based payments subject to redemption
 

20
 

24
 

      
Equity

     

Ingredion Stockholders’ equity:
     

Preferred stock — authorized 25,000,000 shares- $0.01 par value — none issued
 

—
 

—
 

Common stock — authorized 200,000,000 shares- $0.01 par value — 77,810,875 and 77,672,670 shares
issued at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively

 

1
 

1
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

1,107
 

1,166
 

Less: Treasury stock (common stock; 5,971,480 and 3,361,180 shares at September 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively) at cost

 

(431) (225)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

 

(719) (583)
Retained earnings

 

2,245
 

2,045
 

Total Ingredion stockholders’ equity
 

2,203
 

2,404
 

Non-controlling interests
 

28
 

25
 

Total equity
 

2,231
 

2,429
 

      
Total liabilities and equity

 

$ 5,256
 

$ 5,360
 

 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Ingredion Incorporated (“Ingredion”)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity and Redeemable Equity

(Unaudited)



 
  

Total Equity
 

Share-based
 

(in millions)
 

Common
Stock

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

 

Treasury
Stock

 

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 

Retained
Earnings

 

Non-
controlling
Interests

 

Payments
Subject to

Redemption
 

Balance, December 31, 2013
 

$ 1
 

$ 1,166
 

$ (225) $ (583) $ 2,045
 

$ 25
 

$ 24
 

Net income attributable to
Ingredion

         

294
     

Net income attributable to non-
controlling interests

           

6
   

Dividends declared
         

(94) (3)
  

Losses on cash-flow hedges, net
of income tax effect of $21

       

(47)
      

Amount of losses on cash-flow
hedges reclassified to earnings,
net of income tax effect of $11

       

24
       

Repurchases of common stock
   

(63) (241)
        

Share-based compensation
   

4
 

35
       

(4)
Losses related to pension and

other postretirement obligations
reclassified to earnings, net of
income tax effect

       

3
       

Currency translation adjustment
       

(116)
      

Balance, September 30, 2014
 

$ 1
 

$ 1,107
 

$ (431) $ (719) $ 2,245
 

$ 28
 

$ 20
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Total Equity
 

Share-based
 

(in millions)
 

Common
Stock

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

 

Treasury
Stock

 

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 

Retained
Earnings

 

Non-
controlling
Interests

 

Payments
Subject to

Redemption
 

Balance, December 31, 2012
 

$ 1
 

$ 1,148
 

$ (6) $ (475) $ 1,769
 

$ 22
 

$ 19
 

Net income attributable to
Ingredion

         

292
     

Net income attributable to non-
controlling interests

           

5
   

Dividends declared
         

(89) (4)
  

Losses on cash-flow hedges, net
of income tax effect of $25

       

(54)
      

Amount of losses on cash-flow
hedges reclassified to earnings,
net of income tax effect of $4

       

10
       

Repurchases of common stock
     

(56)
        

Share-based compensation
   

17
 

2
       

2
 

Losses related to pension and
other postretirement obligations
reclassified to earnings, net of
income tax effect

       

5
       

Unrealized gain on investment,
net of income tax effect

       

1
       

Currency translation adjustment
       

(105)
      

Balance, September 30, 2013
 

$ 1
 

$ 1,165
 

$ (60) $ (618) $ 1,972
 

$ 23
 

$ 21
 

 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
ITEM 1
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Ingredion Incorporated (“Ingredion”)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
 

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

(In millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

Cash provided by operating activities:
     

Net income
 

$ 300
 

$ 297
 

Non-cash charges to net income:
     

Depreciation and amortization
 

147
 

145
 

     



Changes in working capital:
Accounts receivable and prepaid items

 

(19) (86)
Inventories

 

(15) 61
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
 

8
 

(137)
Decrease (increase) in margin accounts

 

(11) 11
 

Other
 

52
 

71
 

Cash provided by operating activities
 

462
 

362
 

      
Cash used for investing activities:

     

Capital expenditures, net of proceeds on disposals
 

(187) (202)
Proceeds from sale of investment

 

11
 

—
 

Short-term investments
 

(1) 19
 

Other
 

—
 

2
 

Cash used for investing activities
 

(177) (181)
      
Cash used for financing activities:

     

Proceeds from borrowings
 

227
 

20
 

Payments on debt
 

(118) (50)
Repurchases of common stock

 

(304) (56)
Issuance of common stock

 

17
 

12
 

Dividends paid (including to non-controlling interests)
 

(97) (82)
Excess tax benefit on share-based compensation

 

5
 

1
 

Cash used for financing activities
 

(270) (155)
      

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash
 

(24) (17)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

 

(9) 9
 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
 

574
 

609
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
 

$ 565
 

$ 618
 

 
See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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INGREDION INCORPORATED (“Ingredion”)

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
 

1.                                      Interim Financial Statements
 

References to the “Company” are to Ingredion Incorporated (“Ingredion”) and its consolidated subsidiaries.  These statements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013.
 

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements included herein were prepared by management on the same basis as the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 and reflect all adjustments (consisting solely of normal recurring
items unless otherwise noted) which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair presentation of results of operations and cash flows for the
interim periods ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, and the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2014.  The results for the interim periods
are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full years.

 
2.                                      New Accounting Standards
 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) that introduces a new five-step revenue recognition model in which an entity should recognize revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.  This ASU also requires disclosures sufficient to enable users to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from contracts with customers, including qualitative and quantitative disclosures about contracts with customers, significant judgments
and changes in judgments, and assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill a contract.  This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period.  The standard will allow various transition approaches upon adoption. The
Company is assessing the impacts of this new standard; however the adoption of the guidance in this Update is not expected to have a material impact on the
Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating

Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists.  This Update provides guidance pertaining to the financial statement
presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward exists, to resolve diversity in
practice.  The Update requires that companies present an unrecognized tax benefit as a reduction of a deferred tax asset for a tax loss or credit carryforward on
the balance sheet when (a) the tax law requires the company to use the tax loss or credit carryforward to satisfy amounts payable upon disallowance of the tax
position; or (b) the tax loss or credit carryforward is available to satisfy amounts payable upon disallowance of the tax position, and the company intends to
use the deferred tax asset for that purpose. The guidance in this Update is effective prospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2013, and
interim periods within those fiscal years.  The Company adopted the guidance in this Update prospectively and the
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adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-05, Foreign Currency Matters (Topic 830): Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation
Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity.  This Update
clarifies the guidance pertaining to the release of the cumulative translation adjustment (“CTA”) to resolve diversity in practice.  The Update clarifies that
when a company ceases to have a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a business within a foreign entity, the company should
release any related CTA into net income.  In such instances, the CTA should be released into net income only if a sale or transfer results in the complete or
substantially complete liquidation of the foreign entity in which the subsidiary or group of assets had resided.  The Update also requires the release of the
CTA (or applicable pro rata portion thereof) upon the sale or partial sale of an equity method investment that is a foreign entity and for a step acquisition in
which the acquirer held an equity method investment prior to obtaining control.  The guidance in this Update is effective prospectively for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2013, and interim periods within those fiscal years.  The adoption of the guidance contained in this Update did not have an
impact on the Company’s 2014 Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.  However, the guidance contained in this Update will impact the accounting
for the CTA upon any future de-recognition of certain subsidiaries or groups of assets within a foreign entity or of an investment in a foreign entity; and the
effect will be dependent upon the relevant transaction at that time.
 
3.                                      Segment Information
 

The Company is principally engaged in the production and sale of starches and sweeteners for a wide range of industries and is managed
geographically on a regional basis.  The Company’s operations are classified into four reportable business segments: North America, South America, Asia
Pacific and Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”).  The North America segment includes businesses in the United States, Canada and Mexico.  The
Company’s South America segment includes businesses in Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and the Southern Cone of South America, which includes
Argentina, Chile and Uruguay.  The Asia Pacific segment includes businesses in Korea, Thailand, Malaysia, China, Japan, Indonesia, the Philippines,
Singapore, India, Australia and New Zealand.  The Company’s EMEA segment includes businesses in the United Kingdom, Germany, South Africa, Pakistan
and Kenya.
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Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
 September 30,

 

(in millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Net Sales
         

North America
 

$ 805.6
 

$ 948.7
 

$ 2,362.0
 

$ 2,835.3
 

South America
 

307.6
 

322.8
 

906.2
 

992.3
 

Asia Pacific
 

205.8
 

204.8
 

594.3
 

600.5
 

EMEA
 

141.3
 

135.4
 

437.6
 

400.9
 

Total
 

$ 1,460.3
 

$ 1,611.7
 

$ 4,300.1
 

$ 4,829.0
 

          
Operating Income

         

North America
 

$ 113.1
 

$ 96.6
 

$ 288.7
 

$ 308.2
 

South America
 

27.4
 

18.8
 

73.8
 

79.5
 

Asia Pacific
 

27.0
 

23.6
 

80.1
 

70.2
 

EMEA
 

22.2
 

17.4
 

68.7
 

53.6
 

Corporate (a)
 

(11.6) (19.5) (48.2) (59.4)
Total

 

$ 178.1
 

$ 136.9
 

$ 463.1
 

$ 452.1
 

 

(a)         Includes $7 million of income relating to a tax indemnification agreement with an offsetting expense of $7 million recorded in the provision for
income taxes for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2014 (see also Note 11).  Additionally, includes a $5 million gain from the
sale of a non-consolidated affiliate and $4 million of costs relating to product liability claims for the nine months ended September 30, 2014.

 

(in millions) 
 

At
September 30, 2014

 

At
December 31, 2013

 

Total Assets
     

North America
 

$ 2,964
 

$ 3,008
 

South America
 

1,014
 

1,088
 

Asia Pacific
 

740
 

711
 

EMEA
 

538
 

553
 

Total
 

$ 5,256
 

$ 5,360
 

 
4.                                      Financial Instruments, Derivatives and Hedging Activities
 

The Company is exposed to market risk stemming from changes in commodity prices (primarily corn and natural gas), foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates.  In the normal course of business, the Company actively manages its exposure to these market risks by entering into various hedging
transactions, authorized under established policies that place clear controls on these activities.  These transactions utilize exchange-traded derivatives or over-
the-counter derivatives with investment grade counterparties.  Derivative financial instruments currently used by the Company consist of commodity futures,
options and swap contracts, foreign currency forward contracts and swaps, and interest rate swaps.

 
Commodity price hedging:  The Company’s principal use of derivative financial instruments is to manage commodity price risk in North America

relating to anticipated purchases of corn and natural gas to be used in the manufacturing process, generally over the
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next twelve to twenty-four months.  To manage price risk related to corn purchases in North America, the Company uses corn futures and options contracts
that trade on regulated commodity exchanges to lock-in its corn costs associated with firm-priced customer sales contracts.  The Company uses over-the-
counter gas swaps to hedge a portion of its natural gas usage in North America.  These derivative financial instruments limit the impact that volatility
resulting from fluctuations in market prices will have on corn and natural gas purchases and have been designated as cash-flow hedges.  Unrealized gains and
losses associated with marking the commodity hedging contracts to market (fair value) are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
and included in the equity section of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as part of accumulated other comprehensive income/loss (“AOCI”).  These
amounts are subsequently reclassified into earnings in the same line item affected by the hedged transaction and in the same period or periods during which
the hedged transaction affects earnings, or in the month a hedge is determined to be ineffective.  The Company assesses the effectiveness of a commodity
hedge contract based on changes in the contract’s fair value.  The changes in the market value of such contracts have historically been, and are expected to
continue to be, highly effective at offsetting changes in the price of the hedged items.  The amounts representing the ineffectiveness of these cash-flow hedges
are not significant.
 

At September 30, 2014, AOCI included $57 million of losses, net of tax of $26 million, pertaining to commodities-related derivative instruments
designated as cash-flow hedges.  At December 31, 2013, AOCI included $32 million of losses, net of tax of $15 million, pertaining to commodities-related
derivative instruments designated as cash-flow hedges.
 

Interest rate hedging:  Derivative financial instruments that have been used by the Company to manage its interest rate risk consist of Treasury Lock
agreements (“T-Locks”) and interest rate swaps.  The Company did not have any T-Locks outstanding at September 30, 2014 or December 31, 2013.

 
In September 2014, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the interest rates on its 6.0 percent $200 million

senior notes due April 15, 2017, its 1.8 percent $300 million senior notes due September 25, 2017 and on $200 million of its $400 million 4.625 percent
senior notes due November 1, 2020, to variable rates.  Additionally, the Company has interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the interest rate
on its 3.2 percent $350 million senior notes due November 1, 2015 to a variable rate.  These swap agreements call for the Company to receive interest at the
fixed coupon rate of the respective notes and to pay interest at a variable rate based on the six-month US dollar LIBOR rate plus a spread.  The Company has
designated these interest rate swap agreements as hedges of the changes in fair value of the underlying debt obligations attributable to changes in interest rates
and accounts for them as fair-value hedges.  Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments that effectively offset the
variability in the fair value of outstanding debt obligations are reported in earnings.  These amounts offset the gain or loss (that is, the change in fair value) of
the hedged debt instruments that are attributable to changes in interest rates (that is, the hedged risk), which is also recognized in earnings.  The fair value of
these interest rate swap agreements at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 was $8 million and $13 million, respectively, and is reflected in the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets within other assets, with an offsetting amount recorded in long-term debt to adjust the carrying amount of the hedged
debt obligations.
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At September 30, 2014, AOCI included $7 million of losses (net of income taxes of $4 million) related to settled T-Locks.  At December 31, 2013,

AOCI included $8 million of losses (net of income taxes of $5 million) related to settled T-Locks.  These deferred losses are being amortized to financing
costs over the terms of the senior notes with which they are associated.

 
Foreign currency hedging:  Due to the Company’s global operations, including many operations in emerging markets, it is exposed to fluctuations in

foreign currency exchange rates.  As a result, the Company has exposure to translational foreign exchange risk when its foreign operation results are
translated to US dollars and to transactional foreign exchange risk when transactions not denominated in the functional currency of the operating unit are
revalued.  The Company primarily uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts, swaps and options to manage its
transactional foreign exchange risk.  At September 30, 2014, the Company had foreign currency forward sales contracts with an aggregate notional amount of
$101 million and foreign currency forward purchase contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $57 million that hedged transactional exposures.  At
December 31, 2013, the Company had foreign currency forward sales contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $147 million and foreign currency
forward purchase contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $78 million that hedged transactional exposures.  The fair value of these derivative
instruments were assets of $1 million at September 30, 2014 and liabilities of $5 million at December 31, 2013, respectively.

 
The Company also has certain foreign currency derivative instruments that hedge certain foreign currency transactional exposures and are designated

as cash-flow hedges.  At both September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, AOCI included $1 million of gains, net of income taxes, associated with these
hedges.
 

The fair value and balance sheet location of the Company’s derivative instruments, accounted for as cash-flow hedges and presented gross on the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, are reflected below:
 
  

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments
 

Derivatives designated as
   

Fair Value
   

Fair Value
 

cash-flow hedging
instruments:
(in millions)

 

Balance Sheet
Location

 

At
Sept. 30,

2014
 

At
December 31,

2013
 

Balance Sheet
Location

 

At
Sept. 30,

2014
 

At
December 31,

2013
 

              

Commodity and foreign currency
contracts

 

Accounts
receivable-net

 

$ 3
 

$ 2
 

Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities

 

$ 44
 

$ 27
 

              
Commodity and foreign currency

contracts
 

Other assets
 

—
 

5
 

Non-current
liabilities

 

6
 

—
 

Total
   

$ 3
 

$ 7
   

$ 50
 

$ 27
 

 
At September 30, 2014, the Company had outstanding futures and option contracts that hedged the forecasted purchase of approximately 69 million

bushels of corn.  Additionally at September 30, 2014, the Company had outstanding swap and option contracts that hedged the forecasted purchase of
approximately 14 million mmbtu’s of natural gas.  The Company is unable to directly hedge price risk related to co-product sales; however, it occasionally
enters
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into hedges of soybean oil (a competing product to corn oil) in order to mitigate the price risk of corn oil sales. The Company had no soybean oil hedges at
September 30, 2014.
 
Additional information relating to the Company’s derivative instruments is presented below (in millions, pre-tax):
 

  

Amount of Gains (Losses)
Recognized in OCI

on Derivatives
 

Location of
 

Amount of Gains (Losses)
Reclassified from AOCI

 into Income
 

Derivatives in
Cash-Flow
Hedging
Relationships

 

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014

 

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013

 

Gains (Losses)
Reclassified

from AOCI into
Income

 

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2014

 

Three Months
Ended

September 30,
2013

 

Commodity and foreign currency contracts
 

$ (71) $ (43) Cost of sales
 

$ (15) $ (26)

Interest rate contracts
 

—
 

—
 

Financing costs,
net

 

(1) (1)
Total

 

$ (71) $ (43)
  

$ (16) $ (27)
 

  

Amount of Gains (Losses)
Recognized in OCI

on Derivatives
 

Location of
 

Amount of Gains (Losses)
Reclassified from AOCI

 into Income
 

Derivatives in
Cash-Flow
Hedging
Relationships

 

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014

 

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2013

 

Gains (Losses)
Reclassified

from AOCI into
Income

 

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2014

 

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,
2013

 

Commodity and foreign currency contracts
 

$ (68) $ (79) Cost of sales
 

$ (33) $ (12)

Interest rate contracts
 

—
 

—
 

Financing costs,
net

 

(2) (2)
Total

 

$ (68) $ (79)
  

$ (35) $ (14)
 

At September 30, 2014, AOCI included approximately $52 million of losses, net of income taxes of $25 million, on commodities-related derivative
instruments designated as cash-flow hedges that are expected to be reclassified into earnings during the next twelve months.  The Company expects the losses
to be offset by changes in the underlying commodities cost.  Additionally at September 30, 2014, AOCI included $2 million of losses on settled T-Locks (net
of income taxes of $1 million) and $0.2 million of gains related to foreign currency hedges (net of income taxes), which are expected to be reclassified into
earnings during the next twelve months.

 
Presented below are the fair values of the Company’s financial instruments and derivatives for the periods presented:
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At September 30, 2014
 

At December 31, 2013
 

(in millions)
 

Total
 

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Total
 

Level 1
 

Level 2
 

Level 3
 

Available for sale securities
 

$ 4
 

$ 4
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 4
 

$ 4
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Derivative assets
 

12
 

—
 

12
 

—
 

20
 

—
 

20
 

—
 

Derivative liabilities
 

50
 

46
 

4
 

—
 

32
 

22
 

10
 

—
 

Long-term debt
 

2,009
 

—
 

2,009
 

—
 

1,813
 

—
 

1,813
 

—
 

 
Level 1 inputs consist of quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. 
Level 2 inputs are based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability or can be derived principally from or corroborated
by observable market data.  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.  Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the
extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the
measurement date.
 

The carrying values of cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximate fair
values.  Commodity futures, options and swap contracts are recognized at fair value.  Foreign currency forward contracts, swaps and options are also
recognized at fair value.  The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on quotations of major securities dealers who are market makers
in the securities.  At September 30, 2014, the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s long-term debt were $1.89 billion and $2.01 billion,
respectively.
 
5.                                    Share-Based Compensation
 
Stock Options:
 

Under the Company’s stock incentive plan, stock options are granted at exercise prices that equal the market value of the underlying common stock
on the date of grant.  The options have a 10-year term and are exercisable upon vesting, which occurs over a three-year period at the anniversary dates of the
date of grant.  Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis for all awards.

 
The Company granted non-qualified options to purchase 715 thousand shares and 416 thousand shares of the Company’s common stock during the

nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  The fair value of each option grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions:
 

  

For the Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

  
2014

 
2013

 

Expected life (in years)
 

5.5
 

5.8
 

 



Risk-free interest rate 1.63% 1.11%
Expected volatility

 

30.28% 32.64%
Expected dividend yield

 

2.82% 1.57%
 

The expected life of options represents the weighted-average period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding giving consideration
to vesting schedules and the Company’s historical exercise patterns.  The risk-free interest rate is based on the US Treasury yield curve in effect at the grant
date for the period corresponding to the expected life of the
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options.  Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities of the Company’s common stock.  Dividend yields are based on historical dividend payments.

 
Stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was as follows:
 

(dollars and options in thousands,
except per share amounts)

 

Number of
Options

 

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share
 

Average
Remaining

Contractual
Term (Years)

 

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
 

Outstanding at December 31, 2013
 

2,849
 

$ 40.77
     

Granted
 

715
 

59.65
     

Exercised
 

(523) 33.37
     

Cancelled
 

(48) 51.66
     

Outstanding at September 30, 2014
 

2,993
 

46.40
 

6.34
 

$ 87,961
 

          
Exercisable at September 30, 2014

 

1,938
 

38.63
 

4.93
 

$ 72,008
 

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, cash received from the exercise of stock options was $17 million.  At September 30, 2014, the total

remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options approximated $11 million, which will be amortized over the weighted-average period of
approximately 2.0 years.
 

Additional information pertaining to stock option activity is as follows:
 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

(dollars in thousands, except per share)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Weighted average grant date fair value of stock
options granted (per share)

 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ 12.99
 

$ 17.87
 

Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised
 

$ 6,416
 

$ 2,686
 

$ 21,339
 

$ 17,338
 

 
Restricted Shares of Common Stock and Restricted Stock Units:
 

The Company has granted shares of restricted common stock (“RSAs”) and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain key employees.  The RSAs and
RSUs are subject to cliff vesting, generally after three to five years provided the employee remains in the service of the Company.  The fair value of the RSAs
and RSUs is determined based upon the number of shares granted and the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant.
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The following table summarizes RSA and RSU activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2014:
 
  

RSAs
 

RSUs
 

(in thousands, except per share
amounts)

 

Number of
RSAs

 

Weighted
Average

Fair Value
per Share

 

Number of
RSUs

 

Weighted
Average

Fair Value
per Share

 

Non-vested at December 31, 2013
 

48
 

$ 26.25
 

469
 

$ 54.47
 

Granted
 

—
 

—
 

158
 

61.29
 

Vested
 

(31) 25.35
 

(161) 48.48
 

Cancelled
 

(1) 28.75
 

(23) 54.74
 

Non-vested at September 30, 2014
 

16
 

27.94
 

443
 

59.09
 

 
At September 30, 2014, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs was $13 million, which will be amortized over a

weighted-average period of approximately 2.0 years.  Unrecognized compensation cost related to RSAs was insignificant at September 30, 2014.
 
The following table summarizes the components of the Company’s share-based compensation expense:

 
  

Three Months Ended
 

Nine Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 
September 30,

 

(in millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Stock options:
         

Pre-tax compensation expense
 

$ 1.7
 

$ 1.5
 

$ 5.4
 

$ 4.7
 

Income tax (benefit)
 

(0.5) (0.5) (1.6) (1.4)
Stock option expense, net of income taxes

 

1.2
 

1.0
 

3.8
 

3.3
 

          
RSUs, RSAs and other share-based awards:

         

Pre-tax compensation expense
 

3.0
 

2.7
 

8.7
 

8.4
 

 



Income tax (benefit) (0.9) (0.8) (2.5) (2.5)
RSU, RSA and other share-based compensation expense, net of

income taxes
 

2.1
 

1.9
 

6.2
 

5.9
 

          
Total share-based compensation:

         

Pre-tax compensation expense
 

4.7
 

4.2
 

14.1
 

13.1
 

Income tax (benefit)
 

(1.4) (1.3) (4.1) (3.9)
Total share-based compensation expense, net of income taxes

 

$ 3.3
 

$ 2.9
 

$ 10.0
 

$ 9.2
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6.                                      Net Periodic Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

 
For detailed information about the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans, please refer to Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost of the US and non-US defined benefit pension plans for the periods
presented:
 

  

Three Months
Ended September 30,

 

Nine Months
Ended September 30,

 

  
US Plans

 
Non-US Plans

 
US Plans

 
Non-US Plans

 

(in millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Service cost
 

$ 1.8
 

$ 2.0
 

$ 1.5
 

$ 2.3
 

$ 5.3
 

$ 5.9
 

$ 4.4
 

$ 7.0
 

Interest cost
 

3.3
 

2.8
 

3.7
 

3.0
 

9.8
 

8.5
 

11.1
 

9.2
 

Expected return on plan assets
 

(5.2) (4.6) (3.6) (2.9) (15.7) (13.7) (10.7) (8.9)
Amortization of net actuarial loss

 

0.1
 

0.5
 

0.8
 

1.2
 

0.3
 

1.4
 

2.4
 

3.7
 

Amortization of prior service credit
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(0.1) (0.1)
Amortization of transition obligation

 

—
 

—
 

0.1
 

0.1
 

—
 

—
 

0.2
 

0.2
 

Settlement
 

0.4
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

0.4
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

Net pension cost
 

$ 0.4
 

$ 0.7
 

$ 2.5
 

$ 3.7
 

$ 0.1
 

$ 2.1
 

$ 7.3
 

$ 11.1
 

 
The Company currently anticipates that it will make approximately $18 million in cash contributions to its pension plans in 2014, consisting of $6

million to its US pension plans and $12 million to its non-US pension plans.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company made cash
contributions of approximately $5 million and $8 million to its US and non-US pension plans, respectively.

 
The following table sets forth the components of net postretirement benefit cost for the periods presented:

 

  

Three Months
Ended Sept. 30,

 

Nine Months
Ended Sept. 30,

 

(in millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Service cost
 

$ 0.7
 

$ 0.7
 

$ 2.1
 

$ 2.3
 

Interest cost
 

0.9
 

0.9
 

2.7
 

2.8
 

Amortization of prior service cost
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

0.1
 

Amortization of net actuarial loss
 

0.1
 

0.2
 

0.3
 

0.8
 

Curtailment
 

—
 

(0.3) —
 

(0.3)
Net postretirement benefit cost

 

$ 1.7
 

$ 1.5
 

$ 5.1
 

$ 5.7
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7.                                      Earnings per Common Share
 
The following table provides the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share (“EPS”) for the periods presented.
 
  

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
 

Three Months Ended September 30, 2013
 

  
Net Income

     
Net Income

     

  
Available

 
Weighted

   
Available

 
Weighted

   

  
to Ingredion

 
Average Shares

 
Per Share

 
to Ingredion

 
Average Shares

 
Per Share

 

(in millions, except per share amounts)
 

(Numerator)
 

(Denominator)
 

Amount
 

(Numerator)
 

(Denominator)
 

Amount
 

              
Basic EPS

 

$ 118.6
 

73.0
 

$ 1.62
 

$ 86.3
 

77.3
 

$ 1.12
 

              
Effect of Dilutive Securities:

             

              
Incremental shares from assumed exercise

of dilutive stock options and vesting of
dilutive RSUs, RSAs and other awards

   

1.3
     

1.3
   

              
Diluted EPS

 

$ 118.6
 

74.3
 

$ 1.60
 

$ 86.3
 

78.6
 

$ 1.10
 

 
  

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013
 

  
Net Income

     
Net Income

     

  
Available

 
Weighted

   
Available

 
Weighted

   

  
to Ingredion

 
Average Shares

 
Per Share

 
to Ingredion

 
Average Shares

 
Per Share

 

(in millions, except per share amounts)
 

(Numerator)
 

(Denominator)
 

Amount
 

(Numerator)
 

(Denominator)
 

Amount
 



              
Basic EPS

 

$ 293.8
 

74.2
 

$ 3.96
 

$ 292.2
 

77.5
 

$ 3.77
 

              
Effect of Dilutive Securities:

             

              
Incremental shares from assumed exercise

of dilutive stock options and vesting of
dilutive RSUs, RSAs and other awards

   

1.3
     

1.3
   

              
Diluted EPS

 

$ 293.8
 

75.5
 

$ 3.89
 

$ 292.2
 

78.8
 

$ 3.71
 

 
For the first nine months of 2014, options to purchase approximately 0.4 million shares of common stock were excluded from the calculation of

diluted EPS as the impact of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.  The number of anti-dilutive options excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS
for the third quarter of 2014 was not material.  For both the third quarter and first nine months of 2013, options to purchase approximately 0.4 million shares
of common stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS as the impact of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

 
8.                                      Inventories

 
Inventories are summarized as follows:
 

(in millions)
 

At
September 30,

2014
 

At
December 31,

2013
 

Finished and in process
 

$ 437
 

$ 440
 

Raw materials
 

240
 

235
 

Manufacturing supplies and other
 

45
 

48
 

Total inventories
 

$ 722
 

$ 723
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9.                                      Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
 

A summary of accumulated other comprehensive loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 2013 is provided below:
 
    

Deferred
   

Unrealized
 

Accumulated
 

  
Cumulative

 
Gain/(Loss)

 
Pension/

 
Loss

 
Other

 

  
Translation

 
on Hedging

 
Postretirement

 
on

 
Comprehensive

 

(in millions)
 

Adjustment
 

Activities
 

Adjustment
 

Investment
 

Loss
 

Balance, December 31, 2013
 

$ (489) $ (40) $ (53) $ (1) $ (583)
Losses on cash-flow hedges, net of income tax effect of

$21
   

(47)
    

(47)
Amount of losses on cash-flow hedges reclassified to

earnings, net of income tax effect of $11
   

24
     

24
 

Losses related to pension and other postretirement
obligations reclassified to earnings, net of income tax
effect

     

3
   

3
 

Currency translation adjustment
 

(116)
      

(116)
Balance, September 30, 2014

 

$ (605) $ (63) $ (50) $ (1) $ (719)
 
    

Deferred
   

Unrealized
 

Accumulated
 

  
Cumulative

 
Gain/(Loss)

 
Pension/

 
Loss

 
Other

 

  
Translation

 
on Hedging

 
Postretirement

 
on

 
Comprehensive

 

(in millions)
 

Adjustment
 

Activities
 

Adjustment
 

Investment
 

Loss
 

Balance, December 31, 2012
 

$ (335) $ (17) $ (121) $ (2) $ (475)
Losses on cash-flow hedges, net of income tax effect of

$25
   

(54)
    

(54)
Amount of losses on cash-flow hedges reclassified to

earnings, net of income tax effect of $4
   

10
     

10
 

Losses related to pension and other postretirement
obligations reclassified to earnings, net of income tax
effect

     

5
   

5
 

Unrealized gain on investment, net of income tax effect
       

1
 

1
 

Currency translation adjustment
 

(105)
      

(105)
Balance, September 30, 2013

 

$ (440) $ (61) $ (116) $ (1) $ (618)
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The following table provides detail pertaining to reclassifications from AOCI into net income for the periods presented:
 
  

Amount Reclassified from AOCI
   

  
Three Months ended

 
Nine Months ended

 
Affected Line Item in

 

Details about AOCI Components
 

September 30,
 

September 30,
 

Condensed Consolidated
 

(in millions)
 

2014
 

2013
 

2014
 

2013
 

Statements of Income
 

Losses on cash-flow hedges:
           

Commodity and foreign currency contracts
 

$ (15) $ (26) $ (33) $ (12) Cost of sales
 

  



Interest rate contracts (1) (1) (2) (2) Financing costs, net
            
Losses related to pension and other postretirement

obligations
 

(1) (2) (4) (6) (a)
 

Total before tax reclassifications
 

$ (17) $ (29) $ (39) $ (20)
  

Income tax benefit
 

5
 

9
 

12
 

5
   

Total after-tax reclassifications
 

$ (12) $ (20) $ (27) $ (15)
  

 

(a) This component is included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost and affects both cost of sales and operating expenses on the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income.
 
10.                               Accelerated Share Repurchase Agreement
 

As part of the stock repurchase program, the Company entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (“ASR”) on July 30, 2014 with an
investment bank under which the Company repurchased $300 million of its common stock.  The Company paid the $300 million on August 1, 2014 and
received an initial delivery of shares from the investment bank of approximately 3.2 million shares, representing approximately 80 percent of the shares
anticipated to be repurchased based on current market prices. The ASR was accounted for as an initial stock purchase transaction and a forward stock
purchase contract. The initial delivery of shares resulted in an immediate reduction of the outstanding shares used to calculate the weighted average common
shares outstanding for basic and diluted net earnings per share from the effective date of the ASR.  The forward stock purchase contract is classified as an
equity instrument.  At September 30, 2014, the $60 million holdback was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital in the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheet.  The ASR was funded through a combination of cash on hand and utilization of the Revolving Credit Agreement.

 
At the conclusion of the ASR, the Company may receive additional shares or cash, or be required to pay additional cash or deliver shares (at the

Company’s option) based upon the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s stock, less a discount, over an averaging period, which is expected to
end in the fourth quarter of 2014.  The ASR is part of the Company’s existing share repurchase program, which had approximately 0.8 million shares
available for purchase as of September 30, 2014.  The maximum number of shares that can be repurchased under the ASR is limited to 4.0 million shares.  As
of September 30, 2014, based on the volume-weighted average price of the Company’s common stock since the effective date of the ASR, the investment
bank would be required to deliver approximately 0.7 million of additional shares to the Company.
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11.                               Income Taxes
 

The Company’s effective income tax rate for the third quarter of 2014 was 26.1 percent compared to 25.8 percent a year ago.  The effective income
tax rate for the first nine months of 2014 was 27.5 percent compared to 25.9 percent a year ago.

 
In the third quarter of 2014, the Company recorded two discrete tax adjustments that partially offset each other.  First, the effective tax rate reflects a

favorable impact of 5.3 percentage points that relates to the reversal of previously unrecognized tax benefits due to the lapsing of the statute of limitations.
 
Second, an unfavorable impact of 4.5 percentage points was recognized in the period for an unfavorable audit result in a National Starch subsidiary

related to a pre-acquisition period for which we are indemnified by Akzo Nobel N.V. (“Akzo”).  The $7 million expense incurred by the acquired subsidiary
is recorded in the tax provision, while the reimbursement from Akzo under the indemnification is recorded as other income.  As the Company is fully
indemnified for this pre-acquisition obligation, the impact on net income is zero.

 
Without the discrete tax adjustments and the indemnification income, the Company’s effective income tax rate for both the third quarter and first

nine months of 2014 would have been approximately 28 percent.
 
In the third quarter of 2013, the effective tax rate reflected a favorable impact of approximately 4.2 percentage points that relates to the reversal of

previously unrecognized tax benefits and favorable provision to return adjustments.  The effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30,
2013 also reflected a favorable determination received from a Canadian court regarding the tax treatment of a prior period transaction, resulting in a discrete
tax benefit of approximately 1.0 percentage point and the favorable impact of approximately 2.0 percentage points related to the reversal of previously
unrecognized tax benefits on a year-to-date basis.
 

Without these items, the Company’s effective income tax rates for the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 would have been approximately 30
percent and 29 percent, respectively.
 
12.                               Subsequent Event
 

On October 14, 2014, the Company, entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Penford Corporation,
a Washington corporation (“Penford”), Prospect Sub, Inc., a Washington corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and the
Company.  The Merger Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were unanimously approved by the
Company’s board of directors.

 
The Merger Agreement provides for the merger of Merger Sub with and into Penford, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the

Merger Agreement (the “Merger”), with Penford continuing as the surviving corporation in the Merger.  As a result of the Merger, Penford will become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share (a “Share”) of common stock of Penford
(“Penford Common Stock”) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than (a) Shares owned by the Company or Merger Sub, or
by any subsidiary of the Company or Merger Sub, immediately prior to the Effective Time and (b) Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
and held by a holder who is entitled to exercise dissenters’ rights and properly exercises dissenters’ rights under Washington law with respect to such Shares,
will be converted into the right to receive $19.00 in cash per Share, without interest and subject to and reduced by the amount of any tax withholding.  As of
the date of the Merger Agreement, Penford had 12,735,038 outstanding Shares and 1,429,000 Shares underlying outstanding options.  Outstanding
borrowings under Penford’s revolving credit agreement will become due as a result of the Merger.  The purchase price is estimated to be $340 million,
including the assumption of debt.  The Company expects to fund the acquisition of Penford with available cash and proceeds from borrowings under the
Company’s revolving credit agreement.

 
Penford, headquartered in Centennial, Colorado had net sales of $467 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2013.  Penford employs

approximately 445 people and operates six plants in the United States, all of which manufacture specialty starches.
 

The consummation of the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of specified closing conditions, including, among other things, (a) the
adoption of the Merger Agreement by the holders of a majority of the voting power of the outstanding Shares entitled to vote thereon, (b) the receipt of
certain required antitrust approvals, (c) the receipt by the Company of audited financial statements of Penford for fiscal year 2014 and (d) other specified
customary closing conditions.  The Merger could close as early as the end of the calendar year 2014.
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ITEM 2
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Overview
 

We are a major supplier of high-quality food and industrial ingredients to customers around the world.  We have 36 manufacturing plants located in
North America, South America, Asia Pacific and Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), and we manage and operate our businesses at a regional
level.  We believe this approach provides us with a unique understanding of the cultures and product requirements in each of the geographic markets in which
we operate, bringing added value to our customers.  Our ingredients are used by customers in the food, beverage, animal feed, paper and corrugating, and
brewing industries, among others.
 

Our Strategic Blueprint continues to guide our decision making and strategic choices with an emphasis on value-added ingredients for our customers.
The foundation of our Strategic Blueprint is operational excellence, which includes our focus on safety, quality and continuous improvement.  We see growth
opportunities in three areas.  First is organic growth as we work to expand our current business.  Second, we are focused on broadening our ingredient
portfolio of on-trend products through internal and external business development.  Finally, we look for growth from geographic expansion as we anticipate
extension of our reach to new locations.  The ultimate goal of these strategies and actions is to deliver increased shareholder value.

 
Operating income, net income attributable to Ingredion and diluted earnings per common share for third quarter 2014 increased 30 percent, 37

percent and 45 percent, respectively, from the results of a year ago.  These increases were driven principally by improved operating income in all of our
regions.  Our diluted earnings per common share also benefitted from the impact of our share repurchases.  While our South American business is improving,
operating results continue to be pressured by the difficult economic conditions in that segment and we believe that full year 2014 operating income for the
segment will decline slightly from 2013.

 
On October 14, 2014, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Penford Corporation (“Penford”), a U.S.-based leader in specialty

ingredients for food and non-food applications.  The acquisition has been approved by the boards of directors of both companies.  It is subject to approval by
Penford’s shareholders and regulators as well as to other customary closing conditions.  The purchase price is estimated to be $340 million, including the
assumption of debt.  We expect to fund the acquisition of Penford with available cash and proceeds from borrowings under our revolving credit agreement.
 

Penford, headquartered in Centennial, Colorado had net sales of $467 million in fiscal year 2013.  Penford employs approximately 445 people and
operates six plants in the United States, all of which manufacture specialty starches.  See also Note 12 for additional information.
 

We currently expect that our available cash balances, future cash flow from operations and borrowing capacity under our credit facilities will provide
us with sufficient liquidity to fund our anticipated capital expenditures, dividends and other investing and/or financing activities for the foreseeable future.
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Results of Operations
 

We have significant operations in North America, South America, Asia Pacific and EMEA.  For most of our foreign subsidiaries, the local foreign
currency is the functional currency.  Accordingly, revenues and expenses denominated in the functional currencies of these subsidiaries are translated into US
dollars at the applicable average exchange rates for the period.  Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates affect the US dollar amounts of our foreign
subsidiaries’ revenues and expenses.  The impact of currency exchange rate changes, where significant, is provided below.

 
For The Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014

With Comparatives for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013
 

Net Income attributable to Ingredion. Net income for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 increased to $118.6 million, or $1.60 per diluted
common share, from $86.3 million, or $1.10 per diluted common share, in the third quarter of 2013.  The increase in net income primarily reflects operating
income growth in each of our business segments.  Additionally, a reduction in financing costs contributed to the earnings growth.  The improvement in our
diluted earnings per common share also reflects the favorable impact of our share repurchases.  Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2014
increased slightly to $293.8 million from $292.2 million in the prior-year period.  Our net income per diluted common share for the nine months ended



September 30, 2014 increased 5 percent to $3.89 per share from $3.71 per share a year ago.  The improvement in our diluted earnings per common share was
primarily driven by the favorable impact of our share repurchases.
 

Net Sales.  Third quarter 2014 net sales totaled $1.46 billion, down 9 percent from third quarter 2013 net sales of $1.61 billion. The decrease in net
sales reflects a 9 percent price/product mix decline driven by lower raw material costs (primarily corn).  Volume growth of 2 percent was offset by
unfavorable currency translation of 2 percent attributable to weaker foreign currencies.

 
North American net sales for third quarter 2014 decreased 15 percent to $806 million, from $949 million a year ago.  This decrease primarily reflects

a 17 percent price/product mix decline driven principally by lower raw material costs.  A 3 percent volume improvement was partially offset by unfavorable
currency translation of 1 percent in Canada.  In South America, third quarter 2014 net sales decreased 5 percent to $308 million from $323 million a year ago.
The decrease reflects a 10 percent decline attributable to currency translation and a 2 percent volume reduction driven by soft customer demand in Brazil due
to a weak economy, which more than offset a 7 percent price/product mix improvement.  Asia Pacific had net sales of $206 million for the third quarter of
2014, up slightly from $205 million a year ago.  The increase reflects volume growth of 4 percent and favorable currency translation of 1 percent driven by a
stronger South Korean Won, which more than offset a 5 percent price/product mix decline.  EMEA net sales for third quarter 2014 grew 4 percent to $141
million from $135 million a year ago.  This increase was driven by volume growth of 3 percent and favorable currency translation of 2 percent attributable to
stronger local currencies, which more than offset a price/product mix decline of 1 percent.
 

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 totaled $4.30 billion, down 11 percent from $4.83 billion in the same period a year ago.  A
9 percent price/product mix decline
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primarily attributable to lower raw material costs and unfavorable currency translation of 4 percent due to weaker foreign currencies drove the sales decline. 
A 2 percent volume increase, reflecting growth in each of our segments, partially offset the unfavorable impacts of the reduced prices and currency
translation.
 

Net sales in North America for the first nine months of 2014 decreased 17 percent to $2.36 billion, from $2.84 billion a year ago.  This decrease
primarily reflects a 17 percent price/product mix decline driven principally by lower raw material costs.  A 1 percent volume improvement offset unfavorable
currency translation of 1 percent in Canada.  In South America, net sales for the first nine months of 2014 decreased 9 percent to $906 million from $992
million a year ago, as a 16 percent decline attributable to weaker foreign currencies more than offset price/product mix improvement of 5 percent and 2
percent volume growth.  In Asia Pacific, net sales for the first nine months of 2014 decreased 1 percent to $594 million from $601 million a year ago.  The
decrease reflects a 5 percent price/product mix decline and unfavorable currency translation of 1 percent, which more than offset volume growth of 5 percent. 
EMEA net sales for the first nine months of 2014 increased 9 percent to $438 million from $401 million a year ago.  This increase reflects price/product mix
improvement of 4 percent, 4 percent volume growth and favorable currency translation of 1 percent attributable to a stronger Euro and Pound Sterling.

 
Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses. Cost of sales of $1.16 billion for the third quarter of 2014 decreased 14 percent from $1.35 billion in the

prior-year period.  Cost of sales of $3.46 billion for the first nine months of 2014 decreased 13 percent from $3.99 billion a year ago.  These reductions
primarily reflect lower raw material costs and the effects of currency translation. Gross corn costs per ton for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014
decreased approximately 24 percent and 26 percent, respectively, from the comparable prior-year periods, driven by lower market prices for corn.  Currency
translation caused cost of sales for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014 to decrease approximately 2 percent and 4 percent, respectively, from the
prior-year periods, reflecting the impact of weaker foreign currencies, particularly in South America.  Our gross profit margin for the third quarter and first
nine months of 2014 was 20.4 percent and 19.6 percent, respectively, compared to 16.1 percent and 17.4 percent last year.  Despite reduced selling prices
driven by lower corn costs, we have generally maintained per unit gross profit dollar levels, resulting in the improved gross profit margin percentages.

 
Operating expenses for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014 were $129 million and $399 million, respectively, as compared to $125

million and $399 million last year. The increase for third quarter 2014 primarily reflects higher compensation-related costs, which more than offset the impact
of weaker foreign currencies, particularly in South America.  Currency translation associated with the weaker foreign currencies caused operating expenses
for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014 to decrease approximately 2 percent and 4 percent, respectively, from the prior-year periods.  Operating
expenses, as a percentage of gross profit, were 43 percent and 47 percent for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014, respectively, as compared to 48
percent and 47 percent in the comparable prior-year periods.

 
Other Income, net.  Other income, net for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014 increased to $10 million and $18 million, respectively,

from $3 million and $11 million in the year-ago periods.  The increases reflect the recording of $7 million of income associated with a tax indemnification
agreement relating to a subsidiary acquired from Akzo Nobel N.V. (“Akzo”) in 2010.  In the third quarter of 2014, we recognized a charge to our income tax
provision for an expected unfavorable income tax audit result at this subsidiary related to a
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pre-acquisition period for which we are indemnified by Akzo.  The costs incurred by the acquired subsidiary are recorded in our provision for income taxes
while the reimbursement from Akzo under the indemnification agreement is recorded as other income.  The impact on our net income is zero.
 

Other income for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 also includes a $5 million pre-tax gain from the second quarter sale of an investment in
a non-consolidated affiliate.  This investment had been accounted for under the cost method and was reported in Investments in our consolidated balance
sheet.  Additionally, other income for the first nine months of 2014 includes $4 million of costs relating to product liability claims recorded in the second
quarter of 2014.

 
Operating Income. Third quarter 2014 operating income increased 30 percent to $178 million from $137 million a year ago, primarily reflecting

earnings growth in each of our segments.  Unfavorable currency translation due to weaker foreign currencies reduced operating income by approximately $2
million from the prior-year period.  North America operating income for third quarter 2014 increased 17 percent to $113 million from $97 million a year ago. 
The increase was driven primarily by volume growth and cost savings.  Translation effects associated with the weaker Canadian dollar reduced operating
income by approximately $1 million in the segment.  South America operating income for third quarter 2014 increased 46 percent to $27 million from $19
million in the year-ago period.  The increase reflects earnings growth throughout the segment principally driven by improved product selling prices. 



Translation effects associated with weaker South American currencies (particularly the Argentine Peso and Brazilian Real) caused operating income to
decrease by approximately $1 million.  Asia Pacific operating income for third quarter 2014 increased 14 percent to $27 million from $24 million a year ago. 
This increase primarily reflects volume growth in our Asian business along with lower corn costs in South Korea.  EMEA operating income increased 28
percent to $22 million from $17 million a year ago.  This increase primarily reflects volume growth, cost reductions and manufacturing efficiencies associated
with recent capital investments.
 

Operating income for the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was $463 million, up from $452 million a year ago.  Without the $7 million of
income from the tax indemnification agreement with Akzo, operating income would have increased 1 percent from the 2013 period.  This improvement
primarily reflects earnings growth in Asia Pacific and EMEA along with lower corporate expenses.  Unfavorable currency translation attributable to weaker
foreign currencies reduced operating income by approximately $17 million from the prior-year period.  North America operating income for the first nine
months of 2014 decreased 6 percent to $289 million from $308 million a year ago.  The decline reflects our weak first-quarter 2014 results that were
negatively impacted by harsh winter weather conditions that caused higher energy, transportation and production costs.  Translation effects associated with the
weaker Canadian dollar reduced operating income by approximately $5 million in the segment.  South America operating income for the first nine months of
2014 declined 7 percent to $74 million from $80 million a year ago.  The decrease primarily reflects weaker results in the Southern Cone of South America
during the first six months of 2014, which more than offset earnings growth in Brazil.  The operating income decline in the Southern Cone of South America
primarily reflects the impact of higher production costs and our inability to increase selling prices to a level sufficient to recover the impacts of inflation and
currency devaluation earlier in the year.  Translation effects associated with weaker South American currencies (particularly the
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Argentine Peso and Brazilian Real) caused operating income to decrease by approximately $10 million in the segment.  While operating results in South
America have improved as the year has progressed, our business there continues to be challenged by difficult economic conditions and we currently anticipate
that full year 2014 operating income for the segment will decline slightly from 2013.  Asia Pacific operating income for the first nine months of 2014 grew 14
percent to $80 million from $70 million a year ago, driven by volume growth in our Asian business and lower corn costs in South Korea.  Translation effects
associated with weaker Asian currencies caused operating income to decrease by approximately $2 million in the segment.  EMEA operating income
increased 28 percent to $69 million from $54 million a year ago driven by improved selling prices, volume growth and manufacturing efficiencies associated
with recent capital investments.
 

Financing Costs-net. Financing costs for the third quarter and first nine months of 2014 decreased to $15 million and $49 million, respectively,
from $18 million and $51 million in the comparable prior-year periods.  The decrease in financing costs for third quarter 2014 primarily reflects reduced
foreign currency transaction losses, partially offset by an increase in interest expense driven by lower capitalized interest.  The decrease in financing costs for
the first nine months of 2014 was driven principally by a reduction in foreign currency transaction losses.  Increased interest expense driven by lower
capitalized interest was substantially offset by increases in interest income mainly due to higher interest rates on cash investments.

 
Provision for Income Taxes.  Our effective income tax rate for the third quarter of 2014 was 26.1 percent compared to 25.8 percent a year ago.  The

effective income tax rate for the first nine months of 2014 was 27.5 percent compared to 25.9 percent a year ago.
 
In the third quarter of 2014, we recorded two discrete income tax adjustments that partially offset each other.  First, our effective tax rate reflects a

favorable impact of 5.3 percentage points that relates to the reversal of previously unrecognized tax benefits due to the lapsing of the statute of limitations.
 
Second, an unfavorable impact of 4.5 percentage points was recognized in the period for an unfavorable audit result in a National Starch subsidiary

related to a pre-acquisition period for which we are indemnified by Akzo.  The $7 million expense incurred by the acquired subsidiary is recorded in the tax
provision, while the reimbursement from Akzo under the indemnification is recorded as other income.  As we are fully indemnified for this pre-acquisition
obligation, the impact on net income is zero.

 
Without the discrete tax adjustments and the indemnification income, our effective income tax rate for both the third quarter and first nine months of

2014 would have been approximately 28 percent.
 
In the third quarter of 2013, the effective tax rate reflected a favorable impact of approximately 4.2 percentage points that relates to the reversal of

previously unrecognized tax benefits and favorable provision to return adjustments.  The effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30,
2013 also reflected a favorable determination received from a Canadian court regarding the tax treatment of a prior period transaction, resulting in a discrete
tax benefit of approximately 1.0 percentage point and the favorable impact of approximately 2.0 percentage points related to the reversal of previously
unrecognized tax benefits on a year-to-date basis.
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Without these items, our effective income tax rates for the third quarter and first nine months of 2013 would have been approximately 30 percent and

29 percent, respectively.
 

Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interests. The net income attributable to non-controlling interests for the third quarter and first nine
months of 2014 was $2 million and $6 million, respectively, as compared to $2 million and $5 million in the prior-year periods.  The increase for the first nine
months of 2014 from the prior-year period primarily reflects improved earnings in Pakistan.
 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Ingredion. We recorded a comprehensive loss of $39 million for the third quarter of 2014, as
compared to comprehensive income of $83 million in the prior-year period.  This decrease primarily reflects a $127 million unfavorable variance in the
foreign currency translation adjustment.  The unfavorable variance in the foreign currency translation adjustment reflects a significant weakening in end of
period foreign currencies relative to the US dollar, as compared to the year-ago period when foreign currencies had strengthened moderately.

 
For the first nine months of 2014, we recorded comprehensive income of $158 million, as compared with $149 million a year ago.  This increase in

comprehensive income primarily reflects a $21 million year-over-year increase associated with our cash-flow hedging activity, which more than offset an $11
million unfavorable variance in the foreign currency translation adjustment.  The unfavorable variance in the foreign currency translation adjustment reflects a
greater weakening in end of period foreign currencies relative to the US dollar, as compared to the year-ago period.



 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2014 was $462 million, as compared to $362 million a year ago.  The increase in
operating cash flow primarily reflects a reduction in our cash outflows associated with working capital.
 

Capital expenditures of $187 million for the first nine months of 2014 are in line with our capital spending plan for the year.  We anticipate that our
capital expenditures will be slightly below $300 million for full year 2014.
 

We have a senior, unsecured $1 billion revolving credit agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) that matures on October 22, 2017.  At
September 30, 2014, there were $175 million of borrowings outstanding under our Revolving Credit Agreement.  In addition to borrowing availability under
our Revolving Credit Agreement, we also have approximately $499 million of unused operating lines of credit in the various foreign countries in which we
operate.

 
At September 30, 2014, we had total debt outstanding of $1.92 billion, compared to $1.81 billion at December 31, 2013.  In addition to the

borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement, our total debt includes $350 million of 3.2 percent notes due November 1, 2015, $300 million
(principal amount) of 1.8 percent senior notes due 2017, $200 million of 6.0 percent senior notes due 2017, $200 million of 5.62 percent senior notes due
2020, $400 million (principal amount) of 4.625 percent notes due 2020, $250 million (principal amount) of 6.625 percent senior notes due 2037 and $29
million of consolidated subsidiary debt consisting of local country short-term borrowings.  The weighted average interest rate on our
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total indebtedness was approximately 4.2 percent for the first nine months of 2014, compared to 4.3 percent in the comparable prior-year period.
 

On September 16, 2014, our board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.42 per share of common stock.  This dividend was paid on
October 27, 2014 to stockholders of record at the close of business on September 30, 2014.
 

As part of the stock repurchase program, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (“ASR”) on July 30, 2014 with an investment
bank under which we repurchased $300 million of our common stock.  We paid the $300 million on August 1, 2014 and received an initial delivery of shares
from the investment bank of approximately 3.2 million shares, representing approximately 80 percent of the shares anticipated to be repurchased based on
current market prices.  The ASR was accounted for as an initial stock purchase transaction and a forward stock purchase contract.  The initial delivery of
shares resulted in an immediate reduction of the outstanding shares used to calculate the weighted average common shares outstanding for basic and diluted
net earnings per share from the effective date of the ASR.  The forward stock purchase contract is classified as an equity instrument.  At September 30, 2014,
the $60 million holdback was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.  The ASR was funded
through a combination of cash on hand and utilization of the Revolving Credit Agreement.

 
At the conclusion of the ASR, we may receive additional shares or cash, or be required to pay additional cash or deliver shares (at our option) based

upon the volume-weighted average price of our stock, less a discount, over an averaging period, which is expected to end in the fourth quarter of 2014.  The
ASR is part of our existing share repurchase program, which had approximately 0.8 million shares available for purchase as of September 30, 2014.  The
maximum number of shares that can be repurchased under the ASR is limited to 4.0 million shares.  As of September 30, 2014, based on the volume-
weighted average price of our common stock since the effective date of the ASR, the investment bank would be required to deliver approximately 0.7 million
of additional shares to us.

 
On October 14, 2014, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Penford Corporation, a

Washington corporation (“Penford”), Prospect Sub, Inc., a Washington corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), and the
Company.  The Merger Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were unanimously approved by our
board of directors.  The Merger Agreement provides for the merger of Merger Sub with and into Penford, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in the Merger Agreement (the “Merger”), with Penford continuing as the surviving corporation in the Merger.  As a result of the Merger, Penford will become
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share (a “Share”) of common stock of Penford

(“Penford Common Stock”) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than (a) Shares owned by the Company or Merger Sub, or
by any subsidiary of the Company or Merger Sub, immediately prior to the Effective Time and (b) Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
and held by a holder who is entitled to exercise dissenters’ rights and properly exercises dissenters’ rights under Washington law with respect to such Shares,
will be converted into the right to receive $19.00 in cash per Share, without interest and subject to and reduced by the amount of any tax withholding.  As of
the date of the Merger Agreement, Penford had
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12,735,038 outstanding Shares and 1,429,000 Shares underlying outstanding options.  Outstanding borrowings under Penford’s revolving credit agreement
will become due as a result of the Merger.  The purchase price is estimated to be $340 million, including the assumption of debt.  We expect to fund the
acquisition of Penford with available cash and proceeds from borrowings under our revolving credit agreement.  See also Note 12 for additional information.
 

We currently expect that our available cash balances, future cash flow from operations and borrowing capacity under our credit facilities will provide
us with sufficient liquidity to fund our anticipated capital expenditures, dividends, and other investing and/or financing activities for the foreseeable future.
 

We have not provided federal and state income taxes on accumulated undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries because these earnings are
considered to be permanently reinvested.  It is not practicable to determine the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to the undistributed
earnings.  We do not anticipate the need to repatriate funds to the United States to satisfy domestic liquidity needs arising in the ordinary course of business,
including liquidity needs associated with our domestic debt service requirements or planned acquisition of Penford.  Approximately $540 million of our total
cash and cash equivalents of $565 million at September 30, 2014, was held by our operations outside of the United States.  We expect that available cash



balances and credit facilities in the United States, along with cash generated from operations, will be sufficient to meet our operating and other cash needs for
the foreseeable future.

 
Hedging
 

We are exposed to market risk stemming from changes in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.  In the normal course
of business, we actively manage our exposure to these market risks by entering into various hedging transactions, authorized under established policies that
place clear controls on these activities.  These transactions utilize exchange-traded derivatives or over-the-counter derivatives with investment grade
counterparties.  Our hedging transactions may include, but are not limited to, a variety of derivative financial instruments such as commodity futures, options
and swap contracts, forward currency contracts and options, interest rate swap agreements and treasury lock agreements.  See Note 4 of the Notes to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

 
Commodity Price Risk:
 

Our principal use of derivative financial instruments is to manage commodity price risk in North America relating to anticipated purchases of corn
and natural gas to be used in the manufacturing process.  We periodically enter into futures, options and swap contracts for a portion of our anticipated corn
and natural gas usage, generally over the following twelve to twenty-four months, in order to hedge price risk associated with fluctuations in market prices. 
These derivative instruments are recognized at fair value and have effectively reduced our exposure to changes in market prices for these commodities.  We
are unable to directly hedge price risk related to co-product sales; however, we occasionally enter into hedges of soybean oil (a competing product to our corn
oil) in order to mitigate the price risk of corn oil sales.  Unrealized gains and losses associated with marking our commodities-based derivative instruments to
market are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”).  At
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September 30, 2014, our accumulated other comprehensive loss account (“AOCI”) included $57 million of losses, net of income taxes of $26 million, related
to these derivative instruments.  It is anticipated that approximately $52 million of these losses, net of income taxes of $25 million, will be reclassified into
earnings during the next twelve months.  We expect the losses to be offset by changes in the underlying commodities cost.
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk:

 
Due to our global operations, including operations in many emerging markets, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.  As

a result, we have exposure to translational foreign exchange risk when our foreign operation results are translated to USD and to transactional foreign
exchange risk when transactions not denominated in the functional currency of the operating unit are revalued.  We primarily use derivative financial
instruments such as foreign currency forward contracts, swaps and options to manage our foreign currency transactional exposures.  At September 30, 2014,
we had foreign currency forward sales contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $101 million and foreign currency forward purchase contracts with an
aggregate notional amount of $57 million that hedged transactional exposures.  The fair value of these derivative instruments is an asset of $1 million at
September 30, 2014.

 
We also have certain foreign currency derivative instruments that hedge certain foreign currency transactional exposures and are designated as cash-

flow hedges.  At September 30, 2014, AOCI included $1 million of gains, net of income taxes, associated with these hedges. It is anticipated that
approximately $0.2 million of these gains, net of income taxes, will be reclassified into earnings during the next twelve months.  We expect the gains to be
offset by changes in the fair value of the underlying hedged items.

 
We have significant operations in Argentina.  We utilize the official exchange rate published by the Argentine government for re-measurement

purposes.  Due to exchange controls put in place by the Argentine government, a parallel market exists for exchanging Argentine pesos to US dollars at rates
less favorable than the official rate.  Argentina and other emerging markets have experienced increased devaluation and volatility in 2014, particularly during
the first half of the year.

 
Interest Rate Risk:
 

We occasionally use interest rate swaps and Treasury Lock agreements (“T-Locks”) to hedge our exposure to interest rate changes, to reduce the
volatility of our financing costs, or to achieve a desired proportion of fixed versus floating rate debt, based on current and projected market conditions.  We
did not have any T-Locks outstanding at September 30, 2014.

 
In September 2014, we entered into interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the interest rates on our 6.0 percent $200 million senior

notes due April 15, 2017, our 1.8 percent $300 million senior notes due September 25, 2017 and on $200 million of our $400 million 4.625 percent senior
notes due November 1, 2020, to variable rates.  Additionally, we have interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the interest rate on our 3.2
percent $350 million senior notes due November 1, 2015 to a variable rate.  These swap agreements call for us to receive interest at the fixed coupon rate of
the respective notes and to pay interest at a variable rate based on the six-month US dollar LIBOR rate plus a spread.  We have
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designated these interest rate swap agreements as hedges of the changes in fair value of the underlying debt obligations attributable to changes in interest rates
and account for them as fair-value hedges.  Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments that effectively offset the
variability in the fair value of outstanding debt obligations are reported in earnings.  These amounts offset the gain or loss (that is, the change in fair value) of
the hedged debt instruments that are attributable to changes in interest rates (that is, the hedged risk), which is also recognized in earnings.  The fair value of
these interest rate swap agreements at September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 was $8 million and $13 million, respectively, and is reflected in the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets within other assets, with an offsetting amount recorded in long-term debt to adjust the carrying amount of the hedged
debt obligations.
 

At September 30, 2014, AOCI included $7 million of losses (net of income taxes of $4 million) related to settled T-Locks.  These deferred losses are
being amortized to financing costs over the terms of the senior notes with which they are associated.  It is anticipated that $2 million of these losses (net of



income taxes of $1 million) will be reclassified into earnings during the next twelve months.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Our critical accounting policies and estimates are described in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations included in our 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.  There have been no changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the nine
months ended September 30, 2014.
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This Form 10-Q contains or may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The Company intends these forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe
harbor provisions for such statements.  Forward-looking statements include, among other things, any statements regarding the Company’s prospects or future
financial condition, earnings, revenues, tax rates, capital expenditures, expenses or other financial items, any statements concerning the Company’s prospects
or future operations, including management’s plans or strategies and objectives therefor and any assumptions, expectations or beliefs underlying the
foregoing.  These statements can sometimes be identified by the use of forward looking words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“plan,” “project,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “continue,” “pro forma,” “forecast,” “outlook” or other similar expressions or the negative thereof.  All
statements other than statements of historical facts in this report or referred to in or incorporated by reference into this report are “forward-looking
statements.”  These statements are based on current expectations, but are subject to certain inherent risks and uncertainties, many of which are difficult to
predict and are beyond our control.  Although we believe our expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions,
stockholders are cautioned that no assurance can be given that our expectations will prove correct.  Actual results and developments may differ materially
from the expectations expressed in or implied by these statements, based on various factors, including the effects of global economic conditions, including,
particularly, continuation or worsening of the current economic, currency and political conditions in South America and economic conditions in Europe, and
their impact on our sales volumes and pricing of our products, our ability to collect our receivables from customers and our ability to raise funds at
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reasonable rates; fluctuations in worldwide markets for corn and other commodities, and the associated risks of hedging against such fluctuations; fluctuations
in the markets and prices for our co-products, particularly corn oil; fluctuations in aggregate industry supply and market demand; the behavior of financial
markets, including foreign currency fluctuations and fluctuations in interest and exchange rates; continued volatility and turmoil in the capital markets; the
commercial and consumer credit environment; general political, economic, business, market and weather conditions in the various geographic regions and
countries in which we buy our raw materials or manufacture or sell our products; future financial performance of major industries which we serve, including,
without limitation, the food and beverage, pharmaceuticals, paper, corrugated, textile and brewing industries; energy costs and availability, freight and
shipping costs, and changes in regulatory controls regarding quotas, tariffs, duties, taxes and income tax rates; operating difficulties; availability of raw
materials, including tapioca and the specific varieties of corn upon which our products are based; energy issues in Pakistan; boiler reliability; our ability to
effectively integrate and operate acquired businesses; our ability to achieve budgets and to realize expected synergies; our ability to complete planned
maintenance and investment projects successfully and on budget; labor disputes; genetic and biotechnology issues; changing consumption preferences
including those relating to high fructose corn syrup; increased competitive and/or customer pressure in the starch processing industry; and the outbreak or
continuation of serious communicable disease or hostilities including acts of terrorism.  Factors relating to the proposed acquisition of Penford that could
cause actual results and developments to differ from expectations include: required regulatory approvals may not be obtained in a timely manner, if at all; the
proposed acquisition may not be consummated in a timely manner or at all; the anticipated benefits of the proposed acquisition, including synergies, may not
be realized; and the integration of Penford’s operations with those of Ingredion may be materially delayed or may be more costly or difficult than expected. 
Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made and we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking
statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date of the statement as a result of new information or future events or developments.  If we do update or
correct one or more of these statements, investors and others should not conclude that we will make additional updates or corrections.  For a further
description of these and other risks, see “Risk Factors” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 and subsequent
reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K.
 
ITEM 3
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 

See the discussion set forth in Part II, Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2013, for a discussion as to how we address risks with respect to interest rates, raw material and energy costs and foreign
currencies.  There have been no material changes in our market risks from December 31, 2013 to September 30, 2014.
 
ITEM 4
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2014.  Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
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Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (a) are effective in providing reasonable assurance that all material information
required to be filed in this report has been recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and
(b) are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.  There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30,
2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION

 
ITEM 2
UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities:
 

(shares in thousands)
 

Total
Number
of Shares

Purchased
 

Average
Price
Paid

per Share
 

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs
 

Maximum Number
(or Approximate
Dollar Value) of
Shares that may
yet be Purchased

Under the Plans or
Programs at end

of period
 

          
July 1 – July 31, 2014

 

—
 

—
 

—
 

4,000 shares
 

August 1 – August 31, 2014
 

3,153
 

$ 76.13
 

3,153
 

847 shares
 

Sept. 1 – Sept. 30, 2014
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

847 shares
 

Total
 

3,153
   

3,153
   

 
On December 13, 2013, the Board of Directors authorized a new stock repurchase program permitting the Company to purchase up to 4 million of its

outstanding common shares through December 12, 2018.  As of September 30, 2014, we had repurchased approximately 3.2 million shares under the new
program, leaving 0.8 million shares available for repurchase.

 
As part of the stock repurchase program, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (“ASR”) on July 30, 2014 with an investment

bank under which we repurchased $300 million of our common stock.  We paid the $300 million on August 1, 2014 and received an initial delivery of shares
from the investment bank of approximately 3.2 million shares, representing approximately 80 percent of the shares anticipated to be repurchased based on
current market prices.  At the conclusion of the ASR, we may receive additional shares or cash or be required to pay additional cash or deliver shares (at our
option) based upon the volume-weighted average price of our stock, less a discount, over an averaging period, which is expected to end in the fourth quarter
of 2014.  As of September 30, 2014, based on the volume-weighted average price of our common stock since the effective date of the ASR, the investment
bank would be required to deliver approximately 0.7 million of additional shares to us.

 
ITEM 6
EXHIBITS
 

a)             Exhibits
Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index hereto.

 
All other items hereunder are omitted because either such item is inapplicable or the response is negative.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

 
   

INGREDION INCORPORATED
    
    
DATE: November 3, 2014

 

By  /s/ Jack C. Fortnum
   

Jack C. Fortnum
   

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
    
    
DATE: November 3, 2014

 

By  /s/ Matthew R. Galvanoni
   

Matthew R. Galvanoni
   

Vice President and Controller
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 
Number

 
Description of Exhibit

   
2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 14, 2014, by and among Penford Corporation, a Washington corporation, Prospect
Sub, Inc., a Washington corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the Company. Certain schedules referenced in the
Agreement and Plan of Merger have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule will
be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.

   
 



31.1 CEO Section 302 Certification Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
31.2

 

CFO Section 302 Certification Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
32.1

 

CEO Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code as created by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
32.2

 

CFO Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code as created by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
101

 

The following financial information from Ingredion Incorporated’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2014 formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income;
(ii) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income; (iii) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets; (iv) the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Equity and Redeemable Equity; (v) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and (vi) the Notes to
the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

 
THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this “Agreement”), dated as of October 14, 2014, is by and among Ingredion Incorporated, a

Delaware corporation (“Parent”), Prospect Sub, Inc. a Washington corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”) and Penford
Corporation, a Washington corporation (the “Company”).

 
RECITALS

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to this Agreement, and upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, Merger Sub will be merged with and into

the Company with the Company as the Surviving Corporation (the “Merger”), in accordance with the Washington Business Corporation Act (the “WBCA”),
and each issued and outstanding share of common stock of the Company, par value $1.00 per share (the “Shares”), (other than Shares owned directly or
indirectly by Parent or Merger Sub and other than Dissenting Shares) will be converted into the right to receive $19.00 per Share in cash without interest and
subject to any withholding of Taxes required by applicable Law (the “Merger Consideration”);

 
WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Company (the “Company Board”) has unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement and

the transactions contemplated herein, including the Merger;
 
WHEREAS, the board of directors of Parent and Merger Sub have unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the

transactions contemplated herein, including the Merger;
 
WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, and as a condition to the willingness of Parent and Merger Sub to enter into this

Agreement, SEACOR Holdings Inc. is entering into a Voting and Support Agreement with Parent, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A hereto (the
“Voting and Support Agreement”)

 
WHEREAS, each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company desires to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in

connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and premises contained in this Agreement and for other good and valuable

consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties to this Agreement agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE I
 

THE MERGER
 

Section 1.1                                    The Merger.
 
(a)                                 Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the WBCA, at the Effective Time, the

Company and Merger Sub shall consummate the Merger pursuant to which (i) Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the
 

 
Company and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall thereupon cease, (ii) the Company shall be the surviving corporation in the Merger and
shall continue to be governed by the WBCA and (iii) the separate corporate existence of the Company with all its rights, privileges, immunities, powers and
franchises shall continue unaffected by the Merger.  The corporation surviving the Merger is sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “Surviving
Corporation.”  The Merger shall have the effects set forth in Section 23B.11.100 of the WBCA.

 
(b)                                 At the Effective Time, the articles of incorporation of the Company shall be amended in their entirety to read as set forth on Exhibit B

hereto and shall thereafter be the articles of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by
applicable Law.  At the Effective Time, the bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the bylaws of the Surviving
Corporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

 
Section 1.2                                    Effective Time.  Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall cause articles of merger (the “Articles of Merger”) to be duly executed

and filed in accordance with the WBCA on the Closing Date (or on such other date as Parent and the Company may agree) with the Secretary of State of the
State of Washington and shall make all other filings or recordings required under the WBCA.  This Agreement together with Exhibit B hereto, but excluding
the other exhibits and schedules to this Agreement shall be deemed the “plan of merger” under Chapter 11 of the WBCA and shall be filed with the Articles
of Merger pursuant to Section 23B.11.050(1) of the WBCA.  The Merger shall become effective at the time such Articles of Merger shall have been duly filed
with, and accepted by, the Secretary of State of the State of Washington or such later date and time as is agreed upon by the parties and specified in the
Articles of Merger, such date and time hereinafter referred to as the “Effective Time.”

 
Section 1.3                                    Closing.  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) will

take place at 10:00 a.m., Chicago time, on a date to be specified by the parties, such date to be no later than the fifth Business Day after satisfaction or waiver
of all of the conditions set forth in Article VI (other than conditions that may only be satisfied on the Closing Date, but subject to the satisfaction of such
conditions), by electronic exchange of documents and signatures, unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto.  The date on
which the Closing actually occurs is referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”

 
Section 1.4                                    Directors and Officers of the Surviving Corporation.  The directors and officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective

Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the directors and officers of the Surviving Corporation, in each case until their respective successors shall
have been duly elected or appointed and qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the Surviving Corporation’s articles
of incorporation and bylaws and applicable Laws.
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ARTICLE II

 
MERGER CONSIDERATION; CONVERSION OF STOCK

 
Section 2.1                                    Conversion of Company Stock.  At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, the

Company or Merger Sub or any holder of any securities thereof:
 
(a)                                 Capital Stock of Merger Sub.  Each share of common stock of Merger Sub, par value $0.01 per share, issued and outstanding immediately

prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable share of common stock of the Surviving
Corporation, par value $0.01 per share.

 
(b)                                 Cancellation of Shares.  Each outstanding or issued Share that is owned by Parent or Merger Sub, or by any Subsidiary of Parent or Merger

Sub, immediately prior to the Effective Time (collectively, the “Excluded Shares”), shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and no cash, stock
or other consideration shall be delivered or deliverable in exchange therefor.

 
(c)                                  Conversion of Shares.  Each Share issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Excluded Shares and

Dissenting Shares) shall automatically be converted into the right to receive cash in an amount, without interest, equal to the Merger Consideration.  As of the
Effective Time, all such Shares shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate
representing any such Shares (a “Certificate”) or book-entry Shares (“Book-Entry Shares”) shall cease to have any rights with respect to such Shares, except,
in all cases, the right to receive the Merger Consideration, without interest, upon surrender of such Certificate or Book-Entry Shares in accordance with
Section 2.2.  The right of any holder of any Share to receive the Merger Consideration shall be subject to and reduced by the amount of any withholding that
is required under applicable Tax Law.

 
(d)                                 Company Stock Awards.  The Company shall take all requisite action so that at the Effective Time, each outstanding option to purchase

Shares (“Company Stock Options”) under any stock option plan of the Company, including the Penford Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan, the Penford
Corporation 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended, and any other plan, agreement or arrangement of the Company (collectively, the “Company Equity
Plans”), shall be cancelled and, in exchange therefor, each holder of any such cancelled Company Stock Option shall be entitled to receive, in consideration of
the cancellation of such Company Stock Option and in settlement therefor, a payment in cash of an amount equal to the product of (i)  the total number of
Shares subject to such cancelled Company Stock Option and (ii) the excess, if any, of (A) the Merger Consideration over (B) the exercise price per Share
subject to such cancelled Company Stock Option, without interest (such amounts payable hereunder, the “Option Payments”); provided, however, that (i) any
such Company Stock Option with respect to which the exercise price per Share subject thereto is equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration shall be
cancelled in exchange for no consideration and (ii) such Option Payments may be reduced by the amount of any required Tax withholdings as provided by
this Agreement.  The Option Payments shall be paid out in accordance with Section 2.2.  From and
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after the Effective Time, no Company Stock Option shall be exercisable, and each Company Stock Option shall only entitle the holder thereof to the payment
provided for in this Section 2.1(d).

 
(e)                                  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if, from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time, the number of

outstanding Shares shall have been changed into a different number of Shares or a different class by reason of any reclassification, stock split (including a
reverse stock split), recapitalization, split-up, combination, exchange of shares, readjustment or other similar transaction, or a stock dividend or stock
distribution thereon shall be declared with a record date within said period, the Merger Consideration shall be appropriately adjusted to provide the holders of
Shares the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event; provided, however, that (i) in no event shall the aggregate amount
payable by Parent pursuant to Section 2.2 after giving effect to any such event exceed the amount that would have been payable pursuant to Section 2.2 had
such event not occurred and (ii) nothing in this Section 2.1 shall permit the Company to take any action with respect to its securities that is expressly
prohibited by the terms of this Agreement.

 
Section 2.2                                    Disposition of Certificates and Book-Entry Shares.
 
(a)                                 Paying Agent.  Prior to the dissemination of the Proxy Statement to the Company’s shareholders, Parent shall appoint a bank or trust

company to act as Paying Agent (the “Paying Agent”) for the payment of the Merger Consideration.  Parent will enter into a paying agent agreement with the
Paying Agent (the “Paying Agent Agreement”) on terms reasonably acceptable to Parent and the Company, prior to the Effective Time.  Immediately
following the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit with the Paying Agent for payment in accordance with Section 2.1 the aggregate Merger Consideration,
(such total deposited cash being hereinafter referred to as the “Payment Fund”).  The Paying Agent shall make, and Parent shall direct the Paying Agent to
make, payments of the Merger Consideration, out of the Payment Fund in accordance with this Agreement, the Articles of Merger and the Paying Agent
Agreement.  The Payment Fund shall not be used for any other purpose.

 
(b)                                 Stock Transfer Books.  At the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed and thereafter there shall be no

further registration of transfers of Shares on the records of the Company.  From and after the Effective Time, the holders of Certificates and Book-Entry
Shares representing ownership of Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall cease to have rights with respect to such Shares except as
otherwise provided for herein.  From and after the Effective Time, any Certificates or Book-Entry Shares presented to the Paying Agent, Parent or the
Surviving Corporation for any reason (other than Certificates or Book-Entry Shares representing Excluded Shares and Dissenting Shares) shall be canceled
and exchanged for the Merger Consideration as provided in this Article II.

 
(c)                                  Payment Procedures.  As soon as possible after the Effective Time (but in no event later than three (3) Business Days thereafter), Parent and

the Surviving Corporation shall cause the Paying Agent to mail to each holder of record of a Certificate or Certificates or Book-Entry Shares that immediately
prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding Shares (other than Excluded Shares and Dissenting Shares) (A) a letter of transmittal (which shall specify
that
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delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares shall pass to the Paying Agent, only upon delivery of the
Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares to the Paying Agent, and which letter shall be in such form and have such other
provisions as Parent may reasonably specify) and (B) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares to which the
holder thereof is entitled.  Upon surrender of any Certificate (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares for cancellation to the Paying Agent,
together with such letter of transmittal, duly executed and completed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other documents as may reasonably
be required by the Paying Agent, the holder of such Certificate or Book-Entry Shares shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the amount of Merger
Consideration payable in cash in respect of the Shares previously represented by such Certificate or Book-Entry Shares pursuant to the provisions of this
Article II, to be paid within three (3) Business Days (or such longer period required by the Paying Agent) of the Paying Agent’s receipt of such Certificate (or
affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares, the duly executed and completed letter of transmittal and any other documents as reasonably required
by the Paying Agent, and the Certificate or Book-Entry Shares so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled.  In the event of a transfer of ownership of Shares
that is not registered in the transfer records of the Company, payment may be made to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Certificate so
surrendered is registered, if such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer and the Person requesting such payment
shall pay any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of the payment to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the
satisfaction of Parent that such Tax has been paid or is not applicable.  No interest shall be paid or accrue on any cash payable pursuant to this Section 2.2.

 
(d)                                 Termination of Payment Fund.  Any portion of the Payment Fund which remains undistributed for nine months after the Effective Time

shall be delivered to Parent, and any holders of Shares prior to the Effective Time who have not theretofore complied with this Article II and the instructions
in the letter of transmittal shall thereafter look only to Parent and only as general creditors thereof for payment of the Merger Consideration (subject to
abandoned property, escheat or similar Laws).

 
(e)                                  No Liability.  None of Parent, Merger Sub, the Surviving Corporation, the Company or the Paying Agent, or any employee, officer,

director, agent, representative or Affiliate thereof, shall be liable to any Person in respect of the Merger Consideration from the Payment Fund delivered to a
public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law.

 
(f)                                   Investment of Payment Fund.  The Paying Agent shall invest any cash included in the Payment Fund as directed by the Surviving

Corporation.  Any net profit resulting from, or interest or income produced by, such investments shall be payable to Parent.  To the extent that there are losses
with respect to such investments, or the Payment Fund diminishes for other reasons below the level required to make prompt payments of the Merger
Consideration as contemplated hereby, Parent shall promptly replace or restore the portion of the Payment Fund lost through investments or other events so as
to ensure that the Payment Fund is, at all times, maintained at a level sufficient to make such payments.
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(g)                                  Lost Certificates.  If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person

claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, and, if required by Parent or the Paying Agent, the posting by such Person of a bond in such
reasonable and customary amount as Parent or the Paying Agent may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made with respect to such Certificate,
the Paying Agent will issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Merger Consideration payable in respect thereof, pursuant to this
Agreement.

 
(h)                                 Withholding Rights.  Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, as applicable, shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the

consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Person such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of
such payment under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or any provision of
state, local or foreign Tax Law.  To the extent that amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as
having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made. Such withheld amounts shall be properly remitted to the
appropriate Governmental Entity.

 
(i)                                     Appraisal Rights.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time

and held by a holder who is entitled to demand and properly demands appraisal of such shares (“Dissenting Shares”) pursuant to, and who complies in all
respects with, Chapter 23B.13 of the WBCA (the “Appraisal Rights”) shall not be converted into or be exchangeable for the right to receive the Merger
Consideration, unless and until such shareholder shall have failed to perfect, or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost such shareholder’s rights to appraisal
under the WBCA.  Such holders of Dissenting Shares shall be entitled to receive such consideration as is determined to be due with respect to such Dissenting
Shares in accordance with Chapter 23B.13 of the WBCA; provided, however, that if any such holder shall fail to perfect or otherwise shall waive, withdraw
or lose the right to appraisal under the Appraisal Rights, then the right of such holder to be paid such consideration as is determined to be due pursuant to
Chapter 23B.13 of the WBCA shall cease and such Dissenting Shares shall be deemed to have been converted as of the Effective Time into, and to have
become exchangeable solely for the right to receive, the Merger Consideration payable in respect of the Shares held by such shareholder, without interest and
reduced by the amount of any withholding that is required under applicable Tax Law.  The Company shall promptly deliver to Parent notice of any demands
received by the Company for appraisal of any Shares, and Parent shall have the right to participate in and direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect
to such demands.  The Company shall not without the prior written consent of Parent make any payment with respect to, or offer to make any such payment
or settle or offer to settle, any such demands.

 
ARTICLE III

 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

 
Except as (a) set forth in the corresponding section of the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to Parent prior to the execution and delivery of

this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Letter”) which shall be arranged in numbered and lettered sections corresponding to
 
6

 



the numbered and lettered sections contained in this Article III, (it being understood that the disclosure of any item in any section or subsection of the
Company Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to qualify other sections in this Article III to the extent (and only to the extent) that it is reasonably apparent on
the face of such disclosure that such disclosure also qualifies or applies to such other sections) or (b) disclosed in the Company SEC Documents (excluding
information incorporated therein) filed with, or furnished to, the SEC and publicly available on the SEC’s EDGAR website prior to the date of this Agreement
(excluding any risk factor disclosures contained in the “Risk Factors” section thereof, any disclosure of risks contained in any “forward-looking statements”
disclaimer or any other disclosure of risks or any other statements that are predictive or forward-looking in nature); provided, however, that any disclosures in
such Company SEC Documents shall be deemed to qualify a representation or warranty only if it is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure or
filing that such information is relevant to such representation or warranty; provided, further, that the disclosures in the Company SEC Documents shall not be
deemed to qualify any representations or warranties made in Section 3.2, and 3.3, the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

 
Section 3.1                                    Organization, Standing and Power.
 
(a)                                 Section 3.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list of the name and jurisdiction of organization of the

Company and each of its Subsidiaries (each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is referred to herein as an “Acquired Company” and, collectively, as the
“Acquired Companies”), the Company’s percentage ownership of any Acquired Company that is not a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company and the
jurisdictions in which each Acquired Company is qualified to conduct business.  Each Acquired Company (i) is an entity duly organized, validly existing and
in good standing (except to the extent the “good standing” concept is not applicable in any relevant jurisdiction) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its
organization, (ii) has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as
now being conducted and (iii) is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the
ownership, leasing or operation of its properties makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for any such failures that, individually or in the
aggregate, have not had, and could not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(b)                                 The Company has delivered or made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of (i) the certificate of incorporation, articles of

incorporation, bylaws and other charter or comparable organizational documents of each of the Acquired Companies, including all amendments thereto and
(ii) the minutes and other records of the meetings and other proceedings (including any actions taken by written consent or otherwise without a meeting) of
the equity holders of each of the Acquired Companies, the board of directors or board of managers of each of the Acquired Companies and all committees of
the board of directors or board of managers of each of the Acquired Companies, in each case since January 1, 2011, except for such portions of the minutes of
the boards of directors or committees of the boards of directors of the Acquired Companies that relate to the consideration by such directors of the
transactions contemplated hereby (including the Merger) and, in the case of minutes after July 1, 2014, other similar strategic transactions (the items
described in clause (i) above, collectively, the “Company Constituent Documents”).  The Company Constituent Documents are in full force
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and effect on the date hereof and, as applicable, have not been amended, modified, rescinded or withdrawn in any way.  The Company has no Subsidiaries,
except for the entities identified in Section 3.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter.  None of the Acquired Companies has any equity interest in, or any interest
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any equity interest in, any other entity, other than those set forth in Section 3.1 of the Company Disclosure
Letter.

 
Section 3.2                                    Capital Stock.
 
(a)                                 The authorized capital stock of each Acquired Company and the issued and outstanding capital stock (including shares subject to forfeiture

(the “Restricted Shares”)) of each Acquired Company as of the date hereof are set forth in Section 3.2(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter.  Each of the
outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity interests of each Acquired Company is, and each share of capital stock that may be issued pursuant to any
Company Stock Option or other equity award will be (when issued in accordance with the terms thereof), duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable and free of, and not in violation of, any preemptive rights.  All shares and other equity interests of the Subsidiaries of the Company are owned
by the Company or another wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company free and clear of all security interests, liens, claims, pledges, agreements, limitations in
voting rights, charges, mortgages or other encumbrances (collectively, “Liens”) of any nature whatsoever, except for restrictions on transfer under securities
Laws.

 
(b)                                 As of the date of this Agreement, there are no shares of preferred stock of the Company issued or outstanding.  Except as set forth in

Section 3.2 of the Company Disclosure Letter, as of the date of this Agreement, (A) there are not outstanding or authorized (1) any securities of any Acquired
Company convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of any Acquired Company or (2) any options, calls, warrants, pre-
emptive rights, anti-dilution rights or other rights, rights agreements, shareholder rights plans, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character
relating to the issued or unissued capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of any
Acquired Company, (B) there are no outstanding obligations of any Acquired Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any capital stock, voting
securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of any Acquired Company or to provide funds to, or make any
investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in, any Subsidiary, (C) no Acquired Company has issued, sold or granted phantom stock,
restricted stock units or other contractual rights the value of which is determined in whole or in part by the value of any capital stock of any Acquired
Company and there are no outstanding stock appreciation rights issued by any Acquired Company with respect to the capital stock of any Acquired Company
(“Company Stock Equivalents”), (D) there are no voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which any of the Acquired Companies or any of their
respective officers and directors is a party with respect to the voting of capital stock of any Acquired Company, and (E) there are no outstanding bonds,
debentures, notes or other indebtedness of any Acquired Company having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the
right to vote) on any matter on which the shareholders or other equity holders of the Acquired Companies may vote (“Company Voting Debt”).

 
(c)                                  As of the date hereof, 1,429,000 Shares are subject to issuance pursuant to outstanding Company Stock Options.  Sections 3.2(c)-(d) of the

Company Disclosure Letter set
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forth the following information with respect to each Company Stock Option outstanding as of the date of this Agreement:  (i) the Company Equity Plan
pursuant to which such Company Stock Option was granted; (ii) the name of the holder of such Company Stock Option; (iii) the number of Shares subject to
such Company Stock Option; (iv) the exercise price of such Company Stock Option; (v) the date on which such Company Stock Option was granted; and



(vi) the extent to which such Company Stock Option is vested and exercisable as of the date of this Agreement.  The exercise price of each Company Stock
Option is equal to or greater than the fair market value of the Shares subject to such Company Stock Option (determined as of the date such Company Stock
Option was granted).  Each Company Stock Option intended to qualify as an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of the Code, if any, so qualifies. 
Each Company Stock Option may, by its terms, be treated at the Effective Time as set forth in Section 2.1(d).

 
(d)                                 Sections 3.2(c)-(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter set forth the following information with respect to each Restricted Share outstanding

as of the date of this Agreement:  (i) the Company Equity Plan pursuant to which such Restricted Share was granted; (ii) the name of the holder of such
Restricted Share; (iii) the number of Shares subject to such Restricted Share; (iv) the date on which such Restricted Share was granted; and (v) the extent to
which such Restricted Share is vested as of the date of this Agreement.  Each outstanding Restricted Share may, by its terms, be fully vested upon the
consummation of the Merger.

 
(e)                                  The Company has made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all equity plans pursuant to which the Company has granted

Company Stock Options or Restricted Shares and the forms of all award agreements evidencing such grants.  There are no outstanding options or warrants to
purchase Shares, Restricted Shares or restricted stock units associated with Shares that were issued other than pursuant to any Company Equity Plan and set
forth in Sections 3.2(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter.

 
(f)                                   Section 3.2(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth, as of the date of this Agreement, the amount of indebtedness for borrowed

money of the Company and its Subsidiaries (including any guarantee of any indebtedness of borrowed money of any Person).
 
Section 3.3                                    Authority.
 
(a)                                 The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, the Voting Agreement, to perform its

obligations hereunder and thereunder and, subject, in the case of the Merger, to the approval of this Agreement by the holders of at least a majority of the
outstanding Shares entitled to vote thereon (the “Company Shareholder Approval”), to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.  The
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Voting Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company and no other corporate
proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to approve this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, subject, in the case
of the consummation of the Merger, to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval and to the filing of the Articles of Merger with the Secretary of State of
the State of Washington as required by the WBCA.  Each of this Agreement and the Voting Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company
and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the

 
9

 
counterparties thereto, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms (except
to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the enforcement of
creditors’ rights generally or by general principles of equity).

 
(b)                                 The Company Board, at a meeting duly called and held, has unanimously adopted resolutions (i) determining that this Agreement, the

Voting Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby are advisable and in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders (the “Company Determination”), (ii) approving and adopting this Agreement and the Voting Agreement and approving the Merger and the other
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, (iii) directing that the approval of this Agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the shareholders of the
Company and (iv) recommending that the Company’s shareholders approve this Agreement (the “Company Recommendation”), which resolutions have not
been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way except, if applicable, to the extent permitted by Section 5.3.  The approval referred to in clause (ii) of this
Section 3.3(b) constituted approval under the provisions of Chapter 23B.19 of the WBCA, to the extent applicable, as a result of which this Agreement and
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the Merger), are not and will not be subject to the restrictions on significant business transactions
under the provisions of Chapter 23B.19 of the WBCA.  The Company Shareholder Approval is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of capital
stock or other securities of the Company required under applicable Law, Contract or otherwise to approve the transactions contemplated hereby.  The
affirmative vote of the holders of outstanding Shares or of any other securities of the Company is not necessary to consummate any transaction contemplated
hereby other than the Merger.

 
Section 3.4                                    No Conflict; Consents and Approvals.
 
(a)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company, and the consummation by the Company of the transactions

contemplated hereby, do not and will not (i) conflict with or violate the Company Constituent Documents, (ii) assuming that all consents, approvals and
authorizations contemplated by clauses (i) through (iv) of subsection (b) below have been obtained and all filings described in such clauses have been made,
conflict with or violate any statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, order, judgment or decree (collectively, “Law”) or any settlement, injunction or award of
any Governmental Entity, in each case that is applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any of their respective assets or properties are
bound, (iii) result in any breach or violation of, or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default), or
result in a right of required payment or loss of a benefit under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation, amendment or acceleration of, any
Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets or
properties are bound, (iv) result in any breach or violation of any Company Plan (including any award agreement thereunder), or (v) result in the creation of
any Lien upon any of the material properties or assets of the Acquired Companies (or of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries following the Effective Time),
except, in the case of clauses (ii), (iii) (other than with respect to Contracts of the nature described in Section 3.15(a)(v) or (vii)) and (iv) of this paragraph, for
any such
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conflict, breach, violation, default, loss, right or other occurrence that individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(b)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company, and the consummation by the Company of the transactions

contemplated hereby, do not and will not require any consent, approval, order, license, authorization or permit of, action by, filing, registration or declaration



with or notification to, any governmental or regulatory (including stock exchange) authority, agency, court, commission or other governmental body (each, a
“Governmental Entity”), except for (i) such filings as required under applicable requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”) (and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) and under state securities and “blue sky” Laws, (ii) the filings required under the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the “HSR Act”) and any filings required under the applicable requirements of antitrust
or other competition Laws of jurisdictions other than the United States or investment Laws relating to foreign ownership (“Foreign Antitrust Laws”),
(iii) such filings as are necessary to comply with the applicable requirements of the NASDAQ Global Market, (iv) the filing with the Secretary of State of the
State of Washington of the Articles of Merger as required by the WBCA and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states or
jurisdictions in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is qualified to do business and (v) those other consents, approvals, orders, licenses,
authorizations or permits of, actions by, filings, registrations or declarations with or notifications that if not made or obtained, as applicable, would not be
material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

 
Section 3.5                                    SEC Reports; Financial Statements.
 
(a)                                 The Company has filed or furnished all forms, reports, statements, schedules, certifications and other documents (including all exhibits,

amendments and supplements thereto) required to be filed or furnished by it with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) since
January 1, 2011 (all such forms, reports, statements, schedules, certificates and other documents, collectively, the “Company SEC Documents”).  As of their
respective dates, or, if amended, as of the date of the last such amendment filed prior to the date hereof, each of the Company SEC Documents complied as to
form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), the Exchange Act and the
Sarbanes — Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”), and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as the case may be, each as in effect on the date so
filed, and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or incorporated by reference therein or
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, unless such information
contained in any Company SEC Document has been corrected by a later-filed Company SEC Document that was filed prior to the date hereof.  No Subsidiary
of the Company is subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act or is or has been otherwise required to file any form, report, statement,
schedule, certificate or other document with the SEC, any foreign Governmental Entity that performs a similar function to that of the SEC or any securities
exchange or quotation system.
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(b)

 
(i)                                     The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company (including any related notes thereto) that are included in the

Company SEC Documents (A) comply as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto,
(B) have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) applied on a consistent basis
throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and (C) fairly present in all material respects the consolidated
financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries at the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations, cash flows and
shareholders’ equity for the periods indicated.  The unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company (including any related notes thereto)
that are included in the Company SEC Documents (x) comply as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC
applicable thereto, (y) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be
indicated in the notes thereto or may be permitted by the SEC under the Exchange Act) and (z) fairly present in all material respects the consolidated
financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations, cash flows
and shareholders’ equity for the periods indicated.

 
(ii)                                  The unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company (including any related notes thereto) delivered to Parent prior to

the date hereof for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014 (the “2014 Year-End Draft Financial Statements”) (x) comply as to form in all material
respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto except for the absence of notes, which notes, if included, would not
contain any material inconsistency, not otherwise disclosed in the 2014 Year-End Draft Financial Statements or the Company Disclosure Letter, with
the notes to the financial statements contained in the Company SEC Documents that were publicly available prior to the date hereof, (y) have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or
may be permitted by the SEC under the Exchange Act) and (z) fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the
Company and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity
for the periods indicated (subject to normal period-end adjustments).

 
(c)                                  The Company (i) maintains “disclosure controls and procedures” and “internal control over financial reporting” (as such terms are defined

in paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act) as required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, and (ii) has disclosed,
based on its most recent evaluation, to the Company’s outside auditors and the audit committee of the Company Board (A) any significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in the design or operation of such internal control over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any material
respect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  The Company’s “disclosure controls
and procedures” are reasonably designed to ensure that all material information (both financial and non-financial) required to be disclosed by the Company in
the reports that it files or furnishes
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under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to
make the certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company required under the Exchange Act and SOX with respect to
such reports.  The Company’s management has completed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting in
compliance with the requirements of Section 404 of SOX, and, based on the most recent such assessment concluded that such controls were effective.  The
Company’s system of “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) is reasonably sufficient in all material
respects to provide reasonable assurance (1) that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
GAAP, (2) that receipts and expenditures are being made in accordance with the authorization of management and the directors of the Company, and
(3) regarding prevention or timely detection of the unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that would materially affect the



Company’s financial statements.  No significant deficiency, material weakness or fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees was identified in management’s assessment of internal controls as of January 1, 2011 (nor has any such deficiency, weakness or fraud been
identified after that date).

 
(d)                                 Neither the Company nor any of its officers has received notice from any Governmental Entity questioning or challenging the accuracy,

completeness, form or manner of filing or submission of the certifications of the then-acting Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company furnished by the Company with the SEC and all certifications required under Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 under the Exchange Act or Section 302 or 906
of SOX.

 
(e)                                  Since January 1, 2011, (i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer,

employee, auditor, accountant or representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has received notice of any material complaint, allegation, assertion
or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries or their respective internal accounting controls, including any material complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries has engaged in questionable accounting or auditing practices and (ii) no attorney representing the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether or
not employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has reported evidence of a material violation of securities Laws, breach of fiduciary duty or similar
violation by the Company or any of its officers, directors, employees or agents to the Company Board or any committee thereof or to any director or officer of
the Company.

 
(f)                                   The Company has made available to Parent true and complete copies of all written comment letters from the staff of the SEC received by

the Company since January 1, 2011 relating to the Company SEC Documents and all written responses of the Company thereto other than with respect to
requests for confidential treatment.  There are no outstanding or unresolved comments in comment letters received by the Company from the SEC staff with
respect to any Company SEC Documents and, to the knowledge of the Company, none of the Company SEC Documents (other than confidential treatment
requests) is the subject of ongoing SEC review.  There are no internal investigations, or to the knowledge of the Company, SEC
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inquiries or investigations or other governmental inquiries or investigations pending or threatened, in each case regarding any accounting practices of the
Company.

 
Section 3.6                                    No Undisclosed Liabilities.  Except as set forth in Section 3.6 of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of

its Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise, except for liabilities and obligations
(a) reflected or reserved against in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as at August 31, 2014 (or the notes thereto) included in the 2014 Year-End Draft
Financial Statements, (b) incurred in the ordinary course of business since August 31, 2014 consistent in all material respects with past practice and consistent
in nature and amount with those set forth on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as at August 31, 2014 or (c) incurred pursuant to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or as permitted under Section 5.1(b)(xii), and in the case of (a) through (c) above, that, individually or in the aggregate, are
not material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

 
Section 3.7                                    Proxy Statement; Company Information.  The information relating to the Company and its Subsidiaries to be contained in the

Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of applicable Law, and will not, on the date the Proxy Statement is first
mailed to holders of Shares or at the time of the Company Shareholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of any material fact, or omit to state any
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein not false or misleading at the time and in light of the
circumstances under which such statement is made, except that no representation is made by the Company with respect to the information supplied by Parent
or Merger Sub for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.

 
Section 3.8                                    Absence of Certain Changes or Events.  Since August 31, 2014, (a) the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been

conducted in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (b) there has not been (i) any event, development, change or state of circumstances
that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) any material damage to any material
property owned or leased by the Company of any of its Subsidiaries and (c) there has not been any action taken or not taken that, if occurred after the date
hereof, would have resulted in a breach of Section 5.1(b)(iv), (xii), (xiii) or (xiv).

 
Section 3.9                                    Litigation.
 
(a)                                 Except as set forth in Section 3.9 of the Company Disclosure Letter, (i) there is no suit, claim, action, proceeding, arbitration, mediation,

conciliation, consent decree, audit, or investigation (each, an “Action”) pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries, that is material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or is seeking damages in excess of $500,000 and (ii) neither the
Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any of their respective officers, directors, representatives or properties is or are subject to any material judgment,
order, injunction, ruling or decree of any Governmental Entity.

 
(b)                                 There is no Action pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would,

individually or in the aggregate,
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reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impair or delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

 
Section 3.10                             Compliance with Laws.
 
(a)                                 Except as set forth in Section 3.10 of the Company Disclosure Letter, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in, and at all times since

January 1, 2011, have been in, compliance with all Laws applicable to them or by which any of their respective properties are bound, except for such
violations or noncompliance, individually or in the aggregate, that would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 



(b)                                 Except with respect to Environmental Laws (which are the subject of Section 3.13), the Company and its Subsidiaries have in effect all
permits, licenses, grants, easements, clearances, variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, exemptions, registrations, authorizations, franchises, orders and
approvals of all Governmental Entities (collectively, “Permits”) necessary for them to own, lease, operate or use their properties and to carry on their
businesses as now conducted, except for any Permits the absence of which, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be
expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.  All Permits of the Company and its Subsidiaries are in full force and effect, except where the failure to be in full
force and effect, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(c)                                  Except as set forth in Section 3.10 of the Company Disclosure Letter, since January 1, 2011, neither the Company nor any of its

Subsidiaries has received any written notice or other written communication (or, to the knowledge of the Company, any oral communication) from any
Governmental Entity regarding any actual or threatened revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination, deficiency, fine, penalty, sanction,
dispute or modification with respect to any material Permit.

 
(d)                                 To the knowledge of the Company, the Company and its Subsidiaries are not currently, nor since January 1, 2011 have they been, under

investigation by the Department of Justice (the “DOJ”), the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, any state Attorney General or any other Governmental
Entities for promotional or other fraud and abuse or related issues.  No Person has filed or, to the knowledge of the Company, at any time since January 1,
2011, has threatened to file against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries a claim or action relating to any of the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ respective
assets or businesses under any foreign, federal or state whistleblower statute, including under the False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.).

 
(e)                                  To the knowledge of the Company, the Company and its Subsidiaries have at all times since January 1, 2011 complied in a timely manner in

all material respects with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1 et seq.) and any other Laws regarding the use of funds for political
activity or commercial bribery.  To the knowledge of the Company, since January 1, 2011, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (including any of
its officers, directors, employees or agents acting on its behalf) have (i) used any corporate funds for unlawful contributions, gifts, entertainment or other
unlawful expenses related to political activity; or (ii) made any direct or indirect unlawful payments to government officials or others from corporate funds or
the establishment or maintenance of any unlawful or unrecorded funds.
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Section 3.11                             Benefit Plans.
 
(a)                                 Section 3.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of each Company Plan.  For purposes of this

Agreement, “Company Plan” means any “employee benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended (“ERISA”), including any “multiemployer plan” (within the meaning of ERISA Section 3(37)), and any stock purchase, stock option,
severance, change-in-control, material fringe benefit, bonus, incentive, deferred compensation, employment or other material employee benefit plan,
agreement, program, payroll practice, policy or other arrangement, whether or not subject to ERISA (including any funding mechanism therefor now in effect
or required in the future as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise), whether or not written and whether or not terminated,
under which any current or former employee, director or independent contractor of the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates has any present or future right
to benefits because of service with the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates or the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates has any current or future
potential liability to or on behalf of any current or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of the Company or any of its ERISA Affiliates
(including an obligation to make contributions).  With respect to each Company Plan, the Company has made available a current, accurate and complete copy
thereof and, to the extent applicable:  (i) all plan documents, including all amendments, (ii) all related trust agreements or other funding instruments,
insurance contracts and administrative contracts, (iii) the most recent determination or opinion letter issued by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”)
with respect to such plan, (iv) the current summary plan description and other equivalent written communications by the Company or any of its ERISA
Affiliates to their respective employees concerning the extent of the benefits provided under each Company Plan, (v) audited financial reports and Forms
5500 (including all schedules thereto), as filed, for the three most recent plan years, (vi) all correspondence with any Governmental Entity relating to any
Action or potential Action and (vii) any discrimination tests performed during the last three plan years.

 
(b)                                 With respect to the Company Plans:
 

(i)                                     except as set forth in Section 3.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter, each Company Plan has been established and
administered in all material respects in accordance with its terms and in material compliance with all applicable Laws, including ERISA and the
Code, including all filing and disclosure requirements, and no material non-exempt prohibited transaction, as described in Section 406 of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Code, or any accumulated funding deficiency, as defined in Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, has occurred with
respect to any Company Plan, and all contributions required to be made under the terms of any Company Plan and any applicable Laws have been
made;

 
(ii)                                  each Company Plan intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination, advisory

and/or opinion letter, as applicable, from the IRS that it is so qualified and nothing has occurred and to the knowledge of the Company, no fact or
circumstance exists that would reasonably be expected to cause any such Company Plan to not be so qualified where such occurrence, fact or
circumstance, individually or in the aggregate, has resulted in or could reasonably
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be expected to result in a material penalty under the IRS Closing Agreement Program if discovered during an IRS audit or investigation;

 
(iii)                               there is no Action (including any investigation, audit or other administrative proceeding) by the Department of Labor, the Pension

Benefit Guaranty Corporation, the IRS or any other Governmental Entity or by any plan participant or beneficiary pending, or to the knowledge of
the Company, threatened, relating to any of the Company Plans, any fiduciaries thereof with respect to their duties to any of the Company Plans, or
to the assets of any of the trusts under any of the Company Plans (other than routine claims for benefits), nor to the knowledge of the Company are
there facts or circumstances that exist that would reasonably be expected to give rise to any such Actions;

 
(iv)                              each Company Plan which is a nonqualified deferred compensation plan within the meaning of, and subject to, Section 409A of

the Code has been at all times administered, operated and maintained in all respects in accordance with its terms and according to the requirements



of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, except for any failure that, individually or in the aggregate, has not and
would not result in a material liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; no Person is entitled to receive any additional payment from the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a result of the imposition of a Tax under Section 409A of the Code, and no Person is entitled to receive any
additional payment as a result of the imposition of a Tax under Section 4999 of the Code; and

 
(v)                                 each Company Plan subject to the Laws of any jurisdiction outside of the United States has been maintained and operated in all

material respects in accordance with all applicable Laws.  Except as set forth in Section 3.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter,  the execution of
this Agreement and performance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not (either alone or when combined with the occurrence of
any additional or subsequent events) result in the requirement, by any trustee or Governmental Entity or representative, that the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries make any additional material contributions to any such Company Plans other than those contributions required to be made in the
normal course.

 
(c)                                  Except as set forth in Section 3.11(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter, no Company Plan is subject to Title IV of ERISA, and neither the

Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has any liability of any kind whatsoever, whether direct, indirect, contingent or otherwise, under Section 412 of the
Code or Title IV of ERISA.  Neither the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, nor any of its current or former ERISA Affiliates has, at any time during the last
ten years, contributed to or been obligated to contribute to any “multiemployer plan,” as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA, or any employee benefit plan,
program or arrangement that is subject to Title IV of ERISA, Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, a multiple employer plan subject to
Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA, or a multiple employer welfare benefit arrangement (as defined in Section 3(40(A) of ERISA).  None of the Company or any
ERISA Affiliate has terminated an employee benefit plan for which the Company would reasonably be expected to have any existing or continuing liability
relating thereto.
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(d)                                 Except as set forth in section 3.11(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has any

obligations for post-employment health or life benefits for any of their respective retired, former or current employees, except as required by Law or through
the end of a de minimis period after termination of employment.  Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has any obligation to provide welfare
benefits to any Person who is not a current or former director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or a beneficiary thereof.

 
(e)                                  Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has any material liability of any kind whatsoever, whether known or unknown, direct,

indirect, contingent or otherwise, (i) on account of any violation of the health care requirements of Part 6 or 7 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or
Section 4980B or 4980D of the Code, or (ii) under Section 502(i) or 502(l) of ERISA.

 
(f)                                   Except as specifically provided herein or set forth in Section 3.11(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter, the Merger and the other

transactions contemplated hereby will not, either alone or when combined with any other event, (i) entitle any current or former employee, director, or
independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to severance pay, or (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or trigger any payment or
funding (whether through a grantor trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits under,  or increase the amount allocable or payable or trigger any other
material obligation pursuant to, any Company Plan.

 
(g)                                  Except as set forth in Section 3.11(g) of the Company Disclosure Letter, there is no contract, plan or arrangement covering any current or

former employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any other Person that, individually or in the aggregate, could, as a result of the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby (either alone or in connection with any other event), give rise to the payment of any amount that will not be
deductible by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under Section 280G of the Code and no Person is entitled to receive any additional payment as a result
of the imposition of any excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code.

 
Section 3.12                             Labor Matters
 
(a)                                 Except as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or is

bound by, any collective bargaining agreement or similar agreement with any labor union or labor organization applicable to employees of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries.  Except as disclosed on Section 3.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is obligated
under any agreement to recognize or bargain with any labor organization, labor representative, or union.  Except as set forth in Section 3.12(a) of the
Company Disclosure Letter, since January 1, 2011, there has been no labor dispute (other than immaterial grievances that have been resolved), strike,
picketing, work stoppage or lockout, organizational activity, or, to the knowledge of the Company, threat thereof, by or with respect to any employees of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.  Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or as set
forth in Section 3.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, since January 1, 2011, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has complied with all applicable
legal, administrative and regulatory requirements relating to wages, hours, immigration, discrimination in employment and collective bargaining as well as
the Workers

 
18

 
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act and comparable state, local and federal Laws, whether domestic or international (“WARN”), and all other state,
local and federal laws pertaining to employment and labor, and are not liable for any arrears of wages or any taxes or penalties for failure to comply with any
of the foregoing.  Further, there are no Actions or charges, grievances, complaints or investigations pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened
by or on behalf of any employee or group of employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including any complaints alleging violations of state or
federal Laws, whether domestic or international, including wage and hour, immigration, discrimination in employment, safety, Office of Federal Contract
Compliance, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Department of Labor, Fair Labor Standards, and federal WARN or its related state or
international laws or regulations, except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.  Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with applicable Laws concerning each such
current and former employee’s employment eligibility verification, including with respect to Forms I-9.  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a
federal, state or local government contractor or subcontractor, nor otherwise required to comply with any affirmative action obligations or other requirements.

 
(b)                                 Section 3.12(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of all independent contractor and consultants of the

Company and its Subsidiaries that provide personal services (and which, for the avoidance of doubt shall exclude, without limitation, any suppliers) that the



Company or any of its Subsidiaries has paid more than $250,000 to in any calendar year within the last three years, and with respect to each the total amount
of such payments, a brief description of the services provided and the duration of such contractor’ or consultant’s engagement.  All independent contractors
and consultants of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been properly classified as such.

 
Section 3.13                             Environmental Matters.
 
(a)                                 Except, individually or in the aggregate, as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect:  (i) the

Company and each of its Subsidiaries are, and at all times since January 1, 2009 have been, in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, and
possess and are in compliance with all Environmental Permits (as defined in Section 3.13(b)(ii) hereof)  necessary for their operations; (ii) there has not been
any Release (as defined in Section 3.13(b)(iv) hereof) of Materials of Environmental Concern (as defined in Section 3.13(b)(iii) hereof) at, on, in or under any
property owned or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except under circumstances that are not reasonably likely to result in liability of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any applicable Environmental Laws; (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written
notification alleging that it is liable for, or has received a request for information pursuant to Environmental Laws regarding its potential liability in
connection with, any Release or threatened Release of Materials of Environmental Concern at any location; and (iv) neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries has received any written claim or complaint, or is currently subject to any proceeding, relating to noncompliance with Environmental Laws or
any other liabilities pursuant to Environmental Laws, and to the knowledge of the Company, no such matter has been threatened in writing.
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(b)                                 For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings assigned below:
 

(i)                                     “Environmental Laws” means all foreign, federal, state or local statutes, directives, regulations, ordinances, codes or decrees
protecting the quality of the ambient air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or indoor air, or regulating or imposing standards of care in respect of
Materials of Environmental Concern, in effect as of the date of this Agreement and any common law related to such;

 
(ii)                                  “Environmental Permits” means all permits, licenses, registrations, approvals and other authorizations required under applicable

Environmental Laws;
 
(iii)                               “Materials of Environmental Concern” means any pollutant, contaminant, hazardous, acutely hazardous, or toxic substance or

waste, dangerous good, radioactive material, petroleum (including crude oil, any fraction thereof and refined petroleum products), asbestos and
asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls, or any other chemical, material or substance, whether man-made or naturally occurring,
which is defined in, regulated under or for which liability is imposed under any Law or common law related to pollution or protection of human
health or the environment; and

 
(iv)                              “Release” shall mean any spill, emission, leaking, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration

into the indoor or outdoor environment, including the movement of Materials of Environmental Concern through or in the air, soil, surface water or
groundwater.

 
Section 3.14                             Taxes.
 
(a)                                 All Tax Returns required to be filed by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been timely filed in accordance with all

applicable Laws (taking into account extensions after giving effect to extensions properly obtained), all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete and
disclose all Taxes required to be paid by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries for the periods covered thereby, and all Taxes shown to be due on such Tax
Returns have been timely paid.

 
(b)                                 Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is delinquent in the payment of any Taxes (whether or not required to be shown on any Tax

Return).
 
(c)                                  No Liens for Taxes exist with respect to any assets or properties of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than liens for Taxes not yet

due and payable.
 
(d)                                 The federal income and material state income Tax Returns referred to in Section 3.14(a) have been examined by the appropriate

Governmental Entity or the period for assessment of the Taxes in respect of which such Tax Returns were required to be filed has expired.
 
(e)                                  All Taxes that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are required by Law to withhold or collect for payment have been duly withheld and

collected, and have been paid to the appropriate Governmental Entity.
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(f)                                   Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liability for Taxes of any other Person pursuant to Treasury Regulation

Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law), pursuant to any Tax allocation, Tax sharing or Tax indemnity agreement, as a
transferee or successor or otherwise (other than pursuant to customary commercial contracts entered into with third parties in the ordinary course of business
not primarily related to Taxes).

 
(g)                                  There is no Action pending or threatened in writing against or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any

Taxes, and all deficiencies asserted or assessments made as a result of any such Action have been paid in full or otherwise finally resolved.
 
(h)                                 Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has waived in writing or extended in writing, or agreed to waive or extend, any statute of

limitations in respect of Taxes, which currently are in effect.
 
(i)                                     No written claim has ever been made by a Governmental Entity in a jurisdiction where the Company or any Subsidiary has never paid

Taxes or filed Tax Returns asserting that the Company or such Subsidiary, respectively, is or may be subject to Taxes assessed by such jurisdiction.



 
(j)                                    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any amount in taxable income, or exclude any item of deduction

or loss in computing taxable income, for any period (or portion thereof) after the Closing Date as a result of any change in method of accounting for any
period beginning before the Closing Date, “closing agreement” as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state,
local or foreign Tax Law) entered into on or prior to the Closing Date, deferred intercompany gain or excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations
under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) as a result of any transaction occurring on or
before the Closing Date, installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date, prepaid amount received on or prior to the
Closing Date or deferred under Section 108(i) of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law).

 
(k)                                 Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been a member of any group of corporations filing Tax Returns on a consolidated,

combined, unitary or similar basis other than each such group of which the Company is the common parent.
 
(l)                                     Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has participated in any “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 1.6011-

4(b)(2) and, with respect to each transaction in which the Company or any Subsidiary has participated that is a “reportable transaction” within the meaning of
Treasury Regulation § 1.6011-4(b)(1), such participation has been properly disclosed on IRS Form 8886 (Reportable Transaction Disclosure Statement) and
on any corresponding form required under state, local or other law;

 
(m)                             There are no outstanding powers of attorney in respect of Taxes granted by the Company or any Subsidiary.
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(n)                                 Since January 1, 2001, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been a “distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation,”

or has otherwise participated, in a transaction intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code.
 
(o)                                 As used in this Agreement:
 

(i)                                     “Tax” (and, with correlative meaning, “Taxes”) means:  (i) any federal, state, local or foreign net income, gross income, gross
receipts, windfall profit, severance, property, production, sales, use, license, excise, franchise, employment, payroll, withholding on amounts paid to
or by any Person, alternative or add-on minimum, ad valorem, value-added, transfer, stamp, or environmental tax (including taxes under Code
Section 59A), escheat payments or any other tax, custom, duty, governmental fee or other like assessment or charge in the nature of taxes of any kind
whatsoever, together with any interest or penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any Governmental Entity and (ii) any liability for
the payment of amounts determined by reference to amounts described in clause (i) as a result of being or having been a member of any group of
corporations that files, will file, or has filed Tax Returns on a combined, consolidated or unitary basis, as a result of any obligation under any
agreement or arrangement, as a result of being a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise (other than pursuant to customary commercial
contracts entered into with third parties in the ordinary course of business not primarily related to Taxes).

 
(ii)                                  “Tax Return” means any return, report or similar statement required to be filed with respect to any Tax (including any attached

schedules), including any information return, claim for refund, amended return or declaration of estimated Tax.
 

Section 3.15                             Contracts.
 
(a)                                 Other than any Contract filed as an exhibit to the Company SEC Documents, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or

bound by any Contract that is of a nature required to be filed as an exhibit to a report or filing under the Securities Act or Exchange Act.  Section 3.15(a) of
the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of each of the following Contracts to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a
party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their assets or businesses are bound (and any amendments, supplements and modifications
thereto):

 
(i)                                     any Contract that would be required to be filed by the Company as a “material contract” pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation

S-K under the Securities Act;
 
(ii)                                  any Contract that is a non-competition Contract or other Contract that (A) purports to limit in any material respect either the

Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ ability to compete in any type of business in which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries of the Company (or, after
the Effective Time, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries) or any of their respective Affiliates, may engage or the manner or geographic area in which any
of them may so engage in any business, (B) would require the disposition of any material assets or line of business of the Company or any of its
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Subsidiaries (or, after the Effective Time, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries) or any of their respective Affiliates as a result of the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (C) is a Contract that grants “most favored nation” or similar status that, following the Effective Time,
would apply to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (D) contains any “exclusivity” or similar
provision or otherwise prohibits or limits, in any material respect, the right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or, after the Effective Time,
would prohibit or limit, in any material respect, the right of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries) to make, sell, market, advertise or distribute any
products or services or use, transfer, license, distribute or enforce any of their respective Intellectual Property rights; (E) obligates the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries to purchase or obtain a minimum or specified amount of any product or service from any Person; or (F) that involves the
obligation or potential obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to make any “earn-out” or similar payments to any Person;

 
(iii)                               any Contract under which any Acquired Company has created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed (or may create, incur, assume or

guarantee) indebtedness for borrowed money in excess of $2,500,000 (except for such indebtedness between the Acquired Companies or guaranties
by any Acquired Company of indebtedness of any Acquired Company);

 
(iv)                              any Contract relating to any material joint venture or partnership;
 



(v)                                 any Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries made or received payments of more than $5,000,000 during the
fiscal year ended August 31, 2014 or reasonably expects to make or receive payments of more than $5,000,000 for the fiscal year ending August 31,
2015 and, in either case, is not terminable upon notice of 30 days or less without penalty;

 
(vi)                              any Contract that restricts or prohibits the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (or after the Effective Time would restrict

or prohibit Parent or any of its Subsidiaries) from hiring or soliciting any individual to perform employment or consulting services;
 
(vii)                           any Contract relating to any material dealer, reseller, remarketer, distribution, joint marketing, affiliate or development, delivery,

manufacturing or similar agreement under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries made payments of more than $5,000,000 during the fiscal
year ended August 31, 2014;

 
(viii)                        any Contract that contains a standstill or similar restriction enforceable against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
 
(ix)                              any Contract for the lease of real property by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that by its terms calls for aggregate annual

rent payments of more than $1,000,000 by the Company and its Subsidiaries;
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(x)                                 any employment Contract that requires aggregate payments with respect to annual salary and target bonus in excess of $1,000,000

on an annual basis and is not terminable without cause by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by notice of not more than 30 days and without any
termination payment or penalty, or any severance Contract;

 
(xi)                              any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any labor organization, union or association;
 
(xii)                           any Contract that grants any rights of first refusal, rights of first negotiation or other similar rights to any person with respect to

any material asset of the Company and its Subsidiaries;
 
(xiii)                        any Contract that relates to any material interest rate, derivatives or hedging transaction (including with respect to commodities);
 
(xiv)                       any Contract that relates to the acquisition or disposition of any business, capital stock or assets (whether by merger, sale of stock,

sale of assets or otherwise), other than a Contract to purchase goods or services in the ordinary course of business, under which the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries has any outstanding contingent or other obligations that are material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

 
(xv)                          any Contract in which the Company purports to indemnify or hold harmless any director, officer or employee of the Company or

any of its Subsidiaries (other than the Company Constituent Documents or organizational documents of the Company’s Subsidiaries); and
 
(xvi)                       any Contract to which any holder of capital stock or other securities of the Company is a party or that is required to be disclosed by

the Company pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act.
 

Each such Contract as described in this Section 3.15(a) or Section 3.18(c) or listed in Section 3.15(a) or Section 3.18(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter, a
“Material Contract”.
 

(b)                                 True and complete copies of all Material Contracts of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been made available to Parent in accordance
with all applicable Laws.  For purposes of this Agreement, “Contract” means any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, arrangement, undertaking,
purchase order, bid, agreement, lease or other instrument or obligation (whether written or oral), together with all amendments thereto.  Each Material
Contract is valid and binding on the Company and each of its Subsidiaries party thereto and, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto, and is
in full force and effect, except in each case for such failures to be valid and binding or to be in full force and effect that, individually or in the aggregate, have
not had, and could not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.  Except, individually or in the aggregate, as has not had, and could not
reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect, and except as set forth in Section 3.15(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter, there is no default
under any Contract by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries party thereto or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto, and no event has
occurred that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute a
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default thereunder by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries party thereto or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto.

 
Section 3.16                             Insurance.  Section 3.16 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and correct list of all material insurance policies

owned or held by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries or pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a named insured or otherwise a
beneficiary.  All such insurance policies are in full force and effect, all premiums due and payable thereon have been paid (other than retroactive or
retrospective premium adjustments that are not yet, but may be, required to be paid with respect to any period ending before the Closing Date).  Except
individually or in the aggregate, as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect, (a) since January 1, 2011, each of
the Acquired Companies has been continuously insured with licensed insurers and (b) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in breach or default,
and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken any action or failed to take any action which, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would
constitute such a breach or default, or permit termination or modification of, any of such insurance policies.  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries
has received any notice of cancellation or termination with respect to any material insurance policy of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.  Section 3.16 of
the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and correct list of the annual premium for the Company’s current fiscal year for the Company’s D&O
Insurance.

 
Section 3.17                             Properties.
 
(a)                                 Section 3.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all real property owned by the Company or

any of its Subsidiaries (the “Owned Real Property”).  Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material



Adverse Effect, the Company or one of its Subsidiaries has valid fee simple title to the Owned Real Property.  Except as set forth in Section 3.17(a) of the
Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns, holds, has granted or is obligated under any option, right of first offer,
right of first refusal or other contractual right to sell or dispose of any of the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or interest therein that is individually
or in the aggregate material to the Company and the Company Subsidiaries taken as a whole

 
(b)                                 Except individually or in the aggregate, as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect, the

Company or one or more of its Subsidiaries is the lessee of all leasehold estates reflected in the balance sheet of the Company included in the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2013 or acquired after August 31, 2013 (except for leases that have expired by their terms
since the date thereof or been assigned, terminated or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice) and is in
possession of the properties purported to be leased thereunder, and to the knowledge of the Company, each such lease is in full force and effect, is enforceable
in accordance with its terms except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or
similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general principles of equity, and is valid without default (including any event
which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default)

 
25

 
thereunder by the lessee or to the knowledge of Company, the lessor.  No notices of default under any such lease have been received by any Acquired
Company that have not been resolved.

 
(c)                                  Section 3.17(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all leases, subleases, modifications,

amendments, waivers, side letters, guaranties and other agreements relating thereto, under which any Acquired Company uses or occupies or has the right to
use or occupy, now or in the future, any material real property (the “Real Property Leases,” each real property leased under a Real Property Lease, together
with the Owned Real Property, referred to as a “Real Property”).   The Company has, prior to the date hereof, made available to Parent true and correct copies
of the Real Property Leases.  No termination event or condition or uncured default of a material nature on the part of any Acquired Company or, to the
knowledge of the Company, the landlord thereunder, exists under any Real Property Lease.  Each Acquired Company has a valid leasehold interest in each
parcel of material real property leased by it and each Acquired Company has valid fee simple title to the Owned Real Property owned by it, in each case free
and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens.  The Owned Real Property, leasehold estates and Real Property Leases are sufficient for the purposes for which
they are presently being used in the businesses of the Acquired Companies as now conducted.

 
(d)                                 Except as disclosed in Section 3.17(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter, the improvements owned or leased by the Acquired Company and

located on any parcel of Real Property in all material respects are in good working order and repair, except for ordinary wear and tear.  All such
improvements and the occupancy, use and operation of such improvements may lawfully be used under all applicable zoning, building, fire and safety Laws
(either as of right, by special permit or variance, or as a grandfathered use), except as would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate,
materially and adversely affect the use or operation of the Real Property, and none of the Company or its Subsidiaries has received written notice of
noncompliance with any such Laws.

 
Section 3.18                             Intellectual Property; Software.
 
(a)                                 Section 3.18(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a list of all issued Patents and pending applications for Patents, registered

Trademarks and pending applications to register Trademarks, Domain Names, and registered Copyrights and applications to register Copyrights, in each case
included in the Owned Intellectual Property.

 
(b)                                 Section 3.18(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a list (showing in each case any owner, licensor or licensee) of all material

Software necessary to the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted that is owned by or licensed to the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries, except Software licensed to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is commercially available and subject to “shrink-wrap,”
“click-through” or similar license agreements or is embedded Software in hardware or equipment of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

 
(c)                                  Section 3.18(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a list and description of all agreements, contracts, licenses, sublicenses,

assignments and indemnities (the “Intellectual Property Agreements”) that relate to: (i) any Patents, Trademarks or Copyrights required to be
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identified on Section 3.18(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter; (ii) any Software required to be identified on Section 3.18(b) of the Company Disclosure
Letter; and (iii) other material Intellectual Property necessary to the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted and
owned by a third party to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries holds a license.

 
(d)                                 Except as expressly stated in Section 3.18(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter: (i) the Company or one of its Subsidiaries owns all right,

title and interest in the Owned Intellectual Property, free and clear of any security interests, liens, pledges, charges, mortgages or other encumbrances (“IP
Liens”); (ii) the Owned Intellectual Property is not subject to any license (royalty bearing or royalty free) and is not subject to any other arrangement
requiring any payment to any Person or the obligation to grant rights to any Person in exchange; (iii) the Intellectual Property Agreements are free and clear
of any IP Liens; (iv) the Owned Intellectual Property and the rights in Intellectual Property under the Intellectual Property Agreements are all those material
Intellectual Property rights necessary to the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted; and (v) the Company or one
of its Subsidiaries has the sole and exclusive right to bring actions for infringement or unauthorized use of the Owned Intellectual Property.

 
(e)                                  Except as expressly stated in Section 3.18(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter: (i) the Owned Intellectual Property and the Intellectual

Property Agreements are valid and in force, and (ii) the validity of and title to the Owned Intellectual Property, and the validity and enforceability of the
Intellectual Property Agreements, in each case: (A) have not been questioned in any prior Action; (B) are not being questioned in any pending Action; and
(C) to the knowledge of the Company are not the subject(s) of any threatened or proposed Action.

 
(f)                                   Except as expressly stated in Section 3.18(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter: (i)  the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, as

presently conducted, does not infringe upon or misappropriate and to the knowledge of the Company, has not been alleged to infringe upon or misappropriate
any Intellectual Property rights of any third party; (ii) the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not result in the loss or impairment, in



the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted, of any of the Owned Intellectual Property or any rights under the
Intellectual Property Agreements; and (iii) to the knowledge of the Company, there are no third parties using any of the Owned Intellectual Property that is
material to such business as presently conducted.

 
(g)                                  Except as expressly stated in Section 3.18(g) of the Company Disclosure Letter: (i) Company or one of its Subsidiaries owns, or possess

valid license rights to all Software that is material to and sufficient for the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently
conducted; and (ii)  there are no infringement Actions pending or, to the knowledge of the Company threatened, against the Company or any Subsidiary with
respect to any Software owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

 
(h)                                 Except as disclosed in Section 3.18(h) of the Company Disclosure Letter, all employees, agents, consultants or contractors who have

contributed to or participated in the creation or development on behalf of Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any patentable, copyrightable or trade secret
material included in the Owned Intellectual Property that is

 
27

 
necessary to the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as presently conducted either: (i) is a party to a “work-for-hire” agreement under
which Company or any of its Subsidiaries is deemed to be the original owner or author of all property rights therein; or (ii) has executed an assignment or an
agreement to assign in favor of Company or any of its Subsidiaries of all right, title and interest in such material.

 
(i)                                     The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken reasonable steps and precautions to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of their

confidential Know-How included in the Owned Intellectual Property that is necessary to the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as
presently conducted and the value of which is dependent upon the maintenance of the confidentiality thereof.  To the knowledge of Company there has been
no unauthorized disclosure or use of any such Know-How of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

 
Section 3.19                             Distributors and Suppliers.  Section 3.19 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, complete and correct list (to be

identified on an anonymous basis) of the ten (10) largest distributors (each a “Material Distributor”) for and the ten (10) largest suppliers (each a “Material
Supplier”) to the Company and the Company Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2014 showing the total dollar number of sales to, or purchases
from, as the case may be, each Material Distributor or Material Supplier during such period.  Since January 1, 2014 through the date of this Agreement, (i) no
Material Distributor or Material Supplier has, to the knowledge of the Company, notified the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in writing that it intends to
terminate, cancel or materially curtail its business relationship with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) neither the Company nor any of its
Subsidiaries is currently engaged in a dispute that is material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, with a Material Distributor or Material
Supplier.

 
Section 3.20                             Brokers.  Except for Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to

any broker’s, finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 
Section 3.21                             Takeover Statutes.  The Company Board has adopted such resolutions as are necessary, as of the date hereof, to render any

Takeover Law inapplicable to this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 
For purposes of this Agreement, “Takeover Laws” shall mean any “Moratorium,” “Control Share Acquisition,” “Fair Price,” or other similar state

anti-takeover Laws and regulations.
 
Section 3.22                             Fairness Opinion.  The Company Board has received the opinion of Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., financial advisor to the

Company, to the effect that, as of the date of such opinion and subject to the assumptions, limitations and qualifications reflected therein, the Merger
Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the Company’s shareholders.  As of the date of this Agreement, such opinion has not been rescinded,
repudiated or, except as set forth therein, qualified.
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Section 3.23                             Affiliate Transactions.  Other than rights to receive Merger Consideration and the consideration provided for under

Section 2.1(d) with respect to Company Stock Options and Restricted Shares, no material relationship, direct or indirect, exists between the Company or any
Subsidiary of the Company, on the one hand, and any officer, director or other Affiliate (other than any Subsidiary of the Company) of the Company, on the
other hand, that is required to be described under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act in the Company SEC Documents, which is not
described therein.

 
Section 3.24                             Warranties.  The Company has made available to Parent all currently published warranties with respect to the Company’s and its

Subsidiaries’ businesses, products or services other than warranties provided in the ordinary course of business and which are customary for the types of
products offered for sale by the Company.  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has made any express warranties for which the warranty period
has not yet expired as of October 10, 2014 in connection with the sale or license of products or services or the performance of services other than warranties
which are materially consistent with the warranties set forth in the sales and license Contracts and forms made available in the data room as of October 10,
2014.  Further, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has made any express warranties for which the warranty period has not yet expired as of
October 10, 2014 in connection with the fitness of the Company’s products or services for use in pharmaceutical applications or in food for infants or invalids,
or express warranties made in connection with products sold for pets, except as set forth in Section 3.24 of the Company Disclosure Letter.

 
Section 3.25                             Hedging.  With respect to the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ outstanding hedging, derivative and commodity transactions, the

Company and its Subsidiaries have engaged in hedging, derivative and commodity transactions in a manner which complies in all material respects with the
relevant hedging policy set forth on Section 3.25 of the Company Disclosure Letter.

 
ARTICLE IV

 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF

PARENT AND MERGER SUB



 
Except as set forth in the disclosure letter delivered by Parent to the Company prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement (the “Parent

Disclosure Letter”), Parent and Merger Sub jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Company as follows:
 
Section 4.1                                    Organization, Standing and Power.
 
(a)                                 Each of Parent and Merger Sub (i) is a corporation duly formed, validly existing and in good standing (except to the extent the “good

standing” concept is not applicable in any relevant jurisdiction) under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, (ii) has all requisite corporate power
and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now being conducted and (iii) is duly qualified or licensed to
do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing or operation of its properties makes such
qualification or licensing necessary, except for any such
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failures that individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to, prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby.

 
(b)                                 Parent has previously furnished or made available to the Company a true, correct and complete copy of the certificate of incorporation and

bylaws of each of Parent and Merger Sub, including all amendments thereto, and each as so delivered is in full force and effect.  Neither Parent nor Merger
Sub is in violation of any provision of its certificate of incorporation or bylaws.

 
Section 4.2                                    Authority.  Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement,

to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  The execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly
authorized by the boards of directors of Parent and Merger Sub, and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to
approve this Agreement, or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, subject, in the case of the consummation of the Merger, to the filing of the
Articles of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Washington as required by the WBCA.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered
by Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of
Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its respective terms (except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general
principles of equity).

 
Section 4.3                                    No Conflict; Consents and Approvals.
 
(a)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub, and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of

the transactions contemplated hereby, do not and will not (i) conflict with or violate the certificate of incorporation or articles of incorporation, as applicable,
or bylaws of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) assuming that all consents, approvals and authorizations contemplated by clauses (i) through (iii) of
subsection (b) below have been obtained and all filings described in such clauses have been made, conflict with or violate any Law or any settlement,
injunction or award of any Governmental Entity, in each case applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or by which any of their respective properties are bound or
(iii) result in any breach or violation of, or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default), or result in a
right of guaranteed payment or loss of a benefit under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation, amendment or acceleration of, any Contract to
which Parent or Merger Sub is a party or by which Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective properties are bound, or (iv) result in the creation of any
Lien upon any of the properties or assets of Parent or Merger Sub (including the Acquired Companies following the Effective Time) except, in the case of
clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) of this paragraph, for any such conflict, breach, violation, default, loss, right or other occurrence that individually or in the aggregate,
has not had, and could not reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

 
30

 
(b)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub, and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of

the transactions contemplated hereby, do not and will not require any consent, approval, order, license, authorization or permit of, action by, filing,
registration or declaration with or notification to, any Governmental Entity, except for (i) such filings as required under applicable requirements of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and under state securities and “blue sky” Laws, (ii) the filings required under the HSR
Act and any filings required under Foreign Antitrust Laws, and (iii) such filings as may be required under the WBCA in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

 
Section 4.4                                    Information in the Proxy Statement.  None of the information supplied by Parent or Merger Sub expressly for inclusion or

incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement (or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto) will, at the date mailed to shareholders of the Company
or at the time of the Company Shareholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

 
Section 4.5                                    Ownership and Operations of Merger Sub.  Merger Sub has been formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions

contemplated hereby and prior to the Effective Time will have engaged in no other business activities and will have incurred no liabilities or obligations other
than as contemplated herein.  The authorized capital stock of Merger Sub consists of 1,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, all of which
are validly issued and outstanding.  All of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Merger Sub is, and at the Effective Time will be, owned directly or
indirectly by Parent.

 
Section 4.6                                    Financing.  Parent has, as of the date of this Agreement immediately available funds (or access to funds under its existing credit

agreements), and will have, as of the Effective Time, immediately available funds, sufficient to consummate the Merger and the other transactions
contemplated hereby on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein and pay when due the aggregate Merger Consideration and its fees and
expenses related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

 



Section 4.7                                    Vote/Approval Required.  No vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of capital stock of Parent is necessary to approve
this Agreement or the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby.  The vote or consent of Parent as the sole shareholder of Merger Sub (which
shall have occurred prior to the Effective Time) is the only vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of capital stock of Merger Sub necessary to
approve this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby.

 
Section 4.8                                    Acquiring Person.  None of Parent, Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates is or ever has been, with respect to the Company, an

“acquiring person,” or an “affiliate” or “associate” of an “acquiring person” (as such terms are defined in Chapter 23B.19 of the WBCA).  Merger Sub will
not be, with respect to the Company after the Merger, an “affiliate or associate” of an “acquiring person” (as such terms are defined in Chapter 23B.19 of the
WBCA) and have not taken any action that would cause any Takeover Laws to apply to the transactions contemplated hereby.
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Section 4.9                                    Brokers.  Except for J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any

broker’s, finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 

ARTICLE V
 

COVENANTS
 

Section 5.1                                    Conduct of Business of the Company.
 
(a)                                 The Company covenants and agrees that, during the period from the date hereof until the Effective Time, except (i) as specifically required

by this Agreement, (ii) as required by applicable Law or (iii) if Parent otherwise provides its prior consent in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, use reasonable best efforts to conduct its business in the
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, to preserve substantially intact its business organization, (w) preserve its assets and properties in
good repair and condition (subject to normal wear and tear), (x) preserve its current relationships with customers, suppliers, distributors and other Persons
with which it has material business relations, (y) maintain insurance policies or replacement or revised policies in such amounts and against such risks and
losses as are currently in effect and (z) maintain sufficient cash and working capital to continue to conduct its business in the ordinary course.

 
(b)                                 Without limiting the generality of Section 5.1(a), between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, except (i) as specifically

required by this Agreement, (ii) as required by applicable Law or (iii) if Parent provides its prior consent in writing (which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to:

 
(i)                                     amend or permit the adoption of any amendment to the charter or bylaws (or equivalent organizational documents) of any

Acquired Company;
 
(ii)                                  adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other

reorganization;
 
(iii)                               issue, grant, deliver, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any (A) shares of capital stock, except the issuance of Shares pursuant to

the exercise of Company Stock Options outstanding as of the date hereof and in accordance with the terms of such instruments, (B) other voting
securities of, or equity interests in, the Company or any capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, any Subsidiary of the
Company, (C) securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for any shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or equity interests in,
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (D) right to acquire any shares of capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (E) Company Stock Equivalents or (F) Company Voting Debt;
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(iv)                              declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, with respect to any

of its capital stock or other equity interests (except for any dividend or distribution by a Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to other
wholly owned Subsidiaries of the Company);

 
(v)                                 otherwise manage its working capital in a manner other than in the ordinary course of business;
 
(vi)                              enter into any interest rate, derivatives or hedging transaction (including with respect to commodities) that does not comply with

the Company’s “Risk Management Policy” in effect as of the date of this Agreement or is not in accordance with the accounting rules set forth in
FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 815;

 
(vii)                           adjust, split, combine, redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock or other equity interests (except in

connection with the cashless exercises or similar transactions (including withholding of Taxes) pursuant to the exercise of Company Stock Options
outstanding as of the date hereof), or reclassify, combine, split, subdivide or otherwise amend the terms of its capital stock or other equity interests,
or enter into any agreement with respect to the voting of any of the Company’s capital stock or other securities or the capital stock or other securities
of a Subsidiary of the Company;

 
(viii)                        authorize, or make any new commitment with respect to, any capital expenditure, other than capital expenditures that do not

exceed $2,000,000 in the aggregate with respect to projects for which total project costs to completion do not exceed $2,000,000 in the aggregate;
provided, however, that this limitation shall not apply to capital expenditures that are set forth on Section 5.1(b)(viii) of the Company Disclosure
Letter;

 
(ix)                              (A) acquire (whether by merger, consolidation or acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise) any corporation, partnership or other

business organization or division thereof or any assets, other than (1) purchases of inventory and other assets in the ordinary course of business, or
(2) pursuant to Contracts in effect on the date hereof, or (B) sell, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer, subject to any Lien or otherwise



dispose of (whether by merger, consolidation or acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise) any corporation, partnership or other business
organization or division thereof or any assets, other than (1) sales or dispositions of inventory and other assets in the ordinary course of business,
(2) grants of Permitted Liens or (3) pursuant to Contracts in effect on the date hereof;

 
(x)                                 enter into any material joint venture or partnership;
 
(xi)                              engage in any transactions, agreements, arrangements or understandings with any Affiliate or other Person that would be required

to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act;
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(xii)                           (A) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person (other than a Subsidiary of the

Company), (B) incur any additional indebtedness (except for additional indebtedness pursuant to the Company Credit Agreement which does not
result in the aggregate indebtedness of the Acquired Companies being in excess of $15.0 million more than the aggregate indebtedness of the
Acquired Companies as of the date hereof, provided that no more than $8.0 million of such $15.0 million shall be used to fund working capital in the
ordinary course of business) or issue any debt securities or (C) assume, guarantee, endorse or otherwise become liable or responsible for the
indebtedness or other obligations of another Person (other than a guaranty by the Company on behalf of its Subsidiaries);

 
(xiii)                        except to the extent required by applicable Law (including Section 409A of the Code), or the terms of any Company Plan, and

except as contemplated by Section 5.7, (A) increase the compensation or benefits of any current or former director, employee or consultant of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than in connection with annual or promotion raises to employees and consultants in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice and, in the case of annual bonus awards, to the extent such awards are accrued for in the 2014 Year-End Draft
Financial Statements, (B) establish, amend, terminate or adopt any compensation or benefit plan including any pension, retirement, profit-sharing,
bonus or other employee benefit or welfare benefit plan or employment or severance agreement; provided, that the Company shall be entitled to
adopt and implement an annual bonus plan for a term not to exceed one (1) year with targets, metrics and payouts consistent with the existing 2014
annual bonus plan of the Company, (C) accelerate the vesting of, or the lapsing of restrictions with respect to, any stock options or other stock-based
compensation, (D) fail to make any required contributions under any Company Plan, (E) hire or terminate the employment, or enter into or modify
the contractual relationship of, any officer or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (F) hire or terminate the employment, other than
hirings or terminations in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, or enter into or modify the contractual relationship of, any
employee (other than an officer) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than and as expressly required to comply with the express
provisions of customer Contracts;

 
(xiv)                       (A) implement or adopt any change in its methods of accounting, except as may be appropriate to conform to changes in statutory

or regulatory accounting rules or GAAP or regulatory requirements with respect thereto, (B) change its fiscal year, or (C) make any material change
in internal accounting controls or disclosure controls and procedures;

 
(xv)                          (A) fail to file any Tax Return when due (after giving effect to any properly obtained extensions of time in which to make such

filings), (B) prepare or file any Tax Return inconsistent with past practice or, on any such Tax Return, take any position, make, change or rescind any
election, or adopt any method that is inconsistent with positions taken, elections made or methods used in preparing or filing similar Tax Returns in
prior periods, or (C) settle or compromise any material Tax liability or refund, file any amended Tax Return involving a material amount of Taxes, or
waive or extend the statute of limitations in respect of Taxes;
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(xvi)                       (A) pay, discharge, waive, settle, compromise, release or satisfy any claim, liability or obligation that is not an Action, other than

payment, discharge, waiver, settlement, release or satisfaction in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and other than the
satisfaction or performance by the Company and its Subsidiaries of their respective obligations in accordance with the applicable terms thereof under
Contracts in effect on the date hereof and Contracts permitted under this Section 5.1 to be entered into on or following the date hereof or (B) other
than in connection with the ordinary course settlement of disputes with customers, accelerate, discount, factor, reduce, sell (for less than its face
value or otherwise), transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of, in full or in part, any accounts receivable owed to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, with or without recourse, including any rights or claims associated therewith;

 
(xvii)                    commence or settle, compromise or otherwise resolve any Action (A) outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past

practice, (B) as would result in any liability in excess of (1) the amount reserved therefor or reflected on the balance sheets included in the 2014
Year-End Draft Financial Statements, (2) the amount of coverage provided by any insurance policy or (3) in excess of $250,000 in the aggregate with
all other Actions settled, compromised or otherwise resolved by the Company and its Subsidiaries after the date hereof or (C) to the extent such
litigation or other legal proceeding (1) involves any injunction or non-monetary relief on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (2) does not
provide for a complete release of the Company and its Subsidiaries of all claims or (3) provides for any admission of liability by the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries;

 
(xviii)                 other than non-exclusive licenses to end users, distributors and resellers in the ordinary course of business consistent with past

practice, enter into any agreement, arrangement or commitment to grant a license of Intellectual Property;
 
(xix)                       (i) enter into, amend, renew, modify or consent to the termination of (other than a termination in accordance with its terms) any

Material Contract or Contract that would be a Material Contract if in effect on the date of this Agreement or (ii) amend, waive, modify, fail to
enforce or consent to the termination of (other than a termination in accordance with its terms) its material rights thereunder; provided, however, that
this clause (xix) shall not prohibit the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from (A) renewing any Material Contract that by its terms as of the date
hereof is scheduled to expire by the date nine months after the date hereof (so long as such renewal does not add any new terms of the type described
in Section 3.15(a)(ii) and does not amend any existing term as of the date hereof of the type described in Section 3.15(a)(ii)) or (B) entering into any
Contract that would be a Material Contract solely pursuant to Section 3.15(a)(v) if it were in effect as of the date hereof, in each case so long as
(1) any such Contract that is a customer Contract does not have a term of greater than two years, (2) any such Contract that is a supply Contract does
not have a term of greater than three years, and (3) any such Contract that is a Contract for the sale of starch, does not, together with all other



Contracts of the Company and its Subsidiaries for the sale of starch, result in more than 35% of the starch sales volume of the Company and its
Subsidiaries being made pursuant to Contracts expiring later than January 1, 2016;
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(xx)                          waive, extend, renew or enter into any non-compete, most favored nation, exclusivity, non-solicitation, or similar Contract that

would restrict or limit, in any material respect, the freedom of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in conducting their operations or business, as
the case may be, or any of their respective subsidiaries or Affiliates (whether before or after the Closing);

 
(xxi)                       effectuate a “plant closing” or “mass layoff,” as those terms are defined in WARN;
 
(xxii)                    create any Subsidiary;
 
(xxiii)                 terminate or transfer the employment of any Company or Subsidiary officer or other employee whose annualized base salary rate

is greater the $200,000, other than for cause;
 
(xxiv)                enter into any new line of business; or
 
(xxv)                   agree to, authorize, or enter into any Contract obligating it to take any of the actions described in Sections 5.1(b)(i) through 5.1(b)

(xxiv).
 

(c)                                  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent or Merger Sub, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Company’s or
its Subsidiaries’ operations prior to the Effective Time.  Prior to the Effective Time, each of the Company and Parent shall exercise, subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, complete control over its and its Subsidiaries’ respective operations.

 
Section 5.2                                    Obligations of Merger Sub and Surviving Corporation.  Parent agrees to take all action necessary to cause Merger Sub or the

Surviving Corporation, as applicable, to perform all of its respective agreements, covenants and obligations under this Agreement.
 
Section 5.3                                    Acquisition Proposals.
 
(a)                                 Following the execution hereof, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and its and their respective Representatives to

(i) immediately cease and cause to be terminated all existing discussions or negotiations with any Person conducted prior to the date hereof with respect to
any Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, and (ii) request the prompt
return or destruction of all confidential information previously furnished by it or on its behalf.  The Company shall not terminate, waive, amend, release or
modify in any respect any provision of any confidentiality agreement to which any Acquired Company or any of its Affiliates or Representatives is a party
with respect to any Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, and shall
enforce, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, the provisions of any such agreement, including obtaining injunctions to prevent any breaches of
such agreements and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions thereof; provided, however, that the Company shall be entitled to waive any standstill
provision included in any such confidentiality agreement or any standstill provision contained in any standstill agreement to which any Acquired Company or
any of its Affiliates or
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Representatives is a party with respect to any Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an
Acquisition Proposal.

 
(b)                                 From the date hereof until the Effective Time or, if earlier, the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article VII, the Company

shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, and shall cause its and their respective directors, officers, employees, investment bankers, financial advisors,
attorneys, accountants or other advisors, agents and representatives (collectively, “Representatives”) not to, directly or indirectly, (i) entertain, solicit, initiate,
or knowingly encourage or knowingly induce or knowingly facilitate the making, submission or announcement of any inquiries or the making of any proposal
or offer constituting or that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, (ii) furnish any nonpublic information regarding any of the
Acquired Companies to any Person (other than Parent and Parent’s or the Company’s Representatives acting in their capacity as such) in connection with or in
response to an Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, (iii) engage in
discussions or negotiations with any Person with respect to any Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to
lead to an Acquisition Proposal (other than to state that they currently are not permitted to have discussions), (iv) approve, endorse or recommend any
Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, (v) make or authorize any public
statement, recommendation or solicitation in support of any Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead
to an Acquisition Proposal or (vi) enter into any letter of intent or agreement in principle or any Contract providing for, relating to or in connection with any
Acquisition Proposal or any proposal, inquiry or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal (other than an Acceptable
Confidentiality Agreement in accordance with Section 5.3(c)).

 
(c)                                  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.3, if at any time prior to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, (i) the

Company receives, after the date of this Agreement, an unsolicited bona fide written Acquisition Proposal, (ii) such Acquisition Proposal did not result from a
breach of this Section 5.3 (unless such breach was immaterial), (iii) the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel and
its financial advisor) that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes or would reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Proposal and (iv) the Company Board
determines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel) that the failure to participate in discussions or negotiations or furnish such information,
enter into any agreement related to any Acquisition Proposal or accept any offer or proposal relating to an Acquisition Proposal would reasonably be expected
to constitute or result in a breach of its fiduciary duties to the shareholders of the Company under applicable Law, then, prior to obtaining the Company
Shareholder Approval, the Company may (x) furnish and make available information with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries to the Person making
such Acquisition Proposal pursuant to an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement; provided, that any non-public information provided or made available to any
Person given such access shall have been previously provided or made available to Parent or shall be provided or made available to Parent prior to or
concurrently with the time it is provided or made available to such Person, and (y) participate in discussions or negotiations with the Person making such



Acquisition Proposal regarding such Acquisition Proposal.  The Company shall promptly (and in any event within twenty-four (24) hours) advise Parent in
writing of the receipt
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of any Acquisition Proposal or any inquiry, proposal or offer that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal (including the identity of
the Person making or submitting such Acquisition Proposal or inquiry, proposal or offer, and the terms and conditions thereof) that is made or submitted by
any Person prior to the Effective Time.  The Company shall keep Parent informed, on a reasonably current basis, of the status of, and any financial or other
changes in, any such Acquisition Proposal, inquiry, proposal or offer, including providing Parent copies of any material correspondence related thereto and
proposed documents to effect such Acquisition Proposal.

 
(d)                                 Neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall (i) (A) directly or indirectly, fail to make, withhold, withdraw or qualify (or

modify in a manner adverse to Parent) the Company Recommendation, the Company Determination or the approval of this Agreement or the Merger or
resolve, agree or propose to take any such actions (each such action set forth in this Section 5.3(d)(i)(A) being referred to herein as an “Adverse
Recommendation Change”) or (B) adopt, approve, recommend, endorse or otherwise declare advisable any Acquisition Proposal or resolve, agree or publicly
propose to take any such actions, (ii) cause or permit the Company to enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle,
acquisition agreement, merger agreement, option agreement, joint venture agreement, partnership agreement or other agreement related to an Acquisition
Proposal (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement in accordance with Section 5.3(c)) (each, an “Alternative Acquisition Agreement”), (iii) take
any action to make the provisions of any Takeover Laws or any restrictive provision of any applicable anti-takeover provision in the articles of incorporation
or bylaws of the Company, inapplicable to any transactions contemplated by an Acquisition Proposal (including approving any transaction under
Chapter 23B.19 of the WBCA), or (iv) resolve, agree or propose to take any such actions.

 
(e)                                  Notwithstanding Section 5.3(d), at any time prior to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, if the Company Board determines in

good faith (after consultation with outside counsel) that the failure to do so would reasonably be expected to constitute or result in a breach of its fiduciary
duties to the shareholders of the Company under applicable Law, then, prior to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, the Company Board may solely
in response to a Superior Proposal received on or after the date hereof that has not been withdrawn or abandoned and that did not result from a breach of this
Agreement, make an Adverse Recommendation Change in order to cause the Company to terminate this Agreement pursuant to such Section 7.1(d)
(ii) (including payment of the Termination Fee, as defined in Section 7.3(c)(iii) hereof) and concurrently enter into a binding definitive agreement to effect
such Superior Proposal, provided that the Company and its Subsidiaries have (i) complied with Section 5.3(a)-(e) with respect to such Superior Proposal
(except with respect to immaterial breaches of the obligations to deliver notices or other writings pursuant to Sections 5.3(c)), (ii) complied in all material
respects with Sections 5.3(a)-(e) with respect to any other Superior Proposal and (iii) complied with Section 5.3(f) with respect to any Superior Proposal. 
Neither the Company Board nor any committee thereof shall make an Adverse Recommendation Change or terminate this Agreement pursuant to
Section 7.1(d)(ii) or cause the Company to enter into a binding definitive agreement to effect such Superior Proposal unless the Company has first complied
with the provisions of Section 5.3(f) and, after so complying, the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel) that the
failure to do so would reasonably be expected to constitute or result in a breach of its fiduciary duties to the
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shareholders of the Company under applicable Law and such Acquisition Proposal continues to constitute a Superior Proposal.

 
(f)                                   The Company Board shall not take any action set forth in Section 5.3(e) unless the Company has first (i) provided written notice to Parent

(a “Notice of Recommendation Change”) advising Parent that the Company Board has determined that an Acquisition Proposal is a Superior Proposal, that
the Company Board intends to make such Adverse Recommendation Change and to terminate this Agreement, specifying the financial and other material
terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal, identifying the Person making such Superior Proposal and providing copies of any agreements intended to
effect such Superior Proposal, and the Company Board, (ii) negotiated in good faith with Parent, and caused the Company and its Representatives to negotiate
in good faith with Parent, during the five (5) Business Day period following Parent’s receipt of the Notice of Recommendation Change (the “Notice Period”),
to enable Parent to make a binding counteroffer to amend the terms of this Agreement so that such Acquisition Proposal no longer constitutes a Superior
Proposal, and (iii) after complying with clauses (i) and (ii), reaffirmed such determination in light of Parent’s binding counteroffer, if any; provided, however,
that if during the Notice Period any revisions are made to an Acquisition Proposal and such revisions are material (it being understood and agreed that any
change to consideration with respect to such proposal is material), the Company shall deliver a new Notice of Recommendation Change to Parent and shall
comply with the requirements of this Section 5.3(f) with respect to such new Notice of Recommendation Change, except that the Notice Period shall be
reduced to a two (2) Business Day period for purposes of this Section 5.3(f).

 
(g)                                  Nothing contained in this Section 5.3 shall prohibit the Company Board from taking and disclosing a position contemplated by

Item 1012(a) of Regulation M-A, Rule 14e-2(a) under the Exchange Act or Rule 14d-9 under the Exchange Act or making any required disclosure to the
shareholders of the Company if, in the good faith judgment of the Company Board, failure to so disclose would constitute a violation of applicable Law;
provided, however, that any such disclosure (other than a “stop, look and listen” communication or similar communication of the type contemplated by
Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act) shall be deemed to be an Adverse Recommendation Change unless the Company Board expressly reaffirms the
Company Recommendation and rejects any Acquisition Proposal within three (3) Business Days after such stop, look and listen communication.

 
(h)                                 For purposes of this Agreement:
 

(i)                                     “Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement” means a customary confidentiality agreement containing terms substantially similar to,
and (taken as a whole) no less favorable to the Company than, those set forth in the Confidentiality Agreement; provided, that such confidentiality
agreement shall not prohibit compliance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any of the provisions of this Agreement.

 
(ii)                                  “Acquisition Proposal” means any proposal or offer (whether or not in writing) made by any Person or Persons other than Parent,

Merger Sub or any Subsidiaries thereof, with respect to any (A) merger, consolidation, share exchange, other business combination or similar
transaction involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (B) acquisition by such Person or Persons (including by way of merger,
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consolidation, share exchange, other business combination, partnership, joint venture, sale of capital stock of or other equity interests in a Subsidiary
of the Company or otherwise) of any business or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries representing 10% or more of the total consolidated
revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (C) acquisition, directly or indirectly, by such Person or
Persons (or the shareholders of any Person) or group of securities (or options, rights or warrants to purchase, or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for, such securities) representing 10% or more of the voting power of the Company, or (D) any combination of the foregoing (in each
case, other than the Merger).

 
(iii)                               “Superior Proposal” means any binding, bona fide written offer made by a third party or group pursuant to which such third party

or group would acquire, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the Shares or substantially all of the assets of Company and its Subsidiaries, taken
as a whole, (A) on terms which the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel and a financial advisor of
nationally recognized reputation) to be superior from a financial point of view to the shareholders of the Company to the Merger, taking into account
all relevant circumstances, including, without limitation, all the terms and conditions of such proposal and this Agreement (including the
Termination Fee, any changes proposed by Parent to the terms of this Agreement and the potential time delays and other risks to consummation
associated with such offer) and (B) that is reasonably likely to be completed, taking into account all financial, regulatory, legal and other aspects of
such offer and (C) for which any necessary financing is fully committed (including with respect to any indebtedness that could be required to be
repaid in connection with the transactions contemplated by such offer).

 
(i)                                     Any action taken or not taken by any Representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that if taken or not taken by the Company

would constitute a breach of this Section 5.3 shall be deemed a breach of this Agreement by the Company.
 
Section 5.4                                    Preparation of the Proxy Statement; Shareholders Meeting.
 
(a)                                 As soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and, no later than November 14, 2014 or such other

later date as mutually agreed upon by the Company and Parent, file with the SEC a proxy statement in preliminary form relating to the Company
Shareholders Meeting (the “Proxy Statement”).  The Company will cause the Proxy Statement to comply as to form in all material respects with the
applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to shareholders of the Company
as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within five (5) Business Days) after (i) if the Company does not receive comments from the SEC with
respect to the preliminary Proxy Statement and does not reasonably believe that it will receive comments, the eleventh calendar day immediately following
the date of filing of the preliminary Proxy Statement with the SEC and (ii) if the Company does receive comments from the SEC with respect to the
preliminary Proxy Statement, clearance by the SEC with respect to such comments.  Parent and Merger Sub shall cooperate with the Company in connection
with the preparation of the Proxy Statement, including furnishing to the Company any and all information regarding Parent and Merger Sub and their
respective Affiliates as may be required
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to be disclosed therein as promptly as possible after the date hereof.  The parties shall notify each other promptly of the receipt of any comments from the
SEC or its staff and of any request by the SEC or its staff for amendments or supplements to the Proxy Statement or for additional information and shall
supply each other with copies of all correspondence between such or any of its representatives, on the one hand, and the SEC or its staff, on the other hand,
with respect to the Proxy Statement or the Merger.

 
(b)                                 The Company and Parent each agrees, as to itself and its respective Subsidiaries, that none of the information supplied or to be supplied by

it or its Subsidiaries for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement or any amendment or supplement thereto will, at the date of mailing to
shareholders and at the time of the meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held in connection with the Merger, contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading.  If, at any time prior to receipt of the Company Shareholder Approval, any event occurs with respect to the
Company, any of its Subsidiaries, Parent or Merger Sub, or any change occurs with respect to other information to be included in the Proxy Statement, which
is required to be described in an amendment of, or a supplement to, the Proxy Statement, the Company or Parent, as the case may be, shall promptly notify the
other party of such event and the Company shall promptly file, with Parent’s cooperation, any necessary amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement. 
The Company will also advise Parent, promptly after it receives notice thereof, of any request by the SEC for amendment of the Proxy Statement.

 
(c)                                  Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to filing or mailing the Proxy Statement (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or responding to

any comments of the SEC with respect thereto, the Company shall (i) provide Parent an opportunity to review and comment on such document or response
and (ii) include in such document or response all comments reasonably proposed by Parent.

 
(d)                                 The Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable following the clearance of the Proxy Statement by the SEC, establish a record date

for, and as soon as reasonably practicable duly call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of the holders of Shares (the “Company Shareholders
Meeting”) for the purpose of seeking the Company Shareholder Approval.  The notice of such Company Shareholders Meeting shall state that a proposal to
approve this Agreement will be considered at the Company Shareholders Meeting.  So long as the Company Board shall not have effected an Adverse
Recommendation Change in accordance with Section 5.3(e), (x) the Company Board shall recommend to holders of Shares that they approve this Agreement
and shall include such recommendation and the Company Determination in the Proxy Statement and (y) the Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to
solicit the Company Shareholder Approval.  The Company shall not include in the Proxy Statement any proposal to vote upon or consider any Acquisition
Proposal (other than the Merger).  The Company shall not postpone or adjourn the Company Shareholders Meeting without the prior written consent of
Parent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
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Section 5.5                                    Access to Information; Confidentiality.
 



(a)                                 From the date hereof to the Effective Time or the earlier termination of this Agreement, upon reasonable prior notice, the Company shall,
and shall cause its Subsidiaries, officers, directors to and use its reasonable best efforts to cause its Representatives to, afford to Parent, Merger Sub and their
respective Representatives reasonable access during normal business hours, consistent with applicable Law, to the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’, officers
employees, properties, offices, other facilities and books and records reasonably related to consummating the Merger and the other transactions contemplated
by this Agreement or post-Closing matters (including integration), and shall furnish Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Representatives with all
financial, operating and other data and information reasonably related to consummating the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this
Agreement or post-Closing matters (including integration) as Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Representatives shall reasonably request. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such investigation or consultation shall be conducted in such a manner as not to interfere unreasonably with the business
or operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.  Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to provide access to or to disclose
information where such access or disclosure would be reasonably expected to (i) constitute a waiver of the attorney-client or other privilege held by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) cause significant competitive harm to the Company or its Subsidiaries if the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement are not consummated or (iii) otherwise violate any applicable Law, provided that the Company has used its reasonable best efforts to provide such
access or disclose such information in a manner that does not result in such a waiver, harm or violation.

 
(b)                                 Each of Parent and Merger Sub will hold and treat and will cause its Representatives to hold and treat in confidence all documents and

information concerning the Company and its Subsidiaries furnished to Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement in accordance with the Nondisclosure Agreement between the Company and Parent dated as of August 21, 2014 (the “Confidentiality
Agreement”), which Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms except with respect to the standstill
restrictions set forth therein, which shall terminate and be of no further force or effect as of the date hereof.

 
Section 5.6                                    Further Action; Efforts
 
(a)                                 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each party will use reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions

and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, and no party hereto shall fail to take or cause to be taken any action that would reasonably be expected to prevent, impede or materially delay the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, and except as otherwise contemplated by Section 5.6(c), nothing in
this Agreement shall require Parent or Merger Sub to, and the Company shall not without the prior written consent of Parent, agree to any modification to or
accommodation under any Contract or undertake any liability in connection with obtaining any consent under any Contract.  In furtherance and not in
limitation of the foregoing, each party hereto agrees to make, if required, appropriate filings under any Antitrust Law, including an appropriate filing of a
Notification and Report Form pursuant to the
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HSR Act with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby as promptly as practicable and, in the case of the HSR Act, in any event within ten Business
Days of the date hereof and to supply as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable any additional information and documentary material that may be
requested pursuant to the HSR Act and to take all other commercially reasonable actions necessary, proper or advisable to cause the expiration or termination
of the applicable waiting periods under the HSR Act as soon as practicable, including by requesting early termination of the waiting period provided for in the
HSR Act.

 
(b)                                 Each of Parent and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, shall, in connection with the efforts referenced in

Section 5.6(a) to obtain all requisite approvals and authorizations for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under the HSR Act or any other
Antitrust Law, use its reasonable best efforts to (i) cooperate in all respects with each other in connection with any filing or submission and in connection with
any investigation or other inquiry, including any proceeding initiated by a private party, (ii) keep the other party reasonably informed of any communication
received by such party from, or given by such party to, the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”), the Antitrust Division of the DOJ or any other U.S. or
foreign Governmental Entity and of any communication received or given in connection with any proceeding by a private party, in each case regarding any of
the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) permit the other party a reasonable opportunity to review any substantive written communication given by it to,
and consult with each other in advance of any scheduled substantive meeting or conference with, the FTC, the DOJ or any other Governmental Entity or, in
connection with any proceeding by a private party, with any other Person, and to the extent permitted by the FTC, the DOJ or such other applicable
Governmental Entity or other Person, give the other party the reasonable opportunity to attend and participate in such meetings and conferences. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company and Parent may, as each deems advisable and necessary, reasonably designate any competitively sensitive
material provided to the other side under this Section 5.6(b) as “Antitrust Counsel Only Material.”  Such materials and the information contained therein shall
be given only to the outside counsel regarding Antitrust Law of the recipient and will not be disclosed by outside counsel to employees, officers, directors or
consultants of the recipient or any of its Affiliates unless express permission is obtained in advance from the source of the materials (the Company or Parent,
as the case may be) or its legal counsel.  Each of the Company and Parent shall cause its respective counsel regarding Antitrust Law to comply with this
Section 5.6(b).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.6(b), materials provided to the other party or its counsel may be redacted to remove
references concerning the valuation of the Company and privileged communications.

 
(c)                                  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates shall be obligated to, and

neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall be in sole discretion of Parent),
(i) proffer to, agree to or become subject to any order, judgment or decree to (A), sell, license or dispose of or hold separate before or after the Closing, any
assets, businesses, product lines or interest in any assets or businesses of Parent or any of its Affiliates, (B) make or accept, any changes, modifications,
limitations or restrictions in the operations of any assets or businesses of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, any Contract to which Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries is a party or otherwise bound or any of the relationships of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries with any other Persons (contractual or otherwise) or
(C)  any concession,
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accommodation or liability relating to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or (ii) proffer to, agree to or become subject to any order, judgment or decree to (or
consent to) (A) sell, license or dispose of or hold separate before or after the Closing, any assets, businesses, product lines or interest in any assets or
businesses of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (B) any changes, modifications, limitations or restrictions in the operations of any assets or businesses
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or otherwise bound or any of the
relationships of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any other Persons (contractual or otherwise) or (C)  any concession, accommodation or liability



with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that, in the case of clause (ii)(A) through clause (ii)(C) would, individually or in the aggregate,
materially diminish the expected benefits of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to Parent and its Subsidiaries (including the Company and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole (the items in clauses (i) through (ii), a “Burdensome Action”) or (iii) commence or participate in any litigation.

 
(d)                                 For purposes of this Agreement, “Antitrust Law” means the Sherman Act, as amended, the Clayton Act, as amended, the HSR Act, the

Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, Foreign Antitrust Laws and all other Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions
having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening of competition through merger or acquisition.

 
(e)                                  No later than five Business Days prior to Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent duly executed payoff letters, in form and substance

reasonably acceptable to Parent, from all counterparties to indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company with respect to the repayment of
all such indebtedness (it being understood and agreed that if Parent elects not to repay at Closing any such indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries
that was set forth on the Company Disclosure Letter hereto or was incurred after the date hereof in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Parent shall
not be permitted to assert a Company Material Adverse Effect as a result of any default under such indebtedness that arises because the Merger).

 
Section 5.7                                    Employee Benefits Matters.
 
(a)                                 Following the Effective Time, except for purposes of determining eligibility for retiree health and welfare benefits, Parent shall give each

employee of the Company, the Surviving Corporation or their respective Subsidiaries who shall have been employees of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Effective Time (“Continuing Employees”) full credit for prior service with the Company or its Subsidiaries to the extent
such service would be recognized if it had been performed as an employee of Parent for purposes of (i) eligibility and vesting under any Parent Employee
Plans, but not for benefit accrual purposes under any defined benefit plan of Parent, and (ii)  determination of benefit levels under any Parent Employee Plan
or policy of general application relating to vacation or severance, in either case for which the Continuing Employees are otherwise prospectively eligible and
in which the Continuing Employees are offered participation, but except where such credit would result in a duplication of benefits.  For the avoidance of
doubt, no Continuing Employee shall be retroactively eligible for any Parent Employee Plan, including any such Parent Employee Plan that was frozen prior
to the Effective Time.  In addition, Parent shall waive, or cause to be
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waived, any limitations on benefits relating to pre-existing conditions to the same extent such limitations would not have been applicable to such Continuing
Employee under the terms of any comparable medical and dental plan of the Company and its Subsidiaries.  In addition, Parent shall provide that any covered
expenses incurred on or before the Effective Time by Continuing Employees or such employees’ covered dependents shall be taken into account for purposes
of satisfying applicable deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket provisions after the Effective Time, to the same extent as such expenses were
taken into account under the comparable benefit plan and such expenses shall also count towards any annual or lifetime limits, treatment or visit limits or
similar limitations that apply under the terms of the applicable plan for the plan year in which the Effective Date occurs. For purposes of this Agreement, the
term “Parent Employee Plan” means any “employee pension benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), “employee welfare benefit plan” (as defined
in Section 3(1) of ERISA), and any other plan or policy under which service with Parent is relevant to eligibility, vesting and/or level of benefits, for the
benefit of, or relating to, the current employees of Parent or its Subsidiaries and with respect to which eligibility has not been frozen.

 
(b)                                 Nothing contained herein shall be construed as requiring, and the Company shall take no action that would have the effect of requiring,

Parent or the Surviving Corporation to continue any specific employee benefit plans or to continue the employment of any specific person.  The provisions of
this Section 5.7 are for the sole benefit of the parties to this Agreement and nothing herein, expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to
(i) constitute an amendment to any of the compensation and benefits plans maintained for or provided to Continuing Employees prior to or following the
Effective Time, (ii) impede or limit Parent, the Company, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates from amending or terminating any Company
Plan following the Effective Time or (iii) confer upon or give to any person (including for the avoidance of doubt any current or former employees, directors,
or independent contractors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or on or after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries),
other than the parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and assigns, any legal or equitable or other rights or remedies (with respect to the
matters provided for in this Section 5.7) under or by reason of any provision of this Agreement.

 
Section 5.8                                    Notification of Certain Matters.  The Company and Parent shall promptly notify each other of (a) the discovery of any fact or

circumstance that, or the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event the occurrence or non-occurrence of which, would cause or is reasonably likely to result
in any of the conditions to the Merger set forth in Article VI not being satisfied or satisfaction of those conditions being materially delayed; provided,
however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.8 shall not (i) cure any breach of, or non-compliance with, any other provision of this
Agreement or (ii) limit the remedies available to the party sending or receiving such notice; and (b) the receipt of any written communication received from
any Person alleging that a material consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or from
any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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Section 5.9                                    Indemnification, Exculpation and Insurance.
 
(a)                                 Without limiting any additional rights that any director or employee may have under any agreement or Company Plan, from the Effective

Time through the sixth anniversary of the date on which the Effective Time occurs, Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, indemnify and
hold harmless each current (as of the Effective Time) and each former employee, agent, officer or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), from and against any and all claims, losses, liabilities, damages, judgments, penalties, settlements, inquiries, fines
and fees, costs and expenses, including actual attorneys’ fees and disbursements and ERISA excise taxes (collectively, “Costs”) actually or reasonably
incurred or suffered in connection with any actual or threatened Action, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to
the fact that the Indemnified Party is or was an employee, agent, officer, director or fiduciary of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, whether asserted or
claimed prior to, at or after the Effective Time, to the same extent provided under the Company Constituent Documents (or, as relevant, those of the
applicable Subsidiary of the Company) as at the date hereof.  In the event of any such Action, each Indemnified Party shall be entitled to advancement of
expenses incurred in the defense of any Action from Parent or the Surviving Corporation to the same extent provided under the Company Constituent
Documents (or, as relevant, those of the applicable Subsidiary of the Company) as at the date hereof.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein (but
subject to any superior rights contained in the Company Constituent Documents (or, as relevant, those of the applicable Subsidiary of the Company) or



applicable indemnification agreements to which any Acquired Company is a party including the contract rights set forth in the Company’s Constituent
Documents), prior to making any payment or advance in respect of the indemnification obligations set forth in this Section 5.9, the Person who is requesting
such indemnification or advance shall agree to repay such payments or advances if it is ultimately determined that such Person is not entitled to
indemnification.

 
(b)                                 Except as may be required by applicable Law, Parent and the Company agree that for a period of six years from the Effective Time, all

rights to indemnification and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time and rights to advancement of
expenses relating thereto now existing in favor of any Indemnified Party as provided in the Company Constituent Documents (or, as relevant, those of the
Subsidiary) or in any indemnification agreement between such Indemnified Party and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall survive the Merger and
continue in full force and effect, and for a period of six years from the Effective Time shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified in any manner
that would adversely affect any right thereunder of any such Indemnified Party.

 
(c)                                  Parent shall, prior to the Effective Time, pay for and cause to be obtained, and to be effective at the Effective Time, one or more prepaid

“tail” insurance policies for the Persons who, as of the date hereof, are covered by the Company’s existing D&O Insurance, with a claims period of at least six
years from the Effective Time with terms and conditions (including scope and coverage amounts) that are, taken as a whole, at least as favorable as the
Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ existing D&O Insurance, for claims arising from facts or events that occurred prior to the Effective Time, covering without
limitation the transactions contemplated hereby; provided, that the maximum aggregate premium for such D&O Insurance that Parent shall be required to
expend shall not exceed three hundred percent (300%) of the annual D&O Insurance
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premium for the Company’s current fiscal year, which annual premiums are set forth in Section 3.18 of the Company Disclosure Letter; and if such amount is
not sufficient to purchase D&O Insurance in such maximum amount, then Parent shall purchase such amount of insurance with the best coverage reasonably
available as can be purchased for an aggregate amount that is equal to three hundred percent (300%) of the annual premium for such policies for the
Company’s current fiscal year.  Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to comply with its obligations under such policies for the full term of at least six
years.

 
(d)                                 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if any Action (whether arising before, at or after the Effective Time) with respect to which

an Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification is instituted against any Indemnified Party on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the Effective Time, then
the provisions of this Section 5.9 shall continue in effect until the final disposition of such Action.

 
(e)                                  The indemnification provided for herein shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which an Indemnified Party is entitled,

whether pursuant to Law, Contract or otherwise.  The provisions of this Section 5.9 shall survive the consummation of the Merger and, notwithstanding any
other provision of this Agreement that may be to the contrary, expressly are intended to benefit, and shall be enforceable by, each of the Indemnified Parties
and their respective heirs and legal representatives.

 
(f)                                   In the event that the Surviving Corporation or Parent or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any

other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or a majority of its
properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving
Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, shall succeed to the obligations set forth in this Section 5.9.

 
Section 5.10                             Rule 16b-3. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take such steps as may be reasonably necessary or advisable hereto to

cause dispositions of Company equity securities (including derivative securities) pursuant to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by each
individual who is a director or officer of the Company to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

 
Section 5.11                             Anti-Takeover Statute.  If any Takeover Law is or may become applicable to this Agreement (including the Merger and the other

transactions contemplated hereby), each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub and their respective boards of directors shall grant all such approvals and
take all such actions as are reasonably necessary or appropriate so that such transactions may be consummated as promptly as practicable hereafter on the
terms contemplated hereby, and otherwise act reasonably to eliminate or minimize the effects of such Law on such transactions.

 
Section 5.12                             Shareholder Litigation.  The Company shall provide Parent with prompt notice of and copies of all proceedings and

correspondence relating to any Action against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors or officers by any shareholder of the
Company arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  The Company shall give Parent the opportunity to
consult with
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the Company in the defense or settlement of any such shareholder Action, shall give due consideration to Parent’s advice with respect to such shareholder
Action and shall not settle or offer to settle any such Action without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall be at Parent’s sole discretion).

 
Section 5.13                             Public Announcements.  The initial press release relating to this Agreement shall be a joint press release and thereafter, each of

Parent and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, shall consult with each other before issuing, and give each other a reasonable
opportunity to review and comment upon, any press release or other public statements with respect to this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions
contemplated hereby and shall not issue any such press release or make any public announcement without the prior consent of the other party (which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) except and solely to the extent required by applicable Law, court process or by obligations
pursuant to any listing agreement with any national securities exchange or securities quotation system.

 
Section 5.14                             Transfer Taxes.  Except as provided for in Section 2.2(c), all stock transfer, real estate transfer, documentary, stamp, recording and

other similar Taxes (including interest, penalties and additions to any such Taxes) imposed on the Company or the Surviving Corporation or incurred in
connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by either the Company or the Surviving Corporation.  The Company
and Parent shall cooperate in the preparation, execution, and filing of all Tax Returns, questionnaires or other documents with respect to such Taxes.

 



Section 5.15                             Company Equity Awards.  The Company shall adopt such resolutions and take all necessary actions, including obtaining any
required consents from all holders of outstanding Company Stock Options and Restricted Shares that are necessary to effect the transactions described in
Section 2.1.  Promptly following the taking of such actions, the Company shall, after consultation with Parent, deliver to the holders of Company Stock
Options and Restricted Shares, appropriate notices setting forth such holders’ rights pursuant to the Company Equity Plans and this Agreement.  Parent,
Merger Sub and their counsel shall be given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on any such notices prior to the mailing or delivery thereof to
the holders of Company Stock Options and Restricted Shares, and the Company shall give reasonable and good faith consideration to all additions, deletions,
changes or other comments suggested by Parent, Merger Sub and their counsel.

 
ARTICLE VI

 
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

 
Section 6.1                                    Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations to Effect the Merger.  The respective obligations of each party to effect the Merger are

subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Effective Time of each of the following conditions any and all of which may be waived, in whole or in part, by
Parent, Merger Sub or the Company, as the case may be, to the extent permitted by applicable Law:
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(a)                                 Shareholder Approval.  The Company shall have obtained the Company Shareholder Approval.
 
(b)                                 Antitrust Approvals.  The waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to the Merger under the HSR Act or any other applicable

Antitrust Laws shall have been terminated or shall have expired or been terminated.
 
(c)                                  No Injunctions, Orders or Restraints; Illegality.  No court or other Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued,

promulgated, enforced or entered any Law (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect that restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits or
makes illegal the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby.

 
Section 6.2                                    Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.  The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger are further

subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived by Parent at or prior to the Effective Time:
 
(a)                                 Representations and Warranties.  (i) The representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 3.2 (Capital Stock) shall be true

and correct both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in
which case as of such date), except for inaccuracies that in the aggregate do not amount to more than $150,000, (ii) the representation and warranty in
Section 3.8(b)(i) (Absence of Certain Changes or Events) shall be true and correct in all respects both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if
made at and as of such time, (iii) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 3.1 (Organization), Section 3.3 (Authority),
Section 3.4 (No Conflicts; Consents and Approvals) (solely with respect to Contracts of the nature described in Section 3.15(a)(v) or (vii)), Section 3.8(b)
(ii) (Absence of Certain Changes or Events), Section 3.15(a)(ii), 3.15(a)(viii)  or 3.15(a)(xii) (Contracts), Section 3.20 (Brokers) and Section 3.21 (Takeover
Statutes) shall be true and correct in all material respects when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent
expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date) and (iv) the other representations and warranties of the Company set forth herein shall be
true and correct both when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date,
in which case as of such date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any
qualification as to materiality, Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification set forth therein) does not have, has not had and could not reasonably be
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.  Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an
executive officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect.

 
(b)                                 Performance and Obligations of the Company.  The Company shall have performed or complied in all material respects with each of its

agreements and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Effective Time, and Parent shall have received
a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an executive officer of the Company, dated as of the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect.
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(c)                                  No Burdensome Condition.  No court or other Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated,

enforced or entered any Law (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect that, individually or in the aggregate requires a Burdensome
Action (a “Burdensome Condition”).

 
(d)                                 No Pending or Threatened Actions.  No Action shall have been overtly threatened in writing or commenced and be pending by or before

any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction wherein a judgment would, individually or in the aggregate with other such judgments, have or reasonably
be expected to have any of the effects referred to in Section 6.1(c) or Section 6.2(c).

 
(e)                                  2014 Year-End Audited Financial Statements.  (i) The Company shall have delivered to Parent (A) audited consolidated balance sheets of

the Company as of August 31, 2014 and 2013, (B) audited consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for the years ended
August 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (the “2014 Year-End Audited Financial Statements”) and (C) the unqualified audit opinion of KPMG LLP that the 2014
Year-End Audited Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of August 31,
2014 and 2013, and their results of operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2014, in conformity with
GAAP; provided, however, that the condition in this clause (C) shall not be deemed to not be satisfied solely because the audit opinion contains a
qualification as to the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and (ii) the 2014 Year-End Audited Financial Statements shall
not be different in any material respect from the 2014 Year-End Draft Financial Statements if any such differences would, individually or in the aggregate,
diminish the benefits Parent expected the Merger and the ownership of the Acquired Companies to provide to Parent and its Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) in
a way that would have materially impacted Parent’s decision to enter into this Agreement.

 
Section 6.3                                    Conditions to Obligations of the Company.  The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is further subject to the

satisfaction of the following conditions, any one or more of which may be waived by the Company at or prior to the Effective Time:



 
(a)                                 Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth herein shall be true and correct both

when made and at and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of
such date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any qualification as to materiality
or similar qualification set forth therein) does not prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  The
Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Parent and Merger Sub by an authorized officer of each, dated as of the Closing Date, to the
foregoing effect.

 
(b)                                 Performance of Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.  Each of Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed or complied in all material

respects with all agreements and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Effective Time, and the
Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Parent and
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Merger Sub by an authorized officer of Parent and Merger Sub, dated as of the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect.

 
ARTICLE VII

 
TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

 
Section 7.1                                    Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time,

notwithstanding approval thereof by the shareholders of the Company (with any termination by Parent also being an effective termination by Merger Sub)
only as follows:

 
(a)                                 by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company at any time;
 
(b)                                 by either Parent or the Company:
 

(i)                                     if any court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Entity shall have issued a judgment, order, injunction, rule or decree,
or taken any other action that restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits or makes illegal the consummation of the Merger or any of the other
transactions contemplated hereby and such judgment, order, injunction, rule, decree or other action shall have become final and nonappealable;

 
(ii)                                  if, upon a vote taken at any duly held Company Shareholders Meeting (or at any adjournment or postponement thereof) held to

obtain the Company Shareholder Approval, the Company Shareholder Approval is not obtained; provided, however, that the Company may not
terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b)(ii) if the Company has not complied in all material respects with its obligations under
Sections 5.3 and 5.4 or has otherwise breached in any material respect any of its obligations under this Agreement in any manner that resulted in the
failure to obtain the Company Shareholder Approval at any Company Shareholders Meeting or at any adjournment or postponement thereof; or

 
(iii)                               if the Effective Time shall not have occurred on or before six month anniversary of the date of this Agreement; provided, however,

that if all of the conditions to Closing shall have been satisfied or shall be then capable of being satisfied (other than the conditions set forth in
Section 6.1(b), such date may be extended by either Parent or the Company by written notice to the other party, for one additional sixty (60) day
period following such anniversary (such applicable date, the “Outside Date”) and provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement under
this Section 7.1(b)(ii) shall not be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any material obligation under this Agreement materially contributed
to the failure of the Merger to be consummated on or before such date (it being understood that Parent and Merger Sub shall be deemed a single
party for purposes of the foregoing proviso);

 
(c)                                  by Parent, at any time prior to the Effective Time:
 

(i)                                     if (A) (x) any of the representations or warranties of the Company herein shall be untrue or inaccurate on the date of this
Agreement or shall become untrue or
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inaccurate, or (y) the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, in each case
of (x) and (y) such that any condition set forth in Section 6.1 or Section 6.2 would not be satisfied; and (B) if curable, such untruth, inaccuracy or
breach referenced in (x) or (y) above is not cured within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice to the Company describing such untruth,
inaccuracy or breach in reasonable detail; provided that Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(c)
(i) if Parent or Merger Sub is then in material breach of any of its covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement; or

 
(ii)                                  if, after the date hereof, the Company Board or any committee thereof shall have (A) effected or permitted an Adverse

Recommendation Change (whether or not permitted to do so under the terms of this Agreement), (B) adopted, approved, endorsed, declared
advisable or recommended to the Company’s shareholders an Acquisition Proposal other than the Merger, (C) failed to publicly reaffirm its
recommendation of this Agreement within three (3) Business Days following receipt of a written request by Parent to provide such reaffirmation
following the public announcement of an Acquisition Proposal (provided that the Company Board or any committee thereof shall not be required to
duplicate its reaffirmation with respect to any Acquisition Proposal that has not been amended or otherwise modified), (D) failed to include in the
Proxy Statement the Company Determination or Company Recommendation or included in the Proxy Statement any proposal to vote upon or
consider any Acquisition Proposal other than the Merger, or (E) failed to recommend against a competing tender offer or exchange offer for ten
percent (10%) or more of the outstanding capital stock of the Company within ten (10) Business Days after commencement of such offer (including
by taking no position with respect to the acceptance of such tender offer or exchange offer by its shareholders);

 
(iii)                               if the Company breaches in any material respect Section 5.3; or
 



(iv)                              if any court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Entity shall have issued any judgment, order, injunction, rule or
decree or taken any other action that individually or in the aggregate constitutes a Burdensome Condition, and such judgment, order, injunction,
rule or decree shall have become final and nonappealable;

 
(d)                                 by the Company:
 

(i)                                     if (A) (x) any of the representations or warranties of Parent or Merger Sub herein shall be untrue or inaccurate on the date of this
Agreement or shall become untrue or inaccurate, or (y) Parent or Merger Sub shall have breached or failed to perform any of their respective
covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement, in each case of (x) and (y) such that the conditions set forth in Section 6.1 or Section 6.3 would
not be satisfied, and (B) if curable, such untruth, inaccuracy or breach referenced in (x) or (y) above is not cured within thirty (30) calendar days
after written notice to Parent and Merger Sub describing such untruth, inaccuracy or breach in reasonable detail; provided that the Company shall not
have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this
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Section 7.1(d)(i) if it is then in material breach of any of its covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement; or

 
(ii)                                  prior to obtaining the Company Shareholder Approval, in order to enter into a definitive agreement to effect a Superior Proposal, if

the Company has complied with Section 5.3(a)-(e) with respect to such Superior Proposal (except with respect to immaterial breaches of the
obligations to deliver notices or other writings pursuant to Sections 5.3(c)), (ii) complied in all material respects with Sections 5.3(a)-(e) with respect
to any other Superior Proposal and (iii) complied with Section 5.3(f) with respect to any Superior Proposal, and enters such definitive agreement
concurrently with such termination and pays the Termination Fee in accordance with the procedures and within the time periods set forth in
Section 7.3(b).

 
The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1 shall give notice of such termination and the provisions of this

Section 7.1 being relied on to terminate this Agreement to the other parties.
 
Section 7.2                                    Effect of Termination.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no

effect, without any liability or obligation on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company, except that the Confidentiality Agreement and the provisions of
Section 5.13 (Public Announcements), this Section 7.2, Section 7.3 (Fees and Expenses), Section 7.4 (Amendment or Supplement), Section 7.5 (Extension of
Time; Waiver) and Article VIII (General Provisions) of this Agreement shall survive the termination hereof.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
contained herein shall relieve any party hereto of liability for a deliberate and willful breach of its covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement prior to
such termination or for fraud.

 
Section 7.3                                    Fees and Expenses.
 
(a)                                 Except as otherwise provided in this Section 7.3, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the

other transactions contemplated hereby shall be borne and timely paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Merger is
consummated.

 
(b)                                 In the event that:
 

(i)                                     (A) an Acquisition Proposal is made directly to the Company’s shareholders, otherwise publicly disclosed or otherwise
communicated to the Company, the Company Board or a committee thereof after the date of this Agreement and before the termination of this
Agreement, (B) this Agreement is thereafter terminated by the Company or Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(ii) or Section 7.1(b)(iii), or by Parent
pursuant to Section 7.1(c)(i), and (C) if, concurrently with or within twelve months after the date of any such termination, (x) the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries enters into a definitive agreement with respect to any Acquisition Proposal, or (y) any Acquisition Proposal is consummated, the
Company shall pay to Parent or its designee by wire transfer of same day funds to the account or accounts designated by Parent or such
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designee the Termination Fee concurrently with the earlier of the entry into such definitive agreement with respect to or consummation of such
Acquisition Proposal;

 
(ii)                                  this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 7.1(c)(ii) or Section 7.1(c)(iii) the Company shall pay to Parent or its

designee by wire transfer of same day funds to the account or accounts designated by Parent or such designee the Termination Fee within two
Business Days after such termination;

 
(iii)                               this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(d)(ii), the Company shall pay to Parent or its designee by

wire transfer of same day funds to the account or accounts designated by Parent or such designee the Termination Fee prior to, and as a condition to,
such termination; and

 
(iv)                              this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(ii) and provided that the terminating party would not have been entitled to

terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(i), then the Company shall pay to Parent by wire transfer of same day funds to the account or
accounts designated by Parent or its designee the Shareholder Termination Payment, which Shareholder Termination Payment is intended as
compensation for transaction expenses;

 
it being understood that in no event shall the Company be required to pay the Termination Fee on more than one occasion, and it being further understood that
in no event shall Parent be entitled to both the Termination Fee and the Shareholder Termination Payment.
 

(c)                                  For purposes of this Section 7.3.
 



(i)                                     “Acquisition Proposal”, as used in Section 7.3(b)(i), shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 5.3(h)(ii), except that
references in Section 5.3(h)(ii) to “ten percent” shall be replaced by “fifty percent”.

 
(ii)                                  “Shareholder Termination Payment” means an amount equal to $2,000,000.
 
(iii)                               “Termination Fee” means an amount equal to $7,628,067.
 

(d)                                 Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that the agreements contained in this Section 7.3 are an integral part of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, and that, without these agreements, Parent and Merger Sub would not enter into this Agreement.  Accordingly, if the
Company fails promptly to pay the amounts due pursuant to this Section 7.3, and, in order to obtain such payment, Parent or its designee commences a suit
that results in a judgment against the Company for all or a portion of the Termination Fee or the Expenses, the Company shall pay to Parent or its designees
interest on the amount of the Termination Fee and/or Expenses, as the case may be, from the date such payment was required to be made until the date of
payment at the prime rate published in the Wall Street Journal on the date such payment was required to be made.

 
Section 7.4                                    Amendment or Supplement.  This Agreement may be amended, modified or supplemented by the parties hereto by action taken or

authorized by written agreement of the
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parties hereto (by action taken by their respective boards of directors, if required) at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after the
Company Shareholder Approval has been obtained; provided, however, that after the Company Shareholder Approval has been obtained, no amendment shall
be made that pursuant to applicable Law requires further approval or adoption by the shareholders of the Company without such further approval or adoption. 
This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented in any manner, whether by course of conduct or otherwise, except by an instrument in
writing specifically designated as an amendment hereto, signed on behalf of each of the parties in interest at the time of the amendment.

 
Section 7.5                                    Extension of Time; Waiver.  At any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties may (by action taken or authorized by their

respective boards of directors, if required), to the extent permitted by applicable Law, (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or acts
of the other party or parties hereto, as applicable, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other party or parties set forth in this
Agreement or any document delivered pursuant hereto or (c) subject to applicable Law, waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions of the
other party or parties contained herein; provided, however, that after the Company Shareholder Approval has been obtained, no waiver may be made that
pursuant to applicable Law requires further approval or adoption by the shareholders of the Company without such further approval or adoption.  Any
agreement on the part of a party to any such waiver shall be valid only if set forth in a written instrument executed and delivered by a duly authorized officer
on behalf of such party or parties, as applicable.  No failure or delay of any party in exercising any right or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such right or power, or
any course of conduct, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the
rights and remedies of the parties hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies which they would otherwise have hereunder.

 
ARTICLE VIII

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS

 
Section 8.1                                    Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties.  None of the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements in this

Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time, other than those covenants or agreements of the parties
which by their terms apply, or are to be performed as a whole or in part, after the Effective Time.

 
Section 8.2                                    Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date of

delivery if delivered personally, or if by facsimile, upon written confirmation of receipt by facsimile, (b) on the first Business Day following the date of
dispatch if delivered utilizing a next-day service by a recognized next-day courier or (c) on the earlier of confirmed receipt or the fifth Business Day
following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.  All notices hereunder shall be delivered to
the addresses set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice:
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(i)                                     if to Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation, to:
 

Ingredion Incorporated
5 Westbrook Corporate Center
Westchester, IL 60154 USA
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile:  708 551 2801
 
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
 
Sidley Austin LLP
One South Dearborn Street
Chicago, Illinois 60603
Attention:                                         John M. O’Hare

Scott R. Williams
Facsimile:                                         (312) 853-7036
 

(ii)                                  if to the Company, to:
 



Penford Corporation
7094 South Revere Parkway
Centennial CO 80112
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile: 303-649-1700
 
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
 
Perkins Coie LLP
1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900
Seattle, Washington 98101
Attention: Andrew Bor
Facsimile: (206) 359-9577
 

Section 8.3                                    Certain Definitions.  For purposes of this Agreement:
 
(a)                                 “Affiliate” of any Person means any other Person that, at the time of determination, directly or indirectly, through one or more

intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, such first Person;
 
(b)                                 “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks in New York City, New York are authorized by

Law or executed order to be closed;
 
(c)                                  “Company Credit Agreement” means that certain Credit Agreement dated as of August 1, 2014 among the Company, certain of its

subsidiaries, and the following banks: Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A., “Rabobank Nederland,” New York Branch, as Administrative
Agent; KeyBank National Association, as Syndication Agent; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and The Private Bank and Trust Company as Co-Documentation
Agents; First Midwest Bank; GreenStone Farm Credit Services, ACA; Branch Banking and
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Trust Company, AgStar Financial Services PCA and Farm Credit Services of America, PCA, and the Delayed Draw Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of
August 1, 2014 among the Company, certain of its Subsidiaries, and Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A., “Rabobank Nederland,” New
York Branch, as Administrative Agent and lender, and the related loan documents entered into by the Company in connection therewith, as each may be
further amended, modified or supplemented from time to time;

 
(d)                                 “control” (including the terms “controlled,” “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly

or as trustee or executor, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of stock, as
trustee or executor, by contract or credit arrangement or otherwise;

 
(e)                                  “Copyrights” means all registered and unregistered copyrights in both published works and unpublished works of authorship and all

copyrightable subject matter;
 
(f)                                   “Domain Names” means internet domain names, uniform resource locators and other locators and names and locators associated with the

Internet and registrations and applications for registration thereof;
 
(g)                                  “ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business that together with the Company or any of its Affiliates is considered a single employer

pursuant to Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code;
 
(h)                                 “Intellectual Property” means collectively Patents, inventions and discoveries that may be patentable, Trademarks, Domain Names,

Copyrights and Know-How;
 
(i)                                     “Know-How” means confidential or proprietary information, know how, trade secrets, customer lists, technical information, research and

development information, data, processes, formulas, algorithms, methods, trading systems, processes and technology;
 
(j)                                    “knowledge” means the actual knowledge of the individuals set forth on Section 8.3(j) of the Company Disclosure Letter;
 
(k)                                 “made available to Parent” and other phrases of similar import include all materials or information made available to Parent or its

Representatives in the dataroom prepared by the Company, provided to Parent or its Representatives by electronic or other means or is available on the SEC’s
EDGAR website prior to the date of this Agreement.

 
(l)                                     “Material Adverse Effect” means any condition, event, change, circumstance, effect or state of facts that, either individually or in the

aggregate, and whether or not a breach of any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement, (i)(A) has had, or could reasonably be expected to
have, a material and adverse effect on the business, continuing operations, properties, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), or results of
operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole or the customer relationships of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
provided, however, that none of the following shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred under this
clause (i):  (1) general changes or developments in any of the industries in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries operates, (2) changes in general
economic, business, regulatory or
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political conditions or in national or global financial markets, (3) international calamity directly or indirectly involving the United States, national calamity, an
act of war (whether or not declared), sabotage, terrorism, military actions or the escalation thereof, (4) changes in any applicable Laws, (5) natural disasters,
calamities or other acts of God, outbreaks of epidemics or pandemics, (6) changes in the trading price or volume of the Shares (provided that the underlying



reasons for the changes in trading price or volume may be taken into account), (7) the execution or announcement of this agreement or the pendency or
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby with Parent as opposed to any other Person (including to the extent caused thereby, any cancellation of
or delays in customer orders, any reduction in sales, any disruption in licensor, vendor, partner or similar relationships or loss of employees); (8) the payment
of any professional fees in connection the negotiation and consummation of the transaction or actions taken at the request of Parent or Merger Sub to the
extent not required by this Agreement, (9) any litigation brought or threatened to be brought by shareholders of the Company asserting allegations or breaches
of fiduciary duties relating to this Agreement or misstatements or omissions in the Proxy Statement or (10) the failure of Parent to consent to any of the
actions proscribed in Section 5.1(b)(xvi), (xvii), (xix), (xx) and (xxv) (but with respect to Section 5.1(b)(xxv), only with respect to the actions described in
Section 5.1(b)(xvi), (xvii), (xix) and (xx)) in violation of Section 5.1, but in the case of each of clauses (1) through (5) above, only to the extent such event
has not and does not, individually or in the aggregate, disproportionately impact the Company and its Subsidiaries relative to other participants in the
industries in which the Company or the Subsidiaries of the Companies operate.

 
(m)                             “Owned Intellectual Property” means Intellectual Property and Software owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
 
(n)                                 “Patents”  means all patents, patent applications and all related continuations, continuations-in-part, divisionals, reissues, re-examinations,

substitutions, and extensions thereof;
 
(o)                                 “Permitted Liens” means (i) any liens for Taxes not yet delinquent or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings,

(ii) carriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen’s, repairmen’s or other similar liens for which the Company has established reserves in accordance
with GAAP that are reflected in the financial statements made available to Parent prior to the date hereof, (iii) pledges or deposits in connection with workers’
compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security legislation, (iv) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances
incurred in the ordinary course of business that, in the aggregate, are not material in amount or that do not, in any case, materially detract from the use or
value of the property subject thereto as currently used by the Company or its Subsidiaries, (v) licenses of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practice and (vi) any liens described in, set forth in, or securing the indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries set
forth in Section 3.2(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter.

 
(p)                                 “Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, trust or other entity or organization,

including any Governmental Entity;
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(q)                                 “Software” means computer software, including source code, object and executable or binary code, and all files, data, materials, manuals,

design and comment notes and other documentation related thereto or associated therewith;
 
(r)                                    “Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which stock or other equity interests having ordinary voting power to

elect more than fifty percent (50%) of the board of directors or other governing body are owned, directly or indirectly, by:  (i) such first Person, (ii) such first
Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries, or (iii) one or more Subsidiaries of such first Person;

 
(s)                                   “Trademarks” means trade names, assumed business names, registered and unregistered trademarks, service marks, other similar

designations of source or origin, together with the goodwill symbolized by any of the foregoing, and applications therefor.
 
Section 8.4                                    Interpretation.  When a reference is made in this Agreement to a Section, Article or Exhibit, such reference shall be to a Section,

Article or Exhibit of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated.  The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement or in any Exhibit are for
convenience of reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  All words used in this Agreement
will be construed to be of such gender or number as the circumstances require.  Any capitalized terms used in any Exhibit but not otherwise defined therein
shall have the meaning set forth in this Agreement.  All Exhibits annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this
Agreement as if set forth herein.  The words “include,” “includes” and “including” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will mean
“include, without limitation,” “includes, without limitation” or “including, without limitation,” unless otherwise specified.  The word “or” shall not be
exclusive.

 
Section 8.5                                    Entire Agreement.  This Agreement (including the Exhibits hereto), the Company Disclosure Letter, the Parent Disclosure Letter

and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and supersede all prior written
agreements, arrangements, communications and understandings and all prior and contemporaneous oral agreements, arrangements, communications and
understandings among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof (except that the Confidentiality Agreement shall be deemed amended
as necessary so that until the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.1 hereof, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall be permitted to
take the actions contemplated by this Agreement).  The parties agree that Section 7 of the Confidentiality Agreement shall automatically terminate if the
Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or any of its or their Representatives receives, or any Person publicly makes or announces its intention to make,
any Acquisition Proposal.

 
Section 8.6                                    Parties in Interest.  Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any Person other than the

parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature under or by reason of this
Agreement, other than with respect to the provisions of Section 5.9, which shall inure to the benefit of the Persons benefiting therefrom, who are hereby
intended to be third-party beneficiaries thereof.
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Section 8.7                                    Governing Law.  This Agreement and all disputes or controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions

contemplated hereby shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Washington, without regard to the laws of any
other jurisdiction that might be applied because of the conflicts of laws principles of the State of Washington.

 
Section 8.8                                    Submission to Jurisdiction.  Each of the parties irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding arising out of or relating to

this Agreement brought by any other party or its successors or assigns shall be brought and determined in the United States District Court in the State of
Washington, and each of the parties hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts for itself and with respect to its property,



generally and unconditionally, with regard to any such action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated
hereby.  Each of the parties agrees not to commence any action, suit or proceeding relating thereto in any court other than the United States District Court in
the State of Washington, other than actions in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce any judgment, decree or award rendered by such court.  Each of
the parties further agrees that notice as provided herein shall constitute sufficient service of process and the parties further waive any argument that such
service is insufficient.  Each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion or as a defense,
counterclaim or otherwise, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (a) any claim that
it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the United States District Court in the State of Washington for any reason, (b) that it or its property is exempt
or immune from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to
judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise) and (c) that (i) the suit, action or proceeding in any such court is
brought in an inconvenient forum, (ii) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper or (iii) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be
enforced in or by such courts.

 
Section 8.9                                    Assignment; Successors.  Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be

assigned or delegated, as a whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise, by any party without the prior written consent of the other parties, and any such
assignment without such prior written consent shall be null and void; provided, however, that Merger Sub may assign in its sole discretion and without the
consent of any other party, any or all of its rights, interests and obligations under this Agreement to any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent,
but no such assignment shall relieve Parent or Merger Sub of its obligations hereunder.  Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding
upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

 
Section 8.10                             Enforcement.  The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement

were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached.  Accordingly, each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub shall be
entitled to specific performance of the terms hereof, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically
the terms and provisions of this Agreement in the United States District Court in the State of Washington, this being in addition to any other remedy to which
such party is entitled at law or in equity.  Each of
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the parties hereby further waives any requirement under any law to post security as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief.

 
Section 8.11                             Currency.  All references to “dollars” or “$” or “US$” in this Agreement refer to United States dollars, which is the currency used

for all purposes in this Agreement.
 
Section 8.12                             Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner

as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other
provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid,
illegal or unenforceable provision or portion of any provision had never been contained herein, so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions
contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party.  Upon such a determination, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to
modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions
contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties intend that the
rights, limitations and remedies contained in Section 5.3 and Article VII be construed as integral provisions of this Agreement and that such rights, limitations
and remedies shall not be severable in any manner that restricts a party’s remedies or rights under this Agreement.

 
Section 8.13                             Waiver of Jury Trial.  EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO

A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

 
Section 8.14                             Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same

instrument and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties.
 
Section 8.15                             Electronic Signature.  This Agreement may be executed by facsimile signature or electronically scanned signature and such

signatures shall constitute an original for all purposes.
 
Section 8.16                             No Presumption Against Drafting Party.  Each of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company acknowledges that each party to this

Agreement has been represented by counsel in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  Accordingly, any
rule of law or any legal decision that would require interpretation of any claimed ambiguities in this Agreement against the drafting party has no application
and is hereby expressly waived.

 
Section 8.17                             Disclosure Letters.  The Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter are not intended to constitute, and shall not

be construed as constituting, representations or warranties of the Company and Parent, respectively, except and to the extent
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expressly provided in this Agreement.  The fact that any item of information is disclosed in the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter
shall not be construed to mean that such information is required to be disclosed by this Agreement.  Inclusion of any item in the Company Disclosure Letter
or the Parent Disclosure Letter shall not be deemed an admission that such item is material or that such item is reasonably likely to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.  Descriptive headings in the Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter are inserted for reference purposes and for
convenience of the reader only, and shall not affect the interpretation thereof or of this Agreement.  Nothing contained in the Company Disclosure Letter or
the Parent Disclosure Letter shall be construed as an admission of liability or responsibility in connection with any pending, threatened or future matter or
proceeding.

 
[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers

thereunto duly authorized.
 

 

INGREDION INCORPORATED
   
   
 

By: /s/ Jack C. Fortnum
  

Name: Jack C. Fortnum
  

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
   
   
 

PROSPECT SUB, INC.
   
   
 

By: /s/ James P. Zallie
  

Name: James P. Zallie
  

Title: President
   
   
 

PENFORD CORPORATION
   
   
 

By: /s/ Thomas D. Malkoski
  

Name: Thomas D. Malkoski
  

Title: President and Chief Executive Office
 

[Signature Page to Merger Agreement]
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VOTING AND SUPPORT AGREEMENT

 
THIS VOTING AND SUPPORT AGREEMENT, dated as October     , 2014 (this “Agreement”), is entered into by and between Ingredion

Incorporated, a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), SEACOR Holdings Inc. (the “Shareholder”) and, solely with respect to the last sentence of Section 1.1,
Penford Corporation, a Washington corporation (the “Company”).

 
W I T N E S S E T H:

 
WHEREAS, Parent, Prospect Sub, Inc., Washington corporation and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent, and the Company, have executed an

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of the date hereof (as the same may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the
terms thereof, the “Merger Agreement”).  Terms that are defined in the Merger Agreement that are not defined herein are used in this Agreement as they are
defined in the Merger Agreement;

 
WHEREAS, as a condition to Parent executing and delivering the Merger Agreement, Parent is requiring that the Shareholder enter into this

Agreement, among other things, to vote (i) the shares of common stock, $1.00 par value per share, of the Company (“Company Common Stock”), owned by
the Shareholder, (ii) all securities exchangeable, exercisable or convertible into Company Common Stock, and (iii) any securities issued or exchanged with
respect to such Company Common Stock, upon any recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation, spin-off, partial or complete liquidation, stock
dividend, split-up or combination of the securities of the Company or upon any other change in the Company’s capital structure, in each case whether now
owned or hereafter acquired by the Shareholder or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Securities”). in favor of the Merger Agreement and the Merger;
and

 
WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, the Shareholder has the power to vote and dispose of 1,186,600 shares (the “Existing Shares”) of Company

Common Stock.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in contemplation of the foregoing and in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants, representations and warranties

contained herein and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

1.1                               Standstill.  Until the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, the Shareholder shall and shall cause its Affiliates
not to (a) subject to the Company’s compliance with the last sentence of this Section 1.1, solicit proxies, announce an intention to or continue any announced
intention to solicit proxies, from shareholders of the Company in respect of the election of the Shareholder’s nominees as members of the board of directors
of the Company (or support the efforts of any other Person in doing so (other than the Company)) or (b) solicit, negotiate or otherwise knowing facilitate or
knowingly encourage directly or indirectly, any Acquisition Proposal or (c) directly or indirectly acquire any securities, business or assets of the Company or
any business, assets or securities of its Subsidiaries or (d) sell, transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate, tender, encumber or otherwise dispose of or limit its right
to vote the Securities, or agree to do any of the foregoing (or Beneficial Ownership thereof) (each a, “Transfer”) (i) pursuant to an Acquisition Proposal or (ii)
through any transaction or series of related transactions to (A) other than through trades over NASDAQ or any securities
 



 
exchange or market on which the Securities are traded, any Person more than 5% of the outstanding Common Stock of the Company (“Person”, for purposes
of this clause (d)(ii)(A), includes any Person and any other Person known by the Shareholder to be an Affiliate of such first Person) or (B) any Subsidiary of
Shareholder unless, in the case of this clause (c)(ii), such Person to which any of such Securities or any interest in any of such Securities is Transferred shall
have executed and delivered to Parent a counterpart to this Agreement pursuant to which such Person shall be bound by all of the terms and provisions of this
Agreement. The Company, by its execution and delivery to the Shareholder of a copy of this Agreement, (1) agrees that, prior to the consummation of the
Merger or the termination of the Merger Agreement, it will not call an annual or special meeting for the election of directors and, in the event that the Merger
Agreement is terminated, it will call an annual or special meeting for the election of directors to be held on a date not earlier than 60 days nor later than 90
days after the date of termination of the Merger Agreement, (2) represents and warrants to the Shareholder that, for the purposes of this sentence, this
Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, this
agreement of the Company contained in this sentence constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in
accordance with its terms (except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar
Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general principles of equity) and (3) understands and acknowledges that the Shareholder is
entering into this Agreement in reliance upon the Company’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and the covenants, representations and warranties of
the Company set forth in this last sentence.
 

1.2                                 The Shareholder hereby irrevocably and unconditionally covenants and agrees that, during the Voting Period (as hereinafter
defined), at any meeting of the shareholders of the Company (whether annual or special), however called, or at any adjournment or postponement thereof, or
in any other circumstances (including an action by written consent) upon which a vote or other approval is sought, the Shareholder shall: (i) with respect to
any vote relating to the Merger Agreement, the Merger or any other matter to be approved by the shareholders of the Company to facilitate any of them,
appear at such meeting or otherwise be counted as present thereat for the purpose of establishing a quorum and vote all Securities owned by it and entitled to
vote thereon (the “Voting Date Securities”), in person or by proxy, in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement and the approval of the Merger and (ii)
vote (or cause to be voted), in person or by proxy, the Voting Date Securities against (A) any extraordinary corporate transaction (other than the Merger), such
as a merger, consolidation, business combination, tender or exchange offer, reorganization, recapitalization, liquidation, or sale or transfer of all or
substantially all of the assets or securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (B) any amendment of the Company’s articles of incorporation or by-
laws other than as contemplated by the Merger Agreement, (C) any other proposal, action or transaction involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries,
which amendment or other proposal, action or transaction would reasonably be expected to in any manner impede, frustrate, prevent or nullify the Merger or
the Merger Agreement, (D) any extraordinary dividend, distribution or recapitalization by the Company or change in capital structure of the Company (other
than pursuant to the Merger Agreement) and (E) any Acquisition Proposal (the matters described in the foregoing clauses (A) through (E) being referred to as
“Competing Actions”); and (iii) not take any action by written consent to approve any Competing Action.  For purposes of this
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Agreement, “Voting Period” means the period commencing on the date hereof and ending on the termination of this Agreement.  Any such vote shall be cast
(or consent shall be given) by the Shareholder in accordance with such procedures relating thereto so as to ensure that it is duly counted, including for
purposes of determining whether a quorum is present..  Any such vote shall be cast (or consent shall be given) by the Shareholder in accordance with such
procedures relating thereto so as to ensure that it is duly counted, including for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present.
 

1.3                               Disclosure.  The Shareholder hereby authorizes Parent to publish and disclose in any announcement or disclosure required by the
SEC, the NASDAQ or any other national securities exchange and, to the extent required by applicable Law, the Proxy Statement (including all documents and
schedules filed with the SEC in connection therewith) and any other required filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or otherwise required by
Law, its identity and ownership of the Securities and the nature of its commitments, arrangements and understandings under this Agreement.  Parent hereby
authorizes the Shareholder to make such disclosure or filings as may be required by the SEC or NASDAQ or any other national securities exchange or the
OTC Bulletin Board.

 
2.                                      Representations and Warranties of Shareholder.  The Shareholder hereby represents and warrants to Parent, as of the date hereof, that:
 

2.1                               Ownership.  As of the date hereof, the Shareholder does not hold any options, warrants or other rights to purchase any Securities. 
As of the date hereof, the Existing Shares constitute all of the shares of Company Common Stock Beneficially Owned or owned of record by the Shareholder
or any of its Affiliates.  “Beneficial Ownership” by a person of any securities includes ownership by any Person who, directly or indirectly, through any
contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise, has or shares (i) voting power which includes the power to vote, or to direct the voting of,
such security; and/or (ii) investment power which includes the power to dispose, or to direct the disposition, of such security; and shall otherwise be
interpreted in accordance with the term “beneficial ownership” as defined in Rule 13d-3 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Exchange Act, as amended; provided that for purposes of determining Beneficial Ownership, a Person shall be deemed to be the Beneficial Owner of any
securities which such Person has, at any time during the term of this Agreement, the right to acquire pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding
or upon the exercise of conversion rights, exchange rights, warrants or options, or otherwise (irrespective of whether the right to acquire such securities is
exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time, including the passage of time in excess of 60 days, the satisfaction of any conditions, the
occurrence of any event or any combination of the foregoing).  The terms “Beneficially Own” and “Beneficially Owned” shall have a correlative meaning.

 
2.2                               Organization.  The Shareholder is a corporation duly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware.
 
2.3                               Authorization.  The Shareholder has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its

obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the
Shareholder has been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action of the Shareholder,
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and no other proceedings on the part of the Shareholder are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement or to consummate the
contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Shareholder and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery
by Parent, this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Shareholder, enforceable against the Shareholder in accordance with their



terms (except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general principles of equity).
 

2.4                               No Violation.
 

(a)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Shareholder do not and will not, with or without notice
or lapse of time, or both, (i) conflict with or violate the Constituent Documents of the Shareholder or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) conflict with or violate any
Law applicable to the Shareholder or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any property or asset of the Shareholder or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or (iii)
result in any breach or violation of, or constitute a default (or an event which with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default), or result in a right
of payment or loss of a benefit under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation, amendment or acceleration of, any Contract to which the
Shareholder or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or otherwise, other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and  (iii) hereof, any such conflict, violation, breach,
default, termination, amendment, acceleration, cancellation that are not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably likely to prevent the Shareholder from
satisfying, or have a material adverse effect on the Shareholder’s ability to satisfy, its obligations under this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Shareholder do not and, at the time of the Closing, will

not, require any consent, approval, order, license, authorization or permit of, action by, filing, registration or declaration with or notification to, any
Governmental Entity or any other person, except for applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, Blue Sky Laws, the HSR Act, any applicable non-U.S.
competition, antitrust or investment Laws, filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the WBCA and except where failure to
obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations, waivers or permits, or to make such filings or notifications that are not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably likely to prevent the Shareholder from satisfying, or have a material adverse effect on the Shareholder’s ability to satisfy its obligations under this
Agreement.

 
2.5                               Reliance by Parent.  The Shareholder understands and acknowledges that Parent is entering into the Merger Agreement in reliance

upon the Shareholder’s execution and delivery of this Agreement and the representations and warranties of the Shareholder herein.
 
2.6                               The Shareholder Has Adequate Information.  The Shareholder is a sophisticated seller with respect to the Securities and has

adequate information concerning the business and financial condition of the Company to make an informed decision regarding the sale of the Securities and
has independently and without reliance upon the Parent and based on such information as the Shareholder has deemed appropriate, made its own analysis and
decision to enter into this Agreement.
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3.                                      Representations and Warranties of Parent.  Parent hereby represents and warrants to the Shareholder, as of the date hereof that:
 

3.1                               Authorization.  Parent has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its
obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  The execution and delivery by Parent of this Agreement and the
consummation by Parent of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action of Parent, and no
other proceedings on the part of Parent are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement.

 
3.2                               No Violation.  Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby

will (a) require any consent, approval, order, license, authorization or permit of, action by, filing, registration or declaration with or notification to, any
Governmental Entity or any other person, except for applicable requirements of the Exchange Act, Blue Sky Laws, the HSR Act, any applicable non-U.S.
competition, antitrust or investment Laws, filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required by the WBCA and except where failure to
obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations, waivers or permits, or to make such filings or notifications that are not, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably likely to prevent Parent from satisfying, or have a material adverse effect on the Parent’s ability to satisfy, its obligations under this Agreement or
(b) violate, result in a default under, or conflict with contract, agreement or understanding or any applicable Law binding upon Parent, except for such
violations, defaults or conflicts which are not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably likely to prevent Parent from satisfying, or have a material adverse
effect on Parent’s ability to satisfy, its obligations under this Agreement.  No proceedings are pending which, if adversely determined, will, individually or in
the aggregate, be reasonably likely to prevent Parent from satisfying, or have a material adverse effect on the Parent’s ability to satisfy, its obligations under
this Agreement.

 
4.                                      Appraisal Rights.  The Shareholder agrees not to exercise any rights of appraisal or any dissenters’ rights that the Shareholder may have

(whether under applicable Law or otherwise) or could potentially have or acquire in connection with the Merger.
 
5.                                      Survival of Representations and Warranties.  The representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the closing of the

transactions contemplated hereby until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, including extensions thereof.
 
6.                                      No Restriction on Sale of Securities. Except as set forth in Section 1.1, nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit or restrict the

Shareholder from selling or otherwise disposing of Securities through trades over NASDAQ or any securities exchange or market on which the Securities are
traded or in private sales to third parties who are not Affiliates of the Shareholder.

 
7.                                      Miscellaneous.
 

7.1                               Term.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other agreement, this Agreement and all obligations
hereunder shall terminate and cease to have any force or effect upon the earlier of (i) the Closing, (ii) any termination of the Merger
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Agreement in accordance with its terms or (iii) the delivery of written notice of termination by the Shareholder to Parent (A) following any Fundamental
Amendment (the earliest date, the “Termination Date”) or (B) on or after March 15, 2015.  For purposes of this Agreement, “Fundamental Amendment”
means the execution by the Company, Parent and Merger Sub of an amendment to, or waiver by the Company, Parent or Merger Sub of any provision of, the
Merger Agreement that: reduces the amount of the Merger Consideration or changes the form of the Merger Consideration.  If the Shareholder does not



exercise the termination right described above with respect to a Fundamental Amendment within five Business Days following the date the Shareholder is
notified that such Fundamental Amendment is effected, then this Agreement shall give effect to any modified terms incorporated from the Merger Agreement
and, except as so modified, shall continue in full force and effect.
 

7.2                               Fiduciary Duties.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary: (a) the Shareholder makes no agreement or
understanding herein in any capacity other than in the Shareholder’s capacity as a record holder and Beneficial Owner of Securities, and (b) nothing herein
will be construed to limit or affect any action or inaction by the Shareholder or any Representative of the Shareholder, as applicable, serving on the Company
Board or on the board of directors of any Subsidiary of the Company or as an officer of the Company or any of Subsidiary of the Company, acting in such
Person’s capacity as a director or officer of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, and any such action shall not constitute a breach of this
Agreement.

 
7.3                               Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement of the Parent and the Shareholder, except that any

amendment of the last sentence of Section 1.1 shall, in addition, require the agreement of the Company, and this Agreement may not be amended except by an
instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto.  Subject to applicable Law, any party hereto may (a) extend the time for the performance of any obligation
or other act of any other party hereto, (b) waive any inaccuracy in the representations and warranties of the other party contained herein or in any document
delivered pursuant hereto, (c) waive compliance by the other party with any agreement contained herein or (d) waive any condition to which its obligations
are subject.  Any such extension or waiver shall only be valid if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by any party in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or
partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise of any other right hereunder.

 
7.4                               Costs and Expenses.  Each party shall each bear its own costs and expenses (including all legal, accounting, audit, due diligence

and other out-of-pocket expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
 
7.5                               Binding Effect.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their

respective representatives, successors and assigns.  The obligations and liabilities assumed in this Agreement by the parties hereto shall be binding upon each
party’s respective successors and assigns, which shall include successors by operation of Law, such as by merger.
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7.6                               Entire Agreement; No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior

agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof.  Nothing in this
Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason
of this Agreement.

 
7.7                               Assignments.  Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned or

delegated, as a whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise, by any party without the prior written consent of the other party, and any such assignment
without such prior written consent shall be null and void.  Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and
be enforceable by the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

 
7.8                               Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties in separate

counterparts (including by facsimile, electronic mail or other means of electronic communication), each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an
original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

 
7.9                               Notices, Etc.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed duly given (a) on the date of

delivery if delivered personally, or if by facsimile, upon written confirmation of receipt by facsimile, (b) on the first Business Day following the date of
dispatch if delivered utilizing a next-day service by a recognized next-day courier or (c) on the earlier of confirmed receipt or the fifth Business Day
following the date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid.  All notices hereunder shall be delivered to
the addresses set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such notice:

 
if to Parent, to:
 
Ingredion Incorporated
5 Westbrook Corporate Center
Westchester, IL 60154 USA
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile:  708 551 2801
 
with a copy to:
 
Sidley Austin LLP
One South Dearborn Street
Chicago, Illinois 60603
Attention:                                         John M. O’Hare

Scott R. Williams
Facsimile:                                         (312) 853-7036
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if to the Shareholder, to:
 

SEACOR Holdings Inc.
P.O. Box 13038



2200 Eller Drive
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33316
Attention: Paul Robinson, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Facsimile: (954) 346-8272

 
with a copy to:
 

Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy LLP
One Chase Manhattan Plaza
New York, NY 10005
Attention: David Zeltner
Facsimile: (212) 822-5003

 
7.10                        Governing Law.  This Agreement and all disputes or controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions

contemplated hereby shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of Washington, without regard to the laws of any
other jurisdiction that might be applied because of the conflicts of laws principles of the State of Washington.

 
7.11                        Further Assurances.  The parties to this Agreement agree to cooperate and to execute and deliver such instruments and take such

further actions as any other party to this Agreement may, from time to time, reasonably request in order to effectuate the purposes and to carry out the terms
of this Agreement.

 
7.12                        Waiver of Jury Trial.  EACH OF THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO

A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

 
7.13                        Submission to Jurisdiction; Service of Process.  Each of the parties irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding arising

out of or relating to this Agreement brought by the Shareholder shall be brought and determined in the United States District Court in the State of Washington
and any legal action or proceeding brought by the Parent shall be brought in the United States District Court for the Southern District of  New York, and each
of the parties hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts for itself and with respect to its property, generally and
unconditionally, with regard to any such action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.  Each of
the Shareholder and the Parent agrees not to commence any action, suit or proceeding relating thereto in any court other than as specified above, other than
actions in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce any judgment, decree or award rendered by such court.  Each of the parties further agrees that notice
as provided herein shall constitute sufficient service of process and the parties further waive any argument that such service is
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insufficient.  Each of the parties hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion or as a defense, counterclaim or
otherwise, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (a) any claim that it is not
personally subject to the jurisdiction of the United States District Court in the State of Washington or the United States District Court for the Southern District
of  New York, as applicable, for any reason, (b) that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of any such applicable court or from any legal
process commenced in such applicable court (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment,
execution of judgment or otherwise) and (c) that (i) the suit, action or proceeding in any such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (ii) the venue of such
suit, action or proceeding is improper or (iii) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts.
 

7.14                        Section Titles.  The section titles contained in this Agreement are and shall be without substantive meaning or content of any kind
whatsoever and are not a part of the agreement between the parties hereto, except when used to reference a section.  Any reference to the number of a clause,
sub-clause or subsection hereof immediately followed by a reference in parenthesis to the title of the Section containing such clause, sub-clause or subsection
is a reference to such clause, sub-clause or subsection and not to the entire Section; provided, however, that, in case of direct conflict between the reference to
the title and the reference to the number of such Section, the reference to the title shall govern absent manifest error.

 
7.15                        Relationship of Parties.  Nothing contained herein shall establish any fiduciary, partnership, joint venture or similar relationship

between or among the parties hereto except to the extent otherwise expressly stated herein or therein.
 
7.16                        Severability.  Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner

as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other
provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid,
illegal or unenforceable provision or portion of any provision had never been contained herein, so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions
contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party.  Upon such a determination, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to
modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions
contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

 
7.17                        Enforcement.  The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement

were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached.  Accordingly, each party shall be entitled to specific performance of
the terms hereof, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this
Agreement in the United States District Court in the State of Washington, this being in addition to any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law or
in equity.  Each of the parties
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hereby further waives any requirement under any law to post security as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief.

 



 
[The rest of this page has intentionally been left blank.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent and the Shareholder have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

 
 
 

INGREDION INCORPORATED
  
  
 

By:
 

  

Name:
  

Title:
  
  
 

SEACOR HOLDINGS INC.
  
  
 

By:
 

  

Name:
  

Title:
  
  
 

PENFORD CORPORATION (solely with respect to the last sentence of
Section 1.1 of the foregoing agreement)

  
  
 

By:
 

  

Name:
  

Title:
 
 

[Signature Page to Voting Agreement]
 

 

 
Exhibit B

 
Form of Amended Articles of Incorporation

of the Surviving Corporation
 

See attached.
 

 
AMENDED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

 
OF

 
PENFORD CORPORATION

 
ARTICLE I

NAME
 

The name of the corporation (the “Corporation”) is PENFORD CORPORATION.
 

ARTICLE II
PURPOSE

 
This corporation is organized for the purpose of engaging in any business, trade or activity which may be conducted lawfully by a corporation

organized under the Washington Business Corporations Act.
 

ARTICLE III
REGISTERED OFFICE AND AGENT

 
The address of the registered office of the Corporation is 505 Union Avenue S.E., Suite 120, Olympia, WA 98501, and the name of the registered

agent at such address is CT CORPORATION SYSTEM.
 

ARTICLE IV



SHARES
 

The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 1,000, which shall consist of one class of
shares of common stock of the par value of $0.01 per share.

 
ARTICLE V
DURATION

 
The existence of the Corporation is to be perpetual.

 
ARTICLE VI

PREEMPTIVE RIGHTS
 

No preemptive rights shall exist with respect to shares of stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of stock of the Corporation.
 

 
ARTICLE VII

CUMULATIVE VOTING
 

The right to cumulate votes in the election of Directors shall not exist with respect to shares of stock of the Corporation.
 

ARTICLE VII
DIRECTORS

 
The number of Directors of this corporation shall be determined in the manner provided by the Bylaws and may be increased or decreased from time

to time in the manner provided therein.
 

ARTICLE VIII
LIMITATION OF DIRECTOR LIABILITY

 
To the full extent that the Washington Business Corporation Act, as it exists on the date hereof or may hereafter be amended, permits the limitation

or elimination of the liability of Directors, a Director of the Corporation shall not be liable to the Corporation or its shareholders for monetary damages for
conduct as a Director.  Any amendments to or repeal of this Article shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a Director of the Corporation for or
with respect to any acts or omissions of such Director occurring prior to such amendment or repeal.

 
ARTICLE IX

SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL BY CONSENT IN LIEU OF MEETING
 

So long as this corporation is not a public company, corporate action required or permitted to be approved by a shareholder vote at a meeting of
shareholders may be taken without a meeting or a vote if the corporate action is approved by a single shareholder consent or multiple counterpart shareholder
consents executed by shareholders holding of record, or otherwise entitled to vote, in the aggregate not less than the minimum votes that would be necessary
to approve such corporate action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote on the corporate action were present and voted.

 
ARTICLE X

AUTHORITY TO AMEND ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
 

The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any of the provisions contained in these Articles of Incorporation in any manner now or
hereafter permitted by the Washington Business Corporation Act or by these Articles of Incorporation, and the rights of the shareholders of this corporation
are granted subject to this reservation.
 

 



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 

I, Ilene S. Gordon, certify that:
 

1.              I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Ingredion Incorporated;
 

2.              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.              The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)         Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)         Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)          Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)         Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.              The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)         All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)         Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 
 

Date: November 3, 2014 /s/ Ilene S. Gordon
 

Ilene S. Gordon
 

Chairman, President and
 

Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
 

I, Jack C. Fortnum, certify that:
 

1.              I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Ingredion Incorporated;
 

2.              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.              The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)         Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)         Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)          Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)         Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.              The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
(a)         All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

(b)         Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
 

Date: November 3, 2014 /s/ Jack C. Fortnum
 

Jack C. Fortnum
 

Executive Vice President
 

and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Ilene S. Gordon, the Chief Executive Officer of Ingredion Incorporated, certify that to my knowledge (i) the report on Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended September 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Ingredion Incorporated.
 
 
/s/ Ilene S. Gordon

 

Ilene S. Gordon
 

Chief Executive Officer
 

November 3, 2014
 

 
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Ingredion Incorporated and will be retained by Ingredion
Incorporated and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2
 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Jack C. Fortnum, the Chief Financial Officer of Ingredion Incorporated, certify that to my knowledge (i) the report on Form 10-Q for the quarter

ended September 30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of Ingredion Incorporated.
 
 
/s/ Jack C. Fortnum

 

Jack C. Fortnum
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

November 3, 2014
 

 
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Ingredion Incorporated and will be retained by Ingredion
Incorporated and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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